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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 26, 2003

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 0-27231

Wireless Facilities, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 13-3818604

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

4810 Eastgate Mall
San Diego, CA 92121
(858) 228-2000

(Address, including zip code, and telephone numbemcluding area code, of Registrant’s principal exeutive offices)

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT:
None
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OFTHE ACT:
Common Stock, par value $0.001

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant @k)filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the Registrart veguired to file such reports), and (2)
has been subject to such filing requirements ferphst 90 days.

Yes M No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilets pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkS229.405 of this chapter) is not contai
herein, and will not be contained, to the best efiRtrants knowledge, in definitive proxy or information tements incorporated by referel
in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendmenth&stForm 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ia@relerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rizle-2)
Yes M No O

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndimgstock (Common Stock) held by non-affiliatesodshe last business day of most
recently completed second fiscal quarter (JunQ@U3) was approximately $336.2 million, based endlosing sale price on the NASDAQ
market exchange on that date.*

The number of shares outstanding of the Regisg&@wmmon Stock was 64,026,604 as of March 1, 2004.

*Excludes the common stock held by executive officeirectors and stockholders whose individual eship exceeds 5% of the
Common Stock outstanding at June 27, 2003.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain portions of Registrant’s proxy statementli@ annual meeting to be held on May 13, 2004 ‘(Hroxy Statement”), to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission putduaRegulation 14A not later than 120 days atterdlose of the Registrant’s fiscal year
ended December 26, 2003, are incorporated by refer@to Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KO-
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PART |
ltem 1. Business

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (including the settregarding Management’s Discussion and Analgkisinancial Condition and
Results of Operations) contains forward-lookingesteents regarding our business, financial conditiesults of operations and prospects.
Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intendlans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimatesihd similar expressions or variations of such w
are intended to identify forward-looking statemebist are not deemed to represent an all-inclusigans of identifying forward-looking
statements as denoted in this Annual Report on Ad4id. Additionally, statements concerning futurattars are forwaréboking statement:

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&adport on Form 10-K reflect the good faith judgmeihdur management, such
statements can only be based on facts and faaioently known by us. Consequently, forward-lookstgtements are inherently subject to
risks and uncertainties and actual results ancoouts may differ materially from the results andcontes discussed in or anticipated by the
forward{ooking statements. Factors that could cause dtriboite to such differences in results and outcomelside, without limitation, thos
specifically addressed under the heading “Riskatedlto Our Businesdielow, as well as those discussed elsewhere iftimsial Report ol
Form 10-K. Readers are urged not to place undisncs on these forward-looking statements, whigakmnly as of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We file reports with the Sées and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We makelatség on our website under
“Investor Relations/SEC Filings,” free of charger annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report$~orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-
K and amendments to those reports as soon as eddgqmacticable after we electronically file sunlaterials with or furnish them to the
SEC. Our website address is www.wfinet.com. Youalan read and copy any materials we file withSB€ at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20548u can obtain additional information about thegiion of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In aolditthe SEC maintains an Internet site (www.seg.g¢itat contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information rdupay issuers that file electronically with the SEluding us.

We undertake no obligation to revise or updatefanyard-looking statements in order to reflect &wgnt or circumstance that may
arise after the date of this Annual Report on FafxK. Readers are urged to carefully review andsiciar the various disclosures made
throughout the entirety of this Annual Report, whattempt to advise interested parties of the @sldfactors that may affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and peigs.

We operate and report using a 52-53 week fiscal geding the last Friday in December. As a resufifty-third week is added every
five or six years. Our 52 week fiscal years consigbur equal quarters of 13 weeks each, and 8wéek fiscal years will consist of three 13
week quarters and one 14 week quarter. The finbresalts for our 53 week fiscal years and our Békfiscal quarters will not be exactly
comparable to our 52 week fiscal years and our @8kwiscal quarters. For presentation purposefisalil periods presented or discussed in
this report have been presented as ending onshdads of the nearest calendar month. For exaropte2003 fiscal year ended on December
26, 2003, but we present our 2003 fiscal year dingron December 31, 2003.

Description of the Business
General

We are an independent provider of outsourced conmations and security systems engineering and iatieg services and other
technical services for the wireless communicatiodsistry, the U.S. government, and enterprise costs. We were incorporated in the state
of New York on December 19, 1994 and began operaiio March 1995. We reincorporated in the statbalware in 1998. We
consummated our initial public offering on Novembef999. Our principal executive office is locasd810 Eastgate Mall, San Diego,
California 92121. Our telephone number is (858)-2280.
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The principal services we provide include, butroelimited to, the design, deployment, integratiand the overall management of
communications and security networks. Our worktli@ wireless communications industry primarily ilwes radio frequency engineering,
site development, project management and the liastal of radio equipment networks. We also proviéévork management services, wt
involve day-today optimization and maintenance of wireless netaof\s part of our strategy, we are technology\amtor independent. V'
believe that this aligns our goals with those af customers and enables us to objectively evaladerecommend specific products or
technologies. We provide network design and depkayrservices to wireless carriers including, butlimited to, (in alphabetical order)
AT&T Wireless, Cingular, Sprint, T-Mobile, Telcélglefonica, Verizon and Vodaphone and equipmentleensuch as Ericsson, Nortel and
Siemens. We have internally developed a methodaddgyanning and deploying wireless networks thives us to deliver reliable and
scalable network solutions, primarily on a fixedepr time-certain basis. We believe this enablescastomers to improve their ability to
forecast the costs and timing of network deploynaert management and increase their focus on ilteonacompetencies while relying on
us for planning, designing, deploying and managimgr networks. Our work for the federal governmeritarily involves systems
engineering, systems integration, and the outsograf technical services such as operational tegexaluation and program management.
We also provide services in the areas of missisnrasice, product and process validation and vatifin, and software and applications
development. Our work for enterprise customers arilpinvolves the design, deployment, and intedgrabf security and other in-building
systems including access control and intrusionatiete and is focused on opportunities to integreiteless technology into enterprise
networks, especially physical and electronic ségssistems, and voice and data networks.

Operating Segments

At December 31, 2003, our business was organizeddnr primary operating segments: business ctingylinetwork design and
deployment services, network management servioglseaterprise solutions. See note 13 to our catest@ld financial statements for
information with respect to revenues, operatingiltesand long-lived assets of each segment. In 2884eorganized our operating segments
to reflect our operations and strategic directi@ar three operating segments, effective Janua?pd4, are our Wireless Network Services
segment (encompassing business consulting, des@ydeployment services and network managementces)yiour Enterprise Network
Services segment, and our Government Network Sesdegment.
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Wireless Network Services Segment
Business Consulting

We provide business consulting services for altigeployment planning including technology assesspmearket analysis, and business
plan development. We study and analyze the trpHiterns, population density, topography and prapag environment in each market
under consideration. We have developed a propyiet@thodology to assist customers in analysis ®ftttmpetitive landscape for mobile
broadband services, and we use our expertise gradierce to analyze the financial, engineering, petitive and technology issues
applicable to a proposed technology or network@gpknt project. Drawing upon the demographic anslysd preliminary network
dimensioning and benchmarks for deploymesiéted expenditures from our various functionalugs and consultants, we create new bus
strategies or evaluate existing deployment stragedilthough the size of these projects is typycathaller in scope than design and
deployment projects, they are strategically impurta us because they represent opportunitiesitd lationships and credibility with
customers during the planning phase, and they eehaur experiences with leading edge technologies.

Network Design and Deployment Services
We provide a range of services for the full desigd deployment of wireless networks. Such seniuaade:

» Radio Frequency Engineerir. Radio frequency engineers design each integmitetess system to meet the customer’s
performance requirements. These requirements asghgon a projected level of subscriber densagfi¢ demand, and the
coverage area. Our engineers perform the calcoitimeasurements and tests necessary to detehminptimal placement of the
wireless equipment. In addition to meeting basiasmission requirements, the radio frequency né&twesign must make optimal
use of radio frequency and result in the highessiixde signal quality for the greatest portion wbscriber usage within existing
constraints. The constraints may be imposed byparstmeters, terrain, license limitations, intexfere with other operators, site
availability, applicable zoning requirements ankeotfactors

» Spectrum RelocationTo enable customers to use the radio frequenegtapn they have licensed, it is often necessary fo
customers to analyze the licensed spectrum forfarence from existing users, and move these inembsers to new frequencies.
We assist our customers in accomplishing this spectelocation by providing complete point-to-poamd point-to-multipoint line-
of-sight microwave and other types of engineerind support services. Engineering and support sesviwlude identifying
existing microwave or other frequency uses, netiogarelocation with incumbent users, managing tadking relocation progress
and documenting the final decommissioning and oepteent of the incumbent us’ facilities.

» Fixed Network Engineerin. Most wireless calls are ultimately routed throughigeline network. As a result, the traffic from
wireless networks must be connected with switclomgters within wireline networks. We establish iinast efficient method to
connect cell sites to the wireline backbone, wheltlyemicrowave radio or by landline connectionsr @ngineers are involved in
specifying, provisioning and implementing fixedwetk facilities.

» Site DevelopmentSite development experts acquire the rights tadbwiteless transmission sites, gain zoning appsy\sacure
building permits, and manage the construction efsite.

» Installation and Optimization Servic. WFI personnel install radio frequency equipmeéntluding base station electronics and
antennas, and recommend and implement locatiotwaa and capacity changes required to meet thernes's performance
specifications. We provide installation and optiatian services for all major PCS, cellular and nebroadband wireless air
interface standards and equipment manufacturersal¥éeperform initial optimization testing of inbéal networks to maximize the
efficiency of these network
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Network Management Services

Network management services are comprised of pggbgment radio frequency optimization services aetivork operations and
maintenance services.

» Pos-Deployment Radio Frequency Optimizatiddpon initial deployment, a network is optimizedprovide wireless service based
upon a set of parameters existing at that timeh sisacell density, spectrum usage, base statietosiations and estimated calling
volumes and traffic patterns. Over time, call voksor other parameters may change, requiring x@mele, the relocation of base
stations, addition of new equipment or the impletagon of system enhancements. We offer ongoinigprfirdquency optimization
services to periodically test network elementsettire network for optimal performance and idengiigments that need to be
upgraded or replace

» Network Operations and Maintenan. For customers with ongoing outsourcing needsgaveassume responsibility for day-to-day
operation and maintenance of their wireless netadrke relationship we develop with our customershis type of outsourcing
contract begins with a team of engineers and gifedessional and support staff aligned to meettistomer’s specific needs. We
take into account such variables as grade of ssrugdiability requirements, and geographic layafuthe system in determining the
allocation of site maintenance responsibilitiesigetn our service team and the customer’s own peetoWe provide staffing to
perform the necessary services for centralized otwionitoring, optimization services, and maintezeand repair of critical
network elements, including base station equipnranbile switching centers and network operatingees:

Within these segments we have developed solutl@mtsehable us to manage large scale deploymentisefararriers and to offer
specialized solutions that enable our customenseet their objectives of increased quality, coveragd capacity on the carrier networks
worldwide.

Turnkey SolutionsTraditionally, carriers engaged a number of firmsiged internal personnel to build and operate thieeless
networks. In this case, the carrier was responsislthe coordination and integration of the vas@ontractors. WFI's turnkey approach
allows the carrier to engage a single responsiatyy@ccountable for delivering and managing thevaek. Through total control of staff and
resources, WFI reduces the time and cost of netdepkoyment, management, and subsequent opergtiaaily, WFI’s turnkey model
eliminates the need for a carrier or equipment gemal assemble, train and retain network deployraadtmanagement staff, resulting in
additional cost and schedule efficiencies.

Technology and Vendor Independence for both Matnite Fixed Wireless Operationdle have experience in all major wireless
technologies, including: conversion of analog delisystems to digital capability (CDMA, TDMA, GSNEPRS and iDEN); deployment of
digital PCS systems and; migration to 3G netwoskfpkms to provide high speed wireless data Intezapability, such as UMTS spectrun
Europe. The critical components of our ability teehand exceed customer expectations are our booge: of services, our technical
expertise and our technology and vendor agnosticgmh independence allows WFI to offer its custantige most technologically
advanced, objective and appropriate suite of swigtavailable based solely on the customer’s remeénts.

Fixed-Price and Time-Certain Delivers. significant portion of our services (66% duririgcl year 2003) are sold primarily on a fixed-
price, time-certain basis, where our customershyagroject increments according to defined resufts per-unit basis project site (as defined
in the agreement based on milestones), ratheraipdme hour. By selling our services primarily ofix@d-price, time-certain basis, our
customers can better forecast their capital experedi and operating expenditures more accurately.

Proven MethodologyOur project management process enables us to meetistomers’ needs without compromising projectlity
We have a dedicated staff employed to facilitafieieht feedback of information among the variops@alized activities involved in the
design and deployment of a network so that ourggtoj
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teams work quickly and effectively. Through thioodinated effort, and the use of Dynamic Trackeour proprietary project tracking
software tool, we are able to continually optimizenan resource deployment and deliver the mogtiefi and effective solutions on time
and within budget.

Depth and Scaléur principal asset is our staff, 84% of who woitedtly on customer projects. Our technologicaletige and
industry knowledge has enabled us to form strorsgocner relationships with established carriersemudpment vendors. In addition, we hi
established corporate resource centers in MexicgiB United Kingdom, Sweden and China. We believecommitted presence in these
countries facilitates, and therefore, enhancesbility to customize services to meet the needsuointernational customer base via a
comprehensive understanding of the local econossiges, business practices and culture.

Enterprise Network Services Segment

Our Enterprise Network Services division providestesm design, deployment, integration, monitorind aupport services for
enterprise networks. Enterprise networks have beglitionally segregated into systems such as ydia&, access control, video surveillai
temperature control and fire alarm. We provide ises/that combine such systems and offer integisidions on an Ethernet-based
platform. We also offer solutions that combine #&lamic security and building automation systemsited or wireless connectivity
solutions. We aim to meet the needs of any busi@essprise by understanding the needs of thecpdati entity, sifting through the multiple
solutions and complex technologies available innlaeketplace and designing, deploying, managingnaaicitaining a cost-effective and
integrated solution that is capable of evolvinghesneeds of the client change with time. Our tamggrkets are healthcare, education,
government and correctional facilities as well asimercial and industrial enterprises. Our commitimenhese markets and our proven
ability to provide feature-rich, cost-effective stibns has allowed us to become one of the largipgendent integrators for these types of
systems.

Historically, the largest systems integrators sensuch markets have been divisions of larger campahat also manufactured
proprietary security and building automation pradués security and building systems evolve froandtalone products into integrated
systems, and finally into critical infrastructureetdemand for enterprise solutions such as thdeeedfby us are expected to increase. Vol
buyers are increasingly showing a tendency to sgldependent “vendor agnostic” service providati®wing our independence to become
an important differentiator. As open standards létased architecture continue to supplant vendapretary protocols and products in the
marketplace, we believe our independent positidhallow us to capture an increasing share of {stesns integration market.

Our Enterprise Network Services division also leges our certified wireless specialists and regidteommunications network
designers to customize wired and wireless solutibasmeet the requirements of even the most stigdtisd customer. A typical enterprise
campus environment not only has a large numbeulnfsystems but also a large number of users witbrdint and varying needs, and we are
able to use both wireless and wired technologiesdate a network that meets the complex requirésradrour customers. For those clients
who also demand the integration of licensed bamdlesgs systems (such as cellular and PCS) witeiitierprise network, we are uniquely
equipped and qualified to meet these deploymeritectgges both independently and through leveradiegskill sets of our Wireless Network
Services segment.

Government Network Services Segment

In January 2004, with the acquisition of High Tealogy Solutions, Inc. (HTS), we created our GoveenirNetwork Services division
which provides systems engineering, systems intiegreand the outsourcing of technical servicehaagoperational test and evaluation and
program management to government agencies. Weadsae services in the areas of mission assurammoduct and process validation and
verification, and software and applications deveiept.
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Our Government Network Services division servedéderal information technology services marketiclthincludes the design,
development, deployment, integration and managenfesdmmunications and information networks. Acéogdo INPUT, a government
market research firm, this market is currently>xeess of $60 billion annually and includes not aspgnding by the Department of Defense
(DoD) but also by federal civilian agencies. Mamgbrtantly for us, preliminary estimates by INPUo® wireless-related spending in as
much as $43 billion worth of government informatteshnology contracts, and industry experts exfhectarket for wireless related
spending to grow even faster than the overall gowent information technology market.

The growth in the government information technologgrket is being driven by a number of factorsluding an overall desire on the
part of the federal government to upgrade commtioicand information systems, the aging of the fabieorkforce, and an increase in the
use of private sector outsourcing. In addition, ketigrowth has been driven and will continue tallieen in large part by DoD information
technology spending which has been increasing theepast two years at an even faster rate thaovéi@ll government information
technology market. World events, political fact@sd changing DoD priorities have resulted not amlihe growth of the overall DoD
budget, but more importantly in the significant\gtb of the DoD information technology budget. Thel @f the cold war and the emergence
of new enemies and new national security threate baused an increased emphasis on network cerrfare, information superiority and
the convergence and interoperability of informatystems. These changes are also bringing a signifincrease in demand for wireless
related technology as the government’s nationalrityaefforts focus more and more on mobility, bdband connectivity, speed, efficiency,
and overall effectiveness of deployment.

Our Government Network Services division was creééddeverage our core competencies in skills gihatcurrently in great demand —
wireless radio frequency engineering, Internetquok engineering, network management, project mamagt, and physical and electronic
security systems integration — to capitalize onrthmerous contracting opportunities available ttsiole service providers.

Our Government Network Services division also fesugn the homeland security market with productssemvices aimed at helping
first responders to emergency situations. In aoldjtas physical security and electronic or infoiorasecurity continue to converge, our
Government Network Services division plans to z#ilihe systems integration expertise that has teegloped within the Enterprise Netw
Services division to offer complete security sans to WFI's government customers.

ISO Quialification

In November 2002, we received ISO 9001:2000 cediion. This certification validates that we areoaigh an exclusive tier of
companies that possess well-defined and integrptatity measures and comprehensive programs tlsat@our services are provided
according to uniform standards that are considbestl practices within the industry. In 2004, weggrading our ISO certified to system
TL 9000 certified system. TL 9000 is a set of qyadtandards specifically tailored for the telecommigcations industry and focuses on
measurement of service, accuracy, adherence toraastrequirements and monthly submission of perémce metrics to the QUEST Forum.
We believe that the addition of the telecommunaratipecific quality standards will further proveathve are dedicated to providing a quality
service to our clients.

Customers

We are an independent provider of outsourced conmations and security systems engineering and iatem services and other
technical services for the wireless communicatiodsistry, the U.S. government, and enterprise costs. We also provide services to
satellite service providers and wireless tower canigs. A representative list of our customers inwiteless business during 2003 includes
(in alphabetical order) AT&T Wireless, Cingular,rBp, T-Mobile, Telcel, Telefonica, Verizon and Vaghone and equipment vendors such
as Ericsson, Nortel and Siemens. In our EnterpNisvork Services division, our customers include&Gola, Westfield Shopping Towns,
Port of Texas, iPass and General Electric. Custeinesur Government Network Services division indihe U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy,
Missile Defense Agency and the Department of Hontkfaecurity.
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Competition

Our market is competitive, and includes the fufiga of service providers. Many of the companiesweacompete against have
significantly greater financial, technical and nmetiiig resources, and generate greater revenuesidiearWFI.

Competition in the Wireless Network Services busineomes from the internal engineering departnartarrier and equipment
vendors, as well as companies like American Towietronics, LCC International, Marconi Communicats, General Dynamics and
Whalen & Company, Inc. (a subsidiary of Tetra Tdak,). We also compete with engineering and ptajeznagement companies like
Bechtel Corporation, Bovis Lend Lease, CH2MHill &lidor Daniel, Inc. for the turnkey deployment dfeless networks. These companies
are significant competitors given their projectfirce capabilities, reputations and global presence.

Competition in the Enterprise Network Services slimi includes Siemens Building Technology, JohrSontrols, Ingersoll Rand and
Convergent.

Competition in the Government Network Servicession includes Northrop Gruman, SAIC, Anteon Intéiorzal, ITT Industries, Inc.,
General Dynamics and Computer Sciences Corporation.

We believe that the principal competitive factor®ur business include the ability to deliver réesulithin budget (time and cost),
reputation, accountability, staffing flexibilityygject management expertise, industry experiendecampetitive pricing. In addition, our
technology independence and technical expertisewand evolving technologies has become increlgsimgortant. We believe that the
ability to integrate these technologies, as we@sipment from multiple vendors, gives us a coitipetadvantage as we can offer the best
technology and equipment to meet a customer’s n&gddelieve our ability to compete also dependa onmber of additional factors
including:

» competitive pricing for similar service

» the ability and willingness of our competitors teaince custome’ projects on favorable term

» the ability of our customers to perform the sersiteemselves; ar

» the responsiveness of our competitors to custoeds:

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed 1,760 fuletemployees worldwide. None of our employees, dtiem our Swedish
employees (approximately 57 at December 31, 2@08)represented by a labor union, and we havexpetienced any work stoppages.

Risks Related to Our Business

You should carefully consider the following risktfas and all other information contained hereinvesll as the information included in
this Annual Report in evaluating our business arabpects. The risks and uncertainties describedvelre not the only ones we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties, other than thege describe below, that are not presently knaaurstor that we currently believe €
immaterial, may also impair our business operatidhany of the following risks occur, our businessl financial results could be harmed.
You should refer to the other information contaiirethis Annual Report, including our consolidafethncial statements and the related
notes.
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Our successis dependent on growth in the deployment of wireless networks, and to the extent that such growth slows, our business may be
harmed.

The wireless telecommunications industry has hisatly experienced a dramatic rate of growth baotlthie United States and
internationally. In recent years, however, mangd¢emmunications carriers have re-evaluated théivar& deployment plans in response to
downturns in the capital markets, changing peroegtregarding industry growth, the adoption of méveless technologies, increasing
pricing competition for subscribers and a genecahemic slowdown in the United States and inteamaily. That trend has only recently
begun to change as several large carriers in tBeand Latin America have started to once againfan network expansion. If the rate of
growth slows or carriers reduce their capital inments in wireless infrastructure or fail to expamit new geographic areas, our business
may be significantly harmed.

The uncertainty associated with rapidly changingcmmunications technologies may also negativalyaict the rate of deployment of
wireless networks and the demand for our servitelecommunications service providers face significhallenges in assessing consumer
demand and in acceptance of rapidly changing emtbtetecommunications capabilities. If telecommations service providers perceive
that the rate of acceptance of next generatiogaelenunications products will grow more slowly thameviously expected, they may, as a
result, slow their development of next generateshnhologies. Moreover, increasing price competifmrsubscribers could adversely affect
the profitability of carriers and limit their resmes for network deployment. Any significant suséal slowdown will further reduce the
demand for our services and adversely affect manftial results.

The high amount of capital required to obtain radio frequencies licenses could slow the growth of the wireless communications industry
and adversely affect our business.

Our growth is dependent upon the increased usérefess communications services. In order to prewitteless communications
services, carriers must obtain rights to use sjpeageitlio frequencies. The allocation of frequendésa®gulated in the United States and other
countries throughout the world and limited spectapace is allocated to wireless communicationsieesyIindustry growth may be affected
by the amount of capital required to obtain licergeuse new frequencies. Typically, governmenitstsese licenses at auctions. Over the
several years, the amount paid for these licensesnereased significantly. In addition, litigatiand disputes involving companies bidding to
acquire spectrum has delayed the expansion ofessaietworks in the United States, and it is ptestiilat this delay could continue for a
significant amount of time. The significant costioénses and delays associated with disputeslimwesise auctions may slow the growth of
the industry if service providers are unable tagbthe additional capital necessary to implemeattecessary infrastructure. Our business
could be adversely affected if this occurs.

If wireless carriers, network equipment vendors and enterprises do not outsource their wireless telecommunications services, our business
will suffer.

Our success depends upon the continued trend leyesdr carriers and network equipment vendors tooute their network design,
deployment and management needs. If this trend mmtesontinue and wireless carriers and networkpsgent vendors elect to perform more
network deployment services themselves, our operaésults and revenues may decline.

If enterprise customers do not invest in security systems and other new in-building technologies such aswirelesslocal area networks, our
business will suffer.

In 2003, we launched significant enterprise-baséd\W (Wireless Local Area Networks) and securityteyss initiatives. We intend to
devote significant resources to developing theaiives, but we cannot predict that we will acldevidespread market acceptance amongst
the enterprises. It is possible that some entexpmisll determine that their current capital coastis and other factors outweigh their need for
WLANS and security systems at this time. As a ieswg may incur a significant delay in the adoptidiWLAN and security systems by
enterprises which would harm our business.

10
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Our failure to obtain new government contracts, the cancellation of government contracts, or a reduction in federal budget appropriations
involving our services could materially adversely affect our revenues.

We anticipate that a material portion of our futteeenues will come from our Government Networkviées division. Our revenues
and cash flows from our Government Network Servitigsion may decline if a significant number ofr@overnment contracts are delayed
or cancelled due to cutbacks in defense, homelaecurisy or other federal agency budgets or for othasons. In addition, our failure to
successfully compete for and retain such governmantracts could have an adverse effect on ountesgand cash flows. We cannot
guarantee that we, or if we are a subcontractartieaprime contractor, will win any particular bint that we will be able to replace business
lost upon expiration or completion of a contract.

We anticipate that our Government Network Serviigision will also be sensitive to changes in naéiband international defense and
budget priorities. Demand for our services mayidedf conflicts in the Middle East and other higék areas subside, or if U.S. defense
budget appropriations are reduced.

We are subject to extensive government regulation, and our failure or inability to comply with these regulations could subject us to
penalties and result in a loss of our government contracts, which could adversely affect our revenues.

We must comply with and are affected by variousegpomnent regulations that impact our operating ¢@stgit margins and our internal
organization and operation of our business. Weks@ subject to routine audits to assure our canpé with these requirements. Our failure
to comply with these regulations, rules and appsogauld result in the impositions of penalties #melloss of our government contracts and
disqualification as a U.S. government contractdricw could adversely affect our revenues.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of customers.

We have derived, and believe that we will contitmderive, a significant portion of our revenuesnira limited number of customers.
To the extent that any significant client uses t&ssur services or terminates its relationshighwis, our revenues could decline significantly.
As a result, the loss of any significant client idoseriously harm our business. For the year emxember 31, 2003, we had one customer
which comprised 24% of our revenues and our fivgdst customers accounted for approximately 53#iototal revenues. None of our
customers are obligated to purchase additionalcEfrom us. As a result, the volume of work thatperform for a specific client is likely
vary from period to period, and a significant ctiemone period may not use our services in a syes# period.

Recent business acquisitions and potential future business acquisitions could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute
stockholder value and adversely affect our operating results.

We completed our acquisition of HTS in January 2004ddition, since February 2003, we have acquinece other businesses. Our
integration of these acquisitions will require sfgant management time and financial resourcesibse we will need to integrate dispersed
operations with distinct corporate cultures. Weatdend to continue to expand our operations tijindousiness acquisitions over time. We
recently filed an acquisition shelf registratioatstnent on Form S-4. Once the acquisition sheléidared effective by the SEC, it will enable
us to issue up to $200 million shares or our comstook in one or more acquisition transactions.

Our failure to properly integrate businesses waimecand to manage future acquisitions successtollyd seriously harm our operating
results. Also, acquisition costs could cause oartguly operating results to vary significantly. e extent we acquire an international
operation, we will face additional risks, including

« difficulties in staffing, managing and integratimgernational operations due to language, cultorather differences
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» different or conflicting regulatory or legal reqaiments
» foreign currency fluctuations; ar
« diversion of significant time and attention of ananagemen

The consolidation of equipment vendorsor carriers could adversely impact our business.

Recently, the wireless telecommunications induls&y been characterized by significant consolidatittivity. In particular, Cingular
has recently announced plans to acquire AT&T Wagldoth of whom are significant customers of otihés consolidation and the potential
continuing trend towards future consolidation witthe wireless telecommunication industry may lead greater ability among equipment
vendors and carriers to provide a comprehensivgerafinetwork services, and may simplify integnaténd installation, which could lead t
reduction in demand for our services. Moreover dbrsolidation of equipment vendors or carrierddoeduce the number of our current or
potential customers and increase the bargainingpofwur remaining customers which may adverselyact our business.

If our customers do not receive sufficient financing or fail to pay usfor services performed, our business may be harmed.

Some of our customers rely upon outside finanaingaty the costs of deploying their networks. Thesstomers may fail to obtain
adequate financing or experience delays in recgifiimancing and they may choose the services otoummpetitors if our competitors are
willing and able to provide project financing. Uagaiable economic conditions have caused and mtheifuture cause those customers that
have adequate financing to delay deploying or uigcatheir networks as they prioritize or ratioeithcapital resources.

In addition, we have historically taken significawmtte-offs of our accounts receivable. In somdanses we may not receive payment
for services we have already performed. If oura@usrs do not receive adequate financing or if veeraquired to write-off significant
amounts of our accounts receivables, then oumeenie will decline, and our business will be harmed

If we fail to successfully compete, our business may suffer.

Each of the vertical markets that we compete highly competitive. If we fail to compete succedlgfagainst current or future
competitors, our business, financial condition apdrating results may be harmed. We expect corigetit continue and intensify in the
future. We cannot be certain that we will be abledmpete successfully with existing or new compedi

Many of our current competitors have significarghgater financial, technical and marketing resasjrgenerate greater revenues and
have greater name recognition and experience tleatiowThis may place us at a disadvantage in relspgmho our competitors’ pricing
strategies, technological advances, advertisingpasgns, strategic partnerships and other initiatihe addition, many of our competitors
have well-established relationships with our patdmients and have extensive knowledge of thaigtdes that we compete in. As a result,
our competitors may be able to respond more quitklyew or emerging technologies and changes o requirements, and they may
able to devote more resources to the developmesrhgiion and sale of their services that we can.

Our quarterly results fluctuate and may cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuatethapast and will likely fluctuate in the futures A result, we believe that period to
period comparisons of our results of operationsatea good indication of our future performancensmber of factors, many of which are
outside of our control, are likely to cause thdaetfiations. Some of these factors include:

» telecommunications market conditions and economiditions generally
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» the timing and size of network deployments by canrier customers and the timing and size of aréar network equipment built
by our vendor customer

» fluctuations in demand for our servici

» changes in our effective tax ra

» the length of sales cycle

» reductions in the prices of services offered by @mpetitors
e our success in bidding on and winning new busir

« changes in the actual and estimated costs amdttirmomplete fixed-price, time-certain projectttmay result in revenue
adjustments for contracts where revenue is recedninder the percentage of completion met

» the timing of expansion into new markets, both dstically and internationally
» our allowance for doubtful accoun

e our sales, marketing, and administrative cost siracanc

» the costs of integrating technologies or businedssve add

Because our operating results may vary signifigaintim quarter to quarter, our operating resulty mat meet the expectations of
securities analysts and investors, and our comromk gould decline significantly which may exposeta risks of securities litigation, imp:
our ability to attract and retain qualified indivials using equity incentives and make it more cliffito complete acquisitions using equity as
consideration.

Our business is dependent upon our ability to keep pace with the latest technological changes.

The market for our services is characterized bydrapange and technological improvements. Failor@$pond in a timely and cost-
effective way to these technological developmerilisrasult in serious harm to our business and afieg results. We have derived, and we
expect to continue to derive, a substantial portibaur revenues from creating wireless networks ére based upon today’s leading
technologies and that are capable of adaptingttmdiechnologies. As a result, our success wpkdd, in part, on our ability to develop and
market service offerings that respond in a timefnmer to the technological advances of our custenesolving industry standards and
changing client preferences.

Failure to properly manage projects may result in costs or claims.

Our wireless network engagements often involvedatple, highly complex projects. The quality of performance on such projects
depends in large part upon our ability to manageaétationship with our customers, and to effedyiveanage the project and deploy
appropriate resources, including third-party carttses, and our own personnel, in a timely mannery defects or errors or failure to meet
clients’ expectations could result in claims fobstantial damages against us. Our contracts génénaik our liability for damages that arise
from negligent acts, error, mistakes or omission®ndering services to our clients. However, wencabe sure that these contractual
provisions will protect us from liability for damag in the event we are sued. In addition, in aeiteitances, we guarantee customers that we
will complete a project by a scheduled date or thatnetwork will achieve certain performance stadd. If the project or network
experiences a performance problem, we may not leet@albecover the additional costs we will incuhigh could exceed revenues realized
from a project. Finally, if we miscalculate thewasces or time we need to complete a project vathped or fixed fees, our operating results
could be seriously harmed.
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Our failureto attract and retain key managerial, technical, selling and marketing personnel could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon our attracting and negakely members of our management team. We recantigunced that Masood
Tayebi, our Chief Executive Officer since inceptianill be transitioning to the role of Executive &iman, and Eric DeMarco, our current
President and Chief Operating Officer, will assuheerole of CEO on April 1, 2004. In addition, we &urrently engaged in a search for a
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel. Wencdrassure you that these management transitidhsatresult in some disruption of our
business. The loss of any of our key members nuglaty or prevent the achievement of our developraredtstrategic objectives. Our future
performance will be substantially dependent onatility to attract, retain and motivate key membafreur management team.

We must also continue to hire and retain additidwiglhly skilled engineering, managerial, businesgefbpment and sales personnel. In
an effort to manage our costs, it is our polichite employees on a project-by-project basis. Ugampletion of an assigned project, the
employees are no longer employed by us until wet étehire them for the next project. Competition $uch highly skilled personnel in our
industry is intense, especially for engineers amjegt managers, and we can not be certain thatilvbe able to hire or re-hire sufficiently
qualified personnel in adequate numbers to meedé¢n@and for our services. We also believe thasaacess depends to a significant extent
on the ability of our key personnel to operate @ffely, both individually and as a group. If weeamable to identify, hire and integrate new
employees in a timely and cost-efficient manner,aperating results will suffer.

Our failure to maintain appropriate staffing levels could adversely affect our business.

We can not be certain that we will be able to tierequisite number of experienced and skilledqanel when necessary in order to
service a major contract, particularly if the marae related personnel becomes competitive. Caebgr if we maintain or increase our
staffing levels in anticipation of one or more @i and the projects are delayed, reduced orriated, we may underutilize the additional
personnel, which would increase our general andradirative expenses, reduce our earnings and lggssarm our results of operations. If
we are unable to obtain major contracts or effetyicomplete such contracts due to staffing deficies, our revenues may decline and our
business may be harmed.

Government regulations of the telecommunications industry may adversely affect our business.

The wireless networks that we design, deploy andage are subject to various FCC regulations iruthieed States and other
international regulations. These regulations regthiat these networks meet certain radio frequentigsion standards, not cause unallowable
interference to other services, and in some casEpainterference from other services. These nésvare also subject to government
regulations and requirements of local standard$elsanlitside the United States, where we are lesgipent than local competitors and have
less opportunity to participate in the establishtreémegulatory and standards policies. We are sildgject to state and federal health, safety
and environmental regulations, as well as reguiatielated to the handling of and access to cladsifformation. Changes in the regulation
of our activities, including changes in the allégatof available spectrum by the United States gavent and other governments or exclu
of our technology by a standards body, could halwareful effect on our business, operating reslitfajdity and financial position.
Additionally, because we conduct business througtimiUnited States, many of our activities argesttto different state and local
regulatory schemes, including those relating teriging, taxes and employment matters, with whiclameerequired to comply.

Government regulations could restrict our ability to ability to hire employees or to utilize employees effectively.

As of December 31, 2003, approximately 150 or 11%uo employees in the United States were workindew H-1B visas. H-1B visas
are a special class of nonimmigrant working visagjfialified aliens working in
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specialty occupations, including, for example, oafiéquency engineers. The H-1B program refersgmaision of the United States
Immigration and Nationality Act that allows higtdkilled foreigners to work in the United Statesdsrlong as six years. Current law limits
the number of foreign workers who may be issuetsa or otherwise be provided H-1B status to 195i0@@ugh 2003. Absent other
congressional action, the cap will return to 65,002004. In addition, because we are an “H-1B ddpat employer” under the Department
of Labor regulations, we could face enhanced campk requirements and penalties.

Immigration policies are subject to rapid changel these policies have become more stringent sivecterrorist attacks on September
11, 2001. Any additional significant changes in ilgration law or regulations may further restrict aility to continue to employ or to hire
new workers on H-1B visas and otherwise restrictadnility to utilize our existing employees as vez it, and, therefore, could harm our
business.

International uncertainties and fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies could harm our profitability.

We currently have international operations, inahgdoffices in Brazil, China, Mexico, United Kingdo®weden and Turkey. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, international ope&tccounted for approximately 20% of our totaéreies. Our international busine
operations are subject to a number of materiasrisicluding, but not limited to:

« difficulties in building and managing foreign optoas;

» regulatory uncertainties in foreign countriegliling changing regulations and delays in licepgarriers to build out their
networks in various location

» difficulties in enforcing agreements and collectiegeivables through foreign legal systems andessiing other legal issue

* longer payment cycle:

« foreign and U.S. taxation issut

» potential weaknesses in foreign economies, paatityuin Europe, South America and Mexi

» fluctuations in the value of foreign currenci

« general economic and political conditions in thekats in which we operate; al

e unexpected domestic and international regulatargnemic or political change

Our significant international subsidiaries (i.e. Brazil, Mexico, Sweden and United Kingdom) pracaertain transactions that are
denominated in U.S. dollars. Downward fluctuationthe value of foreign currencies, compared toUb®. dollar, may make our services
more expensive than local service offerings inrimiéional locations. This would make our servickeofigs less price competitive than local
service offerings, which could harm our businessdate, our experience with this foreign currensl¢ has predominately related to the
Brazilian Real and Mexican Peso. In addition, vemalonduct business in British Pound Sterling, €snRenminbi, Euro, Swedish Krona

and Turkish Lira. We do not currently engage irrency hedging activities to limit the risks of aemcy fluctuations. Therefore, fluctuations
in foreign currencies could have a negative impacthe profitability of our global operations, whiwould harm our financial results.

Future changesin financial accounting standards may cause adver se unexpected revenue fluctuations and affect our reported results of
operations.

A change in accounting standards could have afgignt effect on our reported results and may eafégct our reporting of transactions
completed before the change is effective. The Kiarccounting Standards Board has announcedtiésiion to require that companies
record compensation expense in the statement ohtiges for employee stock options using the falue method. Implementation of this
requirement could have a significant negative éffecour reported results or impair our abilityuse equity compensation to
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attract and retain skilled personnel. New pronoorer@s and varying interpretations of pronouncemieat® occurred and may occur in the
future. Changes to existing rules or the questgiihcurrent practices may adversely affect ouortgul financial results or the way we
conduct our business.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relatimptporate governance and public disclosure, dhofuthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, newly enacted SEC regulations and Nasdad $tadket rules, are creating uncertainty for comearsuch as ours. We are committed
to maintaining high standards of internal contasr financial reporting, corporate governance audlic disclosure. As a result, we intent
invest appropriate resources to comply with ev@\standards, and this investment may result ireemed general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management time astiatt from revenue-generating activities to coanptie activities.

A few individuals own a significant percentage of our stock.

As of December 31, 2003, our executive officers dinglictors and their affiliates beneficially ownéuthe aggregate, approximately
31% of our outstanding common stock, after giviffga to the conversion of Series B Convertiblef@med Stock. In particular, our current
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Masood K. &laiy beneficially owned, approximately 10% of outstanding common stock. The
remaining 21% is beneficially owned by certain af other officers and directors and their affilatén addition, other members of the Tayebi
family owned, incrementally and in the aggregapmraximately 16% of our outstanding common stock.a&esult, the executive officers,
directors and their affiliates are able to colleely exercise control over matters requiring statbr approval, such as the election of
directors and the approval of significant corpotea@sactions. These types of transactions indiaesactions involving an actual or potential
change in control or other transactions that the.cantrolling stockholders may deem to be in theist interests and in which such
stockholders could receive a premium for their ebar

We may need additional capital in the future to fund the growth of our business, and financing may not be available.

We currently anticipate that our available capiéslources and operating income will be sufficiermnieet our expected working capital
and capital expenditure requirements for at ldasniext 12 months. However, we cannot assure yaitstith resources will be sufficient to
fund the long-term growth of our business. In gaifir, we may experience a negative operating taahdue to billing milestones and
project timelines in certain of our contracts. Waymaise additional funds through public or privaédt or equity financings if such
financings become available on favorable terms.ali§e recently filed a universal shelf registratstatement on Form S-3. Once declared
effective by the SEC, we may sell, in one or marklig offerings, shares of newly issued commonlstucpreferred stock, warrants or debt
securities, or any combination of such securifi@sproceeds in an aggregate amount of up to $20@m Such financing or offerings would
likely dilute our stockholders. In addition, we oa assure you that any additional financing we magd will be available on terms favora
to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not avéglal are not available on acceptable terms, we maaye able to take advantage of
unanticipated opportunities, develop new productstioerwise respond to competitive pressures. ynsach case, our business, operating
results or financial condition could be materialyversely affected.

Litigation may harm our business or otherwise distract our management.

Substantial, complex or extended litigation cowddse us to incur large expenditures and distracin@amagement. For example,
lawsuits by employees, stockholders or customeukidue very costly and substantially disrupt ousibass. Disputes from time to time with
such companies or individuals are not uncommon vandannot assure you that that we will alwayshile t resolve such disputes or on
terms favorable to us.
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Disclosure of trade secrets could aid our competitors.

We attempt to protect our trade secrets by enténitogconfidentiality agreements with third partiesir employees and consultants.
However, these agreements can be breached ahdyitte, there may not be an adequate remedy bleaitaus. If our trade secrets become
known we may lose our competitive position.

Our stock price may be volatile, which may result in lawsuits against us and our officers and directors.

The stock market in general, and the stock priéésahnology and telecommunications companies itiquéar, have experienced
volatility that has often been unrelated to or digprtionate to the operating performance of thamgapanies. The market price of our
common stock has fluctuated in the past and idyliteefluctuate in the future. Factors which cotilave a significant impact on the market
price of our common stock include, but are nottédito, the following:

e quarterly variations in operating resu

» announcements of new services by us or our corops!

» the gain or loss of significant custome

« changes in analy¢ earnings estimate

* rumors or dissemination of false informati

*  pricing pressures

» short selling of our common stoc

e general conditions in the mark

» political and/or military events associated withremt worldwide conflicts; an
» events affecting other companies that investorsndeemparable to u:

Companies that have experienced volatility in tregkmat price of their stock have frequently beendbgct of securities class action
litigation. Such litigation could result in substiah costs to us and a diversion of our managemetitention and resources.

Our charter documents and Delaware law may deter potential acquirers and may depress our stock price.

Certain provisions of our charter documents ancibate law, as well as certain agreements we habveour executives, could make it
substantially more difficult for a third party teguire control of us. These provisions include:

e authorizing the board of directors to issue preféistock

» prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofeittors;

» prohibiting stockholder action by written conse

» establishing advance notice requirements for nations for election to our board of directorsarfroposing matters that can be
acted on by stockholders at meetings of our stddkns;

e Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporatiaw,Lwhich prohibits us from engaging in a businessbination with an
interested stockholder unless specific conditioesnaet; anc

* anumber of our executives have agreements withat entitle them to payments in certain circameés following a change in
control.

These provisions may discourage certain typesaofstaictions involving an actual or potential changsontrol and may limit our
stockholders’ ability to approve transactions thaty deem to be in their best interests. As a tethdse provisions may depress our stock
price.
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Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in apmately 93,000 square feet of office space in Beago, California. The lease for
such space expires in April 2010. Other corporaseurce offices are located in the following lomas: Marietta, Georgia; Wilmington,
Delaware; Houston, Texas; Reston, Virginia; Sad®&razil; Mexico City, Mexico; Stockholm, Sweddmndon, U.K. and Beijing, China.
The Company also leases office space to suppoimesing and design and deployment services irouarnregions throughout the continel
and contiguous United States. The leases on tipases expire at various times through March 2008 c@htinually evaluate our current and
future space capacity in relation to current argjgmted future staffing levels. We believe that existing facilities are suitable and adequate
to meet our current business requirements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Refer to note 15 of our audited consolidated fimnalrstatements.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:
None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matter:
Market Information

Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ Nationalrkket System, under the symbol “WFII” and has tdasiace November 5,
1999.

The following table sets forth the high and lowesgprices for our Common Stock for the periodsdatdid, as reported by NASDAQ.
Such quotation represents inter-dealer prices withetail markup, markdown or commission and mayrnezessarily represent actual
transactions.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 20(

Fourth Quarte $18.6( $11.1¢

Third Quartel $15.6( $11.01

Second Quarte $12.1¢4 $ 5.74

First Quarte! $ 7.0¢ $ 5.01
Year Ended December 31, 20t

Fourth Quarte $ 7.3¢ $ 4.0

Third Quartel $ 5.2¢ $ 4.24

Second Quarte $ 6.0% $ 4.2¢

First Quartel $ 7.1¢ $ 3.5¢

On March 1, 2004, the last sale price of our Comi@tmtk as reported by NASDAQ was $13.49 per st@neMarch 1, 2004, there
were 245 shareholders of record of our Common Stock

We have not declared any dividends since becomjmgolic company. We currently intend to retain &myire earnings to finance the
growth and development of the business and, thereflo not anticipate paying any cash dividendbénforeseeable future. Any future
determination to pay cash dividends will be atdiseretion of our Board of Directors and will bepgadent upon the future financial
condition, results of operations, capital requirataggeneral business conditions and other reldaattrs as determined by our Board of
Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans
Information about our equity compensation planefd3ecember 31, 2003 was as follows:

Number of Securities Weighted Average

to be Issued Upon Exercise Price of Number of Securities

Exercise of Outstanding
Outstanding Options, Remaining Available

Options, Warrants Warrants and
Plan Category and Rights Rights for Future Issuance

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholdér 9,029,79 $ 9.81 2,970,87(3)

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Sharefel{R) 2,511,05 $ 6.9¢ 1,689,79!
11,540,85 4,660,67.

(1) Includes 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Equity InsenPlan and 1999 Employee Stock Purchase |
(2) Includes 2000 Nc-Statutory Stock Option Ple
(3) Includes 922,811 shares reserved for issuance timel&mployee Stock Purchase F

For more detailed information regarding our eqaitynpensation plans, see note 10 to our consolidatadcial statements.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial statements and related
notes thereto and with “Management’s Discussionfmalysis of Financial Condition and Results of @i®ns” which are incorporated in
Item 7 or included elsewhere in this Annual Reporf-orm 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
(All amounts except per share data in millions)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Consolidated Statements of Operations FinancighI
Revenue: $ 927 $255.¢ $207. $187.( $262.2
Gross profit $ 384 $115.¢& $ 66.2 $ 48.: $ 71
Operating income (los: $17€ $52C $(715 $(5547) $ 222
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $ 72 $20: $(15.0 $ 101 —
Net income (loss $ 9.6 $31.& $(60.1) $(63.C $ 23¢
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $03: $07¢ $(1.3) $(1.39) $044
Diluted $027 $06: $(1.3) $(1.39) $0.32
Weighted average share
Basic 29.1 41.¢ 45.¢ 48.1 53.4
Diluted 35.2 50.t 45.¢ 48.1 73.%
As of December 31,
(All amounts in millions)
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Consolidated Balance Sheets D
Cash and cash equivalel $342 $18f $61.1 $ 99.1 $ 89.€
Shor-term investment — — — — $ 24.€
Working capital $91.4 $103.2 $104.: $130.7 $162.¢
Total asset $134.4  $297.1  $275.C $234.< $300.¢
Total debt $ 27 $377 $421 $ 2¢ $ 0.7
Total stockholder equity $101.«  $198.6  $197.¢ $182.¢ $242.(
Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations “MD&A ")
Overview

We are an independent provider of outsourced congations and security systems engineering and riateg services for the wirele
communications industry, the U.S. government, artdrerise customers. The principal services weigeinclude, but are not limited to, the
design, deployment, integration, and the overathaggment of communications, information technol@g security networks. Our work 1
the wireless communications industry primarily ilmes radio frequency engineering, site developmanoject management and the
installation of radio equipment networks. We alsovde network management services, which involag-th-day optimization and
maintenance of wireless networks. As a result ofamguisition of HTS, we expect our work for theldeal government to primarily involve
systems engineering, systems integration, andutsmorcing of technical services such as operdtiesaand evaluation and program
management. We also provide services in the afaasseion assurance, product and process validatiohverification, and software and
applications development. Our work for enterprigstomers primarily involves the design, deploymant integration of security and other
in-building systems including access control anidusion detection and is focused on opportunitieistegrate wireless technology into
enterprise networks, especially physical and edeatrsecurity systems, and voice and data networks.
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Revenues from business consulting, enterpriseisnkiand design and deployment contracts are pitinfexed price contracts which
are recognized using the percentage-of-completiethad of accounting under the provisions of Stater&Position (SOP) 81-1,
“Accounting for Performance of Construction Typal &@ertain Production Type ContractEdr contracts offered on a time and expense |
we recognize revenues as services are performedyphally charge a fixed monthly fee for ongoiraglio frequency optimization and
network operations and maintenance services. Wghact to these services, we recognize revenwnases are performed.

Cost of revenues includes direct compensatiomdiviravel and benefit expenses for project-relagdonnel, payments to third-party
sub-contractors, project-related incentive compimsdased upon the successful achievement oficgataject performance goals, allocation
of corporate overhead costs of expendable compuofeware and equipment, and other direct projdeted expenses. Direct compensation
and benefits are computed based on standard cubtctual hours billed. We review and adjust thetaadard costs periodically to ensure
they are comparable to actual costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses irctampensation and benefits for corporate serviggayees and similar costs for
billable employees whose time and expenses camnassigned to a project (underutilization costg)eadable computer software and
equipment, facilities expenses and other operatipgnses not directly related and/or allocateddfepts. Additionally, our sales personnel
and senior corporate management have, as partiocthmpensation packages, periodic and annualddommmission incentives based on
attainment of specified performance goals.

Provision (credit) for doubtful accounts includesimated losses resulting from the financial ingbdf our customers to make required
payments for services we have performed. We con#iéegfollowing factors when determining if collemt of a receivable is reasonably
assured: comprehensive collection history, resfltsur communications with customers, the currérdrfcial position of the customer, and
the relevant economic conditions in the customeoistry. If we have had no prior experience with tustomer, we review reports from
various credit organizations to ensure that théotnsr has a history of paying its creditors inlakge and effective manner. If these factors
do not indicate collection is reasonably assuredgmue is deferred until such time, which is gdhetgpon receipt of cash. If the financial
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, aversely affect their financial ability to makayments, additional allowances would be
required. Additionally, on certain contracts wher&WFI performs services for a prime/general conttrg@ specified percentage of the
invoiced trade accounts receivable may be retdiyetie customer until the project is completed blyl\VWVe periodically review all
retainages for collectibility and record allowanéasdoubtful accounts when deemed appropriateedas our assessment of the associated
risks. Total retainages included in accounts red#eswere $0 and $1.1 million at December 31, 200X 2003, respectively.

Management currently considers the following eveménds and uncertainties to be important to wtdading its financial condition
and operating performance:

« During 2003, in response to consumer demancdipraved network coverage, quality, and capacitytdumntinued growth in
subscribers, minutes of use and increased dat@ us@gless carriers domestically increased capfiahding on their networks
resulting in a growth in our wireless network besis. We expect this trend to continue in 2(

» Our Latin America operations experienced sigaificgrowth commencing in the fourth quarter ofdis2003 as a result of certain
significant contracts awarded to us in the latet pathird quarter of fiscal 2003. We expect cangd growth in our overall
international operations based on projected sulicgrowth and marketplace competiti

e Our selling, general and administrative costge®sed as a percentage of revenues in 2003 aed@eted to continue to decrease
as a percentage of revenue in 2(

» Our effective tax rate for the year ended Decerie 2003 was 0% and is expected to increase @204 as a result of expected
incremental profitability. The annual and interieripd effective tax rate(:
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for 2004 may be lower than the statutory ratesdfrealize certain tax benefits as a result of ediogeprojected operating results
determined as of December 31, 2003. Furthermoee2®94 effective tax rate for annual and interiporéng periods could be
impacted if we achieve the favorable resolutioeeartain tax items that are reserved for at Decer@beR003. Finally, during 2004,
if we are impacted by a change in the valuatioovadince as of December 31, 2003 resulting from agdén judgment regarding
the realizability of deferred tax assets beyonddbauer 31, 2004, such effect will be recognizedhainterim period in which the
change occur:

» As aresult of our acquisitions of three privateeld companies during 2003, we experienced aaresipn in overall business and
commenced operations in a new segment createdgdiliénsecond quarter of 2003, enterprise soluti@ns.enterprise solutions
segment is focused on opportunities to integrateless technology into enterprise networks, espeghysical and electronic
security systems, and voice and data networks.tidadily, we plan to evaluate additional acquisisan 2004 in an attempt to
build out a national footprint that will allow oenterprise solutions segment to leverage, to ttenefeasible, related internal
synergies and, therefore, become a growing compaferur consolidated operatior

* In January 2004, with the acquisition of High firalogy Solutions, Inc. (HTS), we created our goweent network services
division which primarily provides systems enginagrisystems integration, and the outsourcing dfrieal services such as
operational test and evaluation and program manageto federal government agencies. We also praédeéces in the areas of
mission assurance, product and process validatidrverification, and software and applications degment. Our goal is to build
and expand our customer relationships within thpabenents of Defense and Homeland Security in daltake advantage of the
significant opportunities for companies with subsit expertise in wireless technolog

We believe that continuous increases in the sulxschase, coupled with the continuous rise in neisalf use in the past several years,
and growing data usage due principally to text rmgisg), combined with a new generation of color, eearphones, has and will continue to
reduce the network quality and capacity in manyggaphical areas to unacceptable levels. Additignakisting United States legislation
surrounding number portability and E-911 are rdaggichanges to systems, business processes, amorkebf wireless carriers.
Consequently, many of the carriers have indicatatthey will dedicate a larger percentage of thapital expenditures to improving
capacity, coverage and quality within their netvgodkurthermore, carriers will be forced to enhamté modify their infrastructure based on
the legislative mandates regarding number portgtaid E-911. Our response to this trend is toinaptdemonstrating our ability to provide
quality turnkey network deployment services andgenting the benefits of operational outsourcing.aijgect these recent positive trends in
the industry to contribute to ongoing improved fingl performance.

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

We have identified the following critical accourgipolicies that affect our more significant judgrngeand estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemenhe preparation of our financial statementsomfarmity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ameecaiires us to make estimates and judgments tfeatt difie reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, stockholders’ equity, revenues andenges, and related disclosures of contingent aasdtbabilities. On a periodic basis, as
deemed necessary, we evaluate our estimates, ingltitbse related to revenue recognition, allowdnceloubtful accounts, valuation of
long-lived assets including identifiable intangbknd goodwill, accounting for income taxes inahggdihe related valuation allowance,
accruals for partial self-insurance, contingeneied litigation and contingent acquisition consitiera We explain these accounting policies
in the notes to the consolidated financial stateémand at relevant sections in this discussionaaradysis. These estimates are based on the
information that is currently available and on was other assumptions that are believed to be mahounder the circumstances. Actual
results could vary from those estimates under iiffeassumptions or conditions.
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Revenue recognitionWe derive a significant percentage of our revenom® long-term contracts and account for thesdreats under
the provisions of Statement of Position 81-1, “Aacting for Performance of Construction-Type andt&arProduction-Type Contracts.”
Revenue on time and materials contracts is recedras services are rendered at contracted lales pats material and other direct costs
incurred. The portion of our revenue derived fraxed price contracts accounted for approximateBo&8 our revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Revenue on fixed price contiactrognized using the percentagesofpletion method based on the ratio of total ¢
incurred to date compared to estimated total dostemplete the contract. Estimates of costs topteta include material, direct labor,
overhead, and allowable general and administratpenses. These cost estimates are reviewed aretdaésary, revised monthly on a
contract-byeontract basis. If, as a result of this review,degermine that a loss on a contract is probabés the full amount of estimated I
is charged to operations in the period it is deteewh that it is probable a loss will be realizeahfrthe full performance of the contract.
Significant management judgments and estimatekidimgy but not limited to the estimated costs tmptete projects, must be made and used
in connection with the revenue recognized in aropanting period. The revenue we recognize in argre@orting period depends on: (1) the
costs we have incurred for individual projects; @) then current estimate of the total remainiogtg to complete individual projects; and
the current estimated contract value associatdd v projects. If, in any period, we increase @rdase our estimate of the total costs to
complete a project, and/or reduce or increasesbeciated contract value, revenue for that periodlgvbe impacted. As a result, our gross
margin in such period and in future periods maytected. To the extent that our estimates fluetaster time or differ from actual results,
gross margins in subsequent periods may vary gignifly from our estimates. Material differencesymasult in the amount and timing of «
revenue for any period if management made diffgratgments or utilized different estimates.

A cancellation or modification of a fixed price aoact which is accounted for using the percentdgesmpletion method may advers
affect our gross margins for the period in which tlontract is modified or cancelled. Under certdioumstances, a cancellation or negative
modification could result in us having to reverseaenue that we recognized in a prior period, thgisificantly reducing the amount of
revenues we recognize for the period in which tfjasiment is made. Correspondingly, a positive fication may positively affect our grc
margins.

In addition, many of our contracts include milegdnillings. If a contract is terminated or if th@pe of a contract changes prior to a
milestone billing, the amount of revenue we recegmhay change, which would affect our revenue andsgmargin in the period in which
the contract is terminated or the scope is changed.

During the reporting periods contained herein, weexperience revenue and margin adjustments ¢diogurojects based on the
aforementioned factors, but the effect of such stdjents, both positive and negative, when evaluatestal were determined to be
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements
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Allowance for doubtful accountd¥e maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefgtimated losses resulting from the potential
inability of certain customers to make requiredifetpayments on amounts due to us. Managemenndeés the adequacy of this allowance
by periodically evaluating the aging and past datire of individual customer accounts receivablarizes and considering the customer’s
current financial situation as well as the existimgustry economic conditions and other relevaotdis that would be useful towards
assessing risk of collectibility. If the future éincial condition of our customers were to detet@reesulting in their inability to make specific
required payments, additions to the allowance éubdful accounts may be required. For in depthudison regarding transactions during the
reporting period, refer to Results of Operationd aate 3 to our consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of long-lived assets including intangiblesets and goodwillWe recorded goodwill and finite-life intangiblesets resulting
from the recently and previously completed acqioisg. Management assesses the impairment of iddniéffinite-life intangibles, long-lived
assets and related goodwill whenever events orgasaim circumstances indicate that the carryingevabay not be recoverable, but at a
minimum on an annual basis. Factors we considevaek which could trigger an accelerated impairmewiew include, but are not limited
to, the following:

» significant underperformance relative to historicaprojected future operating resu

» significant changes in the manner of our use ofttguired assets or the strategy for our overalinmss
» significant negative industry or economic trer

» significant decline in our stock price for a suséal period; an

e our market capitalization relative to net book ea

When we determine that the carrying value of intilaleg, long-lived assets and related goodwill mai/be recoverable based upon the
existence of one or more of the above indicatoismpiirment, we measure any impairment based sutigty on a projected discounted
future cash flow method using a discount rate deitezd by our management to be commensurate withigkénherent in our current
business model combined with other readily avaélaid other relevant information. Net intangibleeds, long-lived assets (including
investments in unconsolidated affiliates), and gatidvas $71.0 million as of December 31, 2003.8Aesult of our acquisition of HTS in t
first quarter of 2004, the total amount of our il&ngible assets, long-lived assets and goodwililimcrease materially; however, as of the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we haveyms completed the purchase price allocation eelab the HTS acquisition.

On January 1, 2002, Statement of Financial Accogritandards (SFAS) No. 142 became effective amdrasult, we ceased
amortization of all goodwill and indefinite livedtangible assets. Through December 31, 2001, gdlosas amortized on a straighihe basi:
over lives ranging from 5 to 20 years, and intalegilwere amortized on a straight-line basis owesliranging from 2 to 5 years. In lieu of
amortization, we were required to perform an ihitigpairment review of our goodwill and intangitdssets with indefinite lives in 2002 and,
at a minimum, an annual impairment review thereaftdess specific evidence identified as a triggggevent would warrant an accelerated
review. The first step of the goodwill impairmeast required the Company to determine and comparéair value of its defined reporting
units to their carrying values as of January 1,20Me fair value for each reporting unit was deieed using a discounted cash flow
valuation analysis. The carrying values of eacloriipg unit were determined by specifically ideyitifg and allocating the assets and
liabilities of the Company to each reporting urasbd on headcount, relative revenues or costsher methods as deemed appropriate by
management. The estimated fair values exceedeththging values for each reporting unit, resultimgio indication of impairment.
Consequently, the second step of the impairmenhtas not required.

During the fourth quarters of 2002 and 2003, weudaented and consistently measured the carryingevaflall related goodwill, finite
and indefinite life intangible assets in accordawidd SFAS No. 142. Upon completion of step on¢haf annual impairment tests, no
indication of impairment was present at the evadmadates, December 31, 2002 and 2003.
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Accounting for income taxes\s part of the process of preparing our constdididinancial statements we are required to estiroat
provision for income taxes in each of the tax gid&ons in which we conduct business. This prodegsives estimating our actual current
expense in conjunction with the evaluation and mesamsent of temporary differences resulting fronfetihg treatment of certain items for
tax and accounting purposes. These temporary tigiffigrences result in the establishment of defbtex assets and liabilities, which are
recorded on a net basis and included in our caest@ldl balance sheet. We then assess on a perasitictbe probability that our net deferred
tax assets will be recovered and, therefore raaliman future taxable income and to the extent eiele that recovery is not probable, a
valuation allowance is established to mitigate suslhresulting in an additional related provisfon income taxes during the period. If we are
required to further increase the valuation alloveaimcthe future, it could have an adverse impaahunresults of operations.

Significant management judgment is required in mheil@ng our provision for income taxes, our defdrtax assets and liabilities and
any required valuation allowance. We have recoededluation allowance of $25.2 million as of Decem81, 2003, due to management'’s
overall assessment of risks and uncertaintiesaebliat our future ability to realize and, hencdjagicertain deferred tax assets, primarily
consisting of certain net operating losses, carwdod temporary differences and future tax dedustiesulting from certain types of stock
option exercises, before they expire. The assemdeqguacy of valuation allowance is based on ouentiestimates of combined future
adjusted taxable income by each tax jurisdictiowlich we operate and the period over which oueetl tax assets will be recoverable. In
the event that actual results differ from thesarestes or we adversely adjust these estimatedunefyperiods, our financial position and
results of operations could be materially impachéet deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2088 $14..5 million, which is comprised of
deferred tax assets of $45.6 million, a currenaagbn allowance of $25.2 million and a deferredliability of $8.9 million. Given our
historical cumulative loss position and pursuarth®provisions of Statement of Financial Accougt8tandards (SFAS) 109%¢&counting fo
Income Taxes,” limited consideration is given ttufie taxable income in evaluating the recoverabdftour deferred tax assets and the
corresponding valuation allowance placed on theseta. Based on this, management believes thetieal@owance recorded at December
31, 2003 is properly stated.

The annual and interim period effective tax ratégs2004 may be lower than the statutory rategeifrealize certain tax benefits as a
result of exceeding projected operating resulterdg@ned as of December 31, 2003. Furthermore, @04 2ffective tax rate for annual and
interim reporting periods could be impacted if vehiave the favorable resolution of certain tax gemat are reserved for at December 31,
2003. Finally, during 2004, if we are impacted bghange in the valuation allowance as of DecemheP@03 resulting from a change in
judgment regarding the realizability of deferrer é@sets beyond December 31, 2004, such effecbailecognized in the interim period
which the change occurs.

Accrual for partial self-insuranceWe maintain an accrual for our health and workerspensation partial self-insurance, which is a
component of total accrued expenses in the coraelicbalance sheets. Management determines theaayeof these accruals based on a
monthly evaluation of our historical experience amads related to both medical and workers congt@rsclaims and payments,
information provided to us by our insurance brokedustry experience and average lag period in lvbiaims are paid. If such information
indicates that our accruals require adjustmentwwillecorrespondingly, revise the assumptions eitl in our methodologies and reduce or
provide for additional accruals as deemed apprtpriss of December 31, 2003, the accrual for outigdeself-insurance programs
approximated $2.1 million. We also carry stop-lvssirance that provides coverage limiting our tetgdosure related to each medical and
workers compensation claim incurred, as definetthénapplicable insurance policies. The medicalwaarkers compensation claims limits are
$175,000 and $350,000, respectively. For the yeding December 31, 2003, we experienced one cladhrzaro claims that exceeded the
limits for medical and workers compensation, resipely.

Contingencies and litigationWe are subject to various claims and legal astinrthe ordinary course of our business. We anently
not aware of any pending or threatened litigattwat tve believe is reasonably likely to have a niataedverse effect on us other than those
items disclosed in Item 3 “Legal Proceedings”. If
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we become aware of such assessments against usll eealuate the probability of an adverse outccene provide accruals or disclosures
for such contingencies as necessary, in accordaitieeSFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”.

Contingent Acquisition ConsideratioRtom time to time, in connection with business asitjons, we agree to make additional future
payments to sellers contingent upon achievemespedific performance-based milestones by the aeduntities. Pursuant to the provisions
of SFAS No. 141, such contingent liabilities areraed, and therefore, recorded by us as liabilitieen the contingency is determinable
beyond a reasonable doubt and, hence, the additonsideration becomes payable. As of Decembe2@13, a contingent consideration
accrual related to these arrangements totaling®8lidn was recorded on our consolidated balafeesand was paid to the selling
shareholders during the first quarter of fiscal£208ssuming the acquired entities reach the mininbase performance targets, the aggregate
future contingent payments related to the measureperiods from 2003 through 2006, including thiabee accrued as of December 31,
2003, would approximate a cumulative total of $Irhillion. If the acquired entities exceed the defirannual performance targets through
estimated annual growth of approximately 15%, thgragate future contingent payments could ranga $83.2 to $35.3 million inclusive of
the amounts accrued as of December 31, 2003 arahtbants earned from the achievement of the minirnase performance targets. The
contingent consideration is calculated based certaio multiple of defined annual earnings targetstated in the respective purchase
agreements. See “Liquidity and Capital Resourcad’reote 1 to our consolidated financial statem&atsstimated range of contingent
payments by year.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2002 to the Year Ended December 31, 2003

RevenuesRevenues increased 40% from $187.0 million feryear ended December 31, 2002 to $262.2 milliothi® year ended
December 31, 2003. The $75.2 million increase wasayily attributable to an increase in domestivereues of $53.9 million and an increase
in international revenues of $21.3 million. Our &mprrise Solutions segment generated incrementahtes from acquisitions totaling $42.1
million during the year ended December 31, 2002 f@maining increase totaling $1.1 million from &mnterprise Solutions segment was
generated from organic business growth in our W&Ehnology operations. Our Latin America operatiexgerienced significant
improvement of $16.0 million from the prior yearedprimarily to certain significant contracts thatne awarded during the third quarter of
2003 and are expected to continue throughout afisigmt part of 2004. Revenue in our EMEA operasi@iso increased by $5.3 million
between periods. The overall increase is primatilsibuted to increased capital expenditures byi@arto expand and improve their wireless
networks due to customer demands for improved m&temverage, quality and capacity due to contingigascriber and minute growth, and
increased data usage. Finally, we recognized ges&nues under contract management agreementpraixapately $16.8 million and $16.5
million during the year ended December 31, 20022008, respectively, pursuant to the provisiongIdf 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gro
as a Principal versus Net as an Agent.”

Revenues by operating segment for the years endedniber 31, 2002 and 2003 are as follows (in miljo

% change
2002 2003 $ change
Design and deployme| $143.5 $172.5 $ 29.C 20.2%
Network managemel 38.2 43.t 5.2 13.6%
Enterprise solution — 43.2 43.2 100.(%
Business consultin 5.2 3.C (2.2 (42.9%
Total revenue $187.( $262.2 $ 75.2 40.2%
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Revenues generated by geographic segment for #re gaded December 31, 2002 and 2003 are as foliowsllions):

$ change % change
2002 2003
United State: $155.2 $209.2 $ 53.¢ 34.7%
EMEA 13.7 19.C 5.3 38.7%
Latin America 18.C 34.C 16.C 88.9%
Total revenue $187.C $262.2 $ 75.2 40.2%

As described in the section “Critical Accountingrieiples and Estimatesind in the footnotes to our consolidated finanstiatements,
significant portion of our revenue is derived fréixed price contracts whereby revenue is calculatgdg the percentage-of-completion
method based on the ratio of total costs incuroedbte compared to estimated total costs to comfiet contract. These estimates are
reviewed monthly on a contract-lepntract basis, and are revised periodically thnoudg the life of the contract such that adjustménisrofit
resulting from revisions are made cumulative todate of the revision. Significant management judgts and estimates, including the
estimated costs to complete projects, which detartie project’'s percent complete, must be madeused in connection with the revenue
recognized in any accounting period. Material défeces may result in the amount and timing of emenue for any period if management
makes different judgments or utilizes differenirastes.

During the reporting periods contained herein, wdeexperience revenue and margin adjustments tdiogurojects based on the
aforementioned factors, but the effect of such stdjents, both positive and negative, when evaluatéatal were determined to be
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements

Cost of RevenuegCost of revenues increased 38% from $138.7 miliw the year ended December 31, 2002 to $190I®mfor the
year ended December 31, 2003 primarily due to ¢thheesponding increase in total revenues. The iser@acost of revenues during the 2!
period attributable to acquisitions was approxinya®30.6 million. Gross margin during the year esnd=cember 31, 2003 increased slightly
from 2002 gross margin of 26% to 27% of total raxes The overall increase in gross margin perceritagrimarily attributable to realized
efficiencies on the domestic projects combined wWithgross margins of 27%, collectively, that wastdbuted by our acquired entities
during 2003. This increase is partially offset bwér margins in the Latin American operations améareasing trend by carriers to request
turnkey contracts which generally require us tbadithird-party vendors, thus reducing gross marghe lower margins in Latin America
were a result of continued competitive pricing press.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens&glling, general and administrative expensesedsed 13% from $52.3 million to $45.6
million for the years ended December 31, 2002 &@@8B2respectively. The reduction is due to lowespenel related costs attributable to a
reduction in the level of underutilized field pensel and significantly lower administrative expenas a result of various successful cost
reduction and cost containment programs. The dserisgpartially offset by selling, general and auistrative expenses related to our
acquisitions totaling $6.3 million for the year eddDecember 31, 2003. The expected ongoing grawdlii operations will require additior
costs, including costs in order to effectively grate acquired entities and comply with recent lagans implementing the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. We intend to invest appropriate researto comply with evolving standards, and thiestment will likely result in
corresponding future increases in general and ddtrative expenses. However, as we continue to gewar cost structure and leverage our
incremental revenue dollars in 2004, we expect feaeding, general and administrative expensesmereentage of revenue.

Provision (Credit) for Doubtful AccountsProvision for doubtful accounts was $7.9 millfon the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to a credit of $3.3 million for the sameeiqd in 2003. This credit amount was calculatesedaupon a consistent application of the
proportion of amounts collected compared to thewartwpreviously reserved on or before January @320The prior year’s provision, as
reflected in our
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financial results was deemed appropriate basetlefatts and circumstances prevailing during tieaibd and the associated risks directly
attributed to the customer’s inability and/or irttempay the balances owed. Based on our ongosgsament of our trade accounts
receivables, combined with recent improved coltecgfforts and results in our Mexican subsidiargnagement determined that a portion of
our allowance for doubtful accounts was no longeuired, and as such, recorded an adjustment &stiraated allowance for doubtful
accounts during 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization ExpensBepreciation and amortization expense decreag¥dfiom $7.8 million to $6.7 million for tr
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respgcfied decrease is primarily due to the cessati@mmrtization for certain finite lifi
intangible assets in our EMEA operations (QueshasTelia Contractor business) which were deemediragd and written off at the end of
the first quarter of fiscal 2002 combined with theerall reduction of depreciation associated witbeds under capital leases during 2003.

Asset impairment and other charges, mriring the year ended December 31, 2002, we redd$d6.0 million of asset impairment and
other charges compared to $0.1 million during #mae period in 2003. The decrease of $34.9 milkoattributed primarily to the following:

e Asset Impairment Charge lower by $19.5 million @®2
For the year ended December 31, 2002, asset impaircharges, including related penalties, totad &million, compared to
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2@&ing the first quarter of 2002, we determined ihgpairment existed based
our analyses of the results of operations and pi@ajefuture cash flows associated with certain golbdnd other intangible assets
and certain office equipment. Accordingly, we retsat impairment charges of $21.1 million during fingt quarter of 2002. During
the fourth quarter of 2003, we assessed the utdizaf certain specialized and technology-depenéleld equipment and
determined that certain equipment was idle andn@lcigically impaired. These were primarily oldesets which could no longer
effectively nor efficiently be utilized on existiray upcoming domestic and international custometregts. Due to the nature of t
equipment and its dependence on current technolbgysalvage value associated with such equipmastdeemed to be nominal.
Based on these combined facts and circumstancemgement concluded that impairment existed andefine, recorded an
impairment charge totaling $2.2 million, as parbaf Design and Deployment operating segment irficdheth quarter of 2003.

» Loss on unused office space changed by $13.2 miili@003
Based on our assessment in 2002 of the marketttmmslsurrounding our unused office space andikieifood of achieving
certain sublease rates and the overall recovetabfliour related operating lease expenses, wadedoa $10.0 million loss during
the first quarter of 2002. During 2003, we reevtddaour accrual for loss on unused office spacedatermined that a significant
portion of our corporate facility was expected éoutilized commencing in 2004. This change in estinwas primarily attributable
to our acquisition of HTS that was announced inddelger 2003 and consummated in January 2004. Asult,rere recorded a $3.2
million reversal of the accrual for unused offigase during the fourth quarter of 2003.

e Separation and other person-related costs lower by $2.2 million in 20
In response to the economic challenges in the egseindustry during 2002, we reduced our workfaa®ss various functions,
resulting in $3.3 million of severance and otheispanel-related charges. During 2003, howeverstaffing levels were adequate
to accommodate existing and new projects that wesrded to us. The separation and other persoataéd costs totaling $1.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 weimarily associated with post-employment bene#isted to the retirement of
our former chief financial officer during the fohrgquarter of 2003.

Other Income (Expense), NEbr the year ended December 31, 2002, net othemiaavas $1.0 million compared to $1.3 million foe
year ended December 31, 2003. The $0.3 millioree®e was primarily attributable to lower interegiemse resulting from the $33.6 milli
reduction of outstanding debt in the second quaft@002, partially offset by $1.8 million relatéal significant negative foreign currency
fluctuations
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experienced during the 2003 period with the Mexiaso. Interest income associated with higher aadtshort-term investments compared
to the previous respective period was minimizedtdube effect of lower interest rates during thajarity of 2003.

Provision for Income TaxeQur effective income tax rate for the year endedddeber 31, 2002 represented a 19% income tax expens
compared to zero tax rate for the year ended DeeeBi 2003. The tax provision of $10.1 million fbe year ended December 31, 2002
included an increase to the valuation allowancdeferred tax assets based upon a revision to tjegtions of future taxable income and
inherent risk associated with the expected achien¢mf consistent long-term profitability which wagaluated on a consolidated and local
geographic segment basis. The increase in theti@iualowance applied to substantially all U.$ate and foreign taxable loss carryforwa
and cumulative temporary differences that were medated in the prior reporting periods. During 2@08realized a zero effective tax rate
a result of a current year reduction of the relateldation allowance associated with net deferagdassets. The reduction in the valuation
allowance and associated offset to the normaliaregbtovision was a direct result of the correspogdax benefits realized during the year
which previously had an associated valuation allwea

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2001 to the Year Ended December 31, 2002

RevenuesRRevenues decreased $20.2 million, or 9.7% from $26illion for the year ended December 31, 200%187.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. Our revenuesnggedively affected primarily by the lack of sificant improvement in the financial
markets in general, and specifically within theeteimmunications industry, where many of our custarhad difficulty obtaining necessary
capital resources to fund the expansion of thedirmsses. We experienced this particularly in ptarhational operations where revenues
declined from $65.6 million in 2001 to $31.7 miliin 2002. Revenues from international markets aisad 32% of our total revenues
during the year ended December 31, 2001 compargd¥oof our total revenues during the twelve mqehiod ended December 31, 2002.
This $33.9 million decrease in international revenwas partially offset by an overall growth in distic operations in 2002 that was derived
primarily from technology upgrades by certain lavgeeless carriers. Specifically, domestic revenmneseased from $141.6 million in 2001
$155.3 million in 2002, of which $67.0 million (3666 total revenues in 2002) was derived from rewesmecognized under our subcontractor
agreement with Bechtel Corporation. Additionallgmamencing on October 1, 2001, we increased out thaervice to customers under our
contract management type agreements whereby wefurgrgoning as the principal rather than the ageth respect to the customer and the
vendor, resulting in higher management fees. Assalt, and in accordance with the provisions ofFE®B-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a
Principal versus Net as an Agent,” we began torcepoospectively for certain agreements that metctiiteria set forth in EITF 99-19, the
gross charges (inclusive of mark-up) in revenuebstha corresponding costs payable to the respeatindors in cost of revenue. During the
year ended December 31, 2002, we recognized appatedy $16.8 million of gross revenues under thoesgract management agreeme
compared to $1.8 million during the year ended Drewer 31, 2001.

Revenues by operating segment for the years endedriiber 31, 2001 and 2002 are as follows (in m#ljo

% change
2001 2002 $ change
Design and deployme| $159.8  $143.% $ (16.0 (10.0%
Network managemel 40.4 38. (2.7 (5.2%
Business consultin 7.3 5.2 (2.2) (28.8%
Total revenue $207.2 $187.C $ (20.29) 9.9)%
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Revenues generated by geographic segment for #re gaded December 31, 2001 and 2002 are as foliowsllions):

% change
2001 2002 $ change
United State: $141.€ $155.2 $ 13.i 9.7%
EMEA 22.t 13.7 (8.9 (39.1)%
Latin America 43.1 18.C (25.]) (58.29%
Total revenue $207.z2 $187.C $ (20.2) (9.%

Cost of Revenue<ost of revenues decreased from $141.0 millioriHe year ended December 31, 2001 to $138.7 mifbo the year
ended December 31, 2002. Gross profit was 32%wvefnges for the year ended December 31, 2001 conhpa@6% for the year ended
December 31, 2002. Gross profit as a percentagevefiue was negatively impacted primarily due tbaie contracts with negative margins
in our Latin America operations as well as contthpeicing demands within the wireless telecommuics industry and related accruals
associated with pricing concessions. Additionallgss profit was reduced due to the impact of tspective change to record contract
management costs in cost of revenues, in accordaitit&I TF 99-19 as described above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens8elling, general and administrative expensesadaed 35% from $80.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001 to $52.3 millionHentear ended December 31, 2002. As a percentageeiues, selling, general &
administrative expenses decreased from almost 89%hé year ended December 31, 2001 to 28% foye¢he ended December 31, 2002. ~
significant decrease reflects a reduction in stgffevels by 12%, or 175 employees (since Decerdbe?001), and significantly lower
administrative expenses as a result of variousreakiction and savings initiatives. Additionallpproximately $1.6 million of lease payme
have been charged to the accrual for unused dffiaee which has effectively reduced operating leapense during 2002 as compared to
2001.

Provision for Doubtful AccountsProvision for doubtful accounts was a $21.3 wrillfor the year ended December 31, 2001 compared
to $7.9 million for the same period in 2002. The ldabt expense recorded during 2001 was relatestaivables from certain customers who
filed for bankruptcy in 2001. The amount recorde@002 related specifically to our Mexican subsigiaased on our collection risk
assessment of the trade accounts receivable bakmt@verall success of prior collection efforts.

Depreciation and Amortization ExpensBepreciation and amortization expense decreaé®&dfom $21.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, to $7.8 million for the yearezhB®ecember 31, 2002. The decrease is primariljtaloar adoption of SFAS No. 142
whereby amortization of goodwill and intangibleetsawith indefinite lives ceased, effective Janugrg2002. As a result, goodwill and
intangible asset amortization declined from $10illion in 2001 to $0 in 2002. Additionally, the date in amortization of finite life
intangibles in 2002 resulted from an impairmenslcecorded in the first quarter of 2002 associatitad our EMEA operations (specifically,
our Questus and Telia Contracting operations). ithgairment loss reduced our recorded goodwill attnér intangible assets and had the
effect of further reducing future amortization empe by approximately $2.4 million for certain fattife intangible assets during 2002 that
would have continued to be amortized.

Asset impairment and other charges, ket the year ended December 31, 2001, asset impairamd other charges were $14.5 million,
compared to $35.0 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2002. The increase of $20.5 million is prityaattributed to the following:

» Asset Impairment Charge higher by $8.8 million @02
The impairment charge of $12.9 million in 2001 fe=alifrom visible economic trends in the telecomimations industry that
triggered an impairment evaluation of our goodwaiitl other intangible assets in accordance witlptbeisions of SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment
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of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets ®isposed Of”. Assets determined to be impairetuded goodwill, contracts
and workforce intangibles approximating $8.2 millio our design and deployment segment and $4libmih our network
management segment. The impairment charge of $&illiégn in 2002 was primarily driven by an accel@@ decline in revenue
during the first quarter of 2002 in the Companypeiations in Europe, the Middle East and AfricaMEA”) and specifically, its
consulting (Questus) and network management (Toigracting) operations. Based on this and otliggering events, and after
evaluating the related undiscounted cash flowegltionship to the segment’s identifiable net asseaccordance with SFAS No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposall@ing-Lived Assets,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill a@ther Intangible
Assets,” it was determined that such cash flowarnondiscounted basis would be insufficient to cakie net book value of the
related identifiable net assets. As a result, gheted intangible assets were deemed fully impairetithe Company recognized a
charge of $19.9 million representing all goodwiidefinite life and finite life intangible assetated to EMEA at March 31, 2002.
See note 2 to our consolidated financial statenfentdetailed discussion regarding the related immpent analysis and calculation.
The remaining impairment charge of $1.8 millior2D02 related to certain technologically impairedipment that could no longer
accommodate specific project requirements.

e Loss on unused office space higher by $8.6 milid2002
In early 2001, we implemented a planned reductidioice within all functional operating departmedtg to the effects of the
downturn in the wireless telecommunications indusis a result, we were left with significant exsdacility capacity associated
with non-cancelable operating lease commitmentgingnin duration from 24 — 96 months. The initiabyision for loss on unused
office space of $1.4 million recorded during 200dsvdetermined based upon management’s analysiswrand assessment as of
March 31, 2001, of the expected realization of grtgd sublease income associated with the expegtass facility capacity,
compared to the aggregate scheduled lease paythemigh the remainder of the lease terms. Managesmemalysis was
performed on a net present value basis utilizingestimated “cost of capitalis a discount rate. These factors were used dm#is
in determining the estimated net present valubefublease income in order to determine the sstffom unused office space.
The initial determination and computation of estietbloss on unused office space was performeddordance with FASB
Technical Bulletin (FTB) 79-15, “Accounting for Le®n a Sublease Not Involving the Disposal of anSag”.

The downturn in the wireless telecommunicationsigtd/ continued for a longer period and was movesethan initially
predicted. With the lack of significant new contsaduring the following months, we were forcedudalier reduce workforce levels
throughout the organization resulting in additiomalised facilities associated with existing leage@ements. As other companies
reduced their workforces, additional real estatabee available which resulted in a reduction afestied sublease rates and,
therefore a reduction in the estimated future sag#dencome. We assessed the expected range obfeablease rates giving
consideration to the current market capacity o$taxj commercial real estate, remaining lease tproperty location, and other
relevant factors. Based on the expected sublets® ramaining lease term and the estimated “ssiblpariod”, management
concluded an additional provision of $10.0 millwas required in the first quarter of 2002.

» Separation and other person-related costs higher by $3.1 in 20
As described above, we addressed the challendhs imireless industry which continued in 2002 tlyloeffective management of
costs and a reduction of our workforce across varfanctions. During the year ended December 301 2@e recorded $0.2 millic
which reflected the initial steps to reduce costeesponse to the continued downturn in the geme@aiomy and wireless industry.
Severance and other unusual personnel-relatedeshtotaling $3.3 million was recorded primarilytive first quarter of 2002 and
reflect the actions to follow through on this plan.

Net Other Income (Expensefor the year ended December 31, 2001, net ogpemse was $3.5 million compared to net other ireom
of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31,20this positive change of

31



Table of Contents

$4.5 million was primarily attributable to lowené@rest expense of $1.5 million during 2002 resglfimm the paydown of outstanding debt,
higher interest income of $0.8 million generataahfrhigher cash balances and $2.0 million of foreigchange gain recognized during 2002
primarily from the favorable exchange rate fluctoias in the Mexican Peso.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxd&3ur effective income tax rate for the year endeddbaber 31, 2001 represented a 20% income ta
benefit compared to a 19% income tax expense &ydar ended December 31, 2002. The tax providi@i@1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 reflects an increase in the tiatuallowance on net deferred tax assets based apdincrease of expected risk associ
with the recoverability of certain net deferred &ssets resulting from management’s downward i@visi projected future taxable income.
The increase in the valuation allowance applids.®. (federal and state) and foreign taxable lass/forwards generated in the current
period, as well as an additional portion of prieayloss carryforwards and cumulative temporarfedifces.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Working Capital and Cash Flows

Our sources of liquidity include cash and cashjants and shoterm investments, cash from operations and othermeal sources ¢
funds. As of December 31, 2003, we had cash artda@sivalents and short-term investments total®@ & million and $24.6 million,
respectively.

Our operating cash flow is used to finance tradmuawts receivable, fund capital expenditures, aakarselective acquisitions.
Financing trade accounts receivable is necessaauise, on average, the customers and payors faeotices do not pay us as quickly as we
pay our vendors and employees for their goods andces. Capital expenditures consist primarilynwestment in field equipment, computer
hardware and software and improvement of our phaygioperties in order to maintain suitable comdisi to conduct our business. We expect
certain additional expenditures for facility impeswents in order to meet and comply with regulatorg government security requirements
applicable to our Government Network Services divis

Cash from operations is primarily derived from oustomer contracts in progress and associated ekamgvorking capital
components. Cash provided by operations was $3Bli6nrand $8.2 million for the years ended DecemBg, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
The decrease between periods of $24.8 millionimeanily due to growth of accounts receivable dutting last half of 2003 associated with
newly initiated projects in our Latin America opoas. Based on the terms of these contracts Kiléng milestones and project timeline)
additional resources will be required to procumneises and materials to complete the projects. @sh payments for such additional
resources will not likely coincide with our collémt of related accounts receivable balances asudt i&f the contract terms which will likely
cause a negative operating cash flow over thefékgtmonths in 2004. We received the first sigmifitlevel of cash collections in our
Mexican operations from the Telefonica project dgrihe first quarter of fiscal 2004. Cash colleaecbur trade accounts receivable balal
(excluding amounts collected by the companies vgeiaed in 2003) were approximately $209.5 milliond&228.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectivelg. §18.7 million improvement from prior year is parily attributed to a positive shift in
our customer base and an overall continued grawtloimestic revenues associated with large camigtsequipment vendor contracts. Our
top customers have shifted from smaller, emergiagkat carriers to larger, well-known and more dighbd carriers in the industry.
Additionally, we have implemented more effectivél@ction strategies in our domestic and internatlaperations and have continued to
reduce and manage our overall operating expensasgttn more effective and efficient processes.

The following table depicts the positive improvermand trend in our quarterly consolidated daysssalgstanding (DSO):

2002 2003
2nd
4th 1st Quarter 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
DSO- Consolidatec 112 11C 101 10€ 10€
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Cash used in investing activities was $3.7 milkor $42.9 million for the years ended Decembe802 and 2003, respectively.
Investing activities for the year ended December2BD2 consisted solely of capital expendituredev®003 included $7.4 million of capital
expenditures, $10.9 million related to net initahsideration paid for acquisitions of three pratheld companies and $34.3 million for
purchases of short-term investments, partiallyetffsy $9.7 million of proceeds from the sale ofrstterm investments. See also note 5 to our
consolidated financial statements for further désgon of our acquisitions during 2003.

Cash provided by financing activities for the yeaded December 31, 2002 was $10.6 million, whiafsisted primarily of proceeds
from issuance of Series B Convertible PreferreaiStotaling $44.9 million, net of issuance costg] @aroceeds from the issuance of common
stock resulting from exercises of employee stodioop and purchases under our Employee Stock PsedPian totaling $4.9 million, offset
by repayments of our line of credit and correspogdiote payable totaling $33.6 million and repayhwércapital lease obligations totaling
$5.6 million. Cash provided by financing activitieas $26.3 million for the year ended December2B03. The positive cash flow from
financing activities for this period consisted pairity of proceeds from the issuance of common stotMing $29.5 million associated with
exercises of employee stock options and purchas#sr wur Employee Stock Purchase Plan, partiafgebby the repayment of capital lease
obligations and notes payable totaling $3.2 million

New Financing Arrangements

On February 19, 2004 we filed a universal shelfstegtion statement on Form S-3 and an acquisgiwif registration statement on
Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commis&&C). We have no immediate plans to raise dapiider the shelf Form S-3 or to
utilize the shelf Form S-4 for an acquisition traction. Once declared effective by the SEC, thearsal shelf on Form S-3 will permit us to
sell, in one or more public offerings, shares offlyassued common stock, shares of newly issuefbmer stock, warrants or debt securities,
or any combination of such securities, for procdedm aggregate amount of up to $200 million.ddigon, the universal shelf, once decle
effective by the SEC, will permit certain stockhedsl who purchased our Series A and Series B peefstock, to sell up to 5.4 million shares
of common stock, all of which are currently incldda our diluted share count. The acquisition shefistration statement on Form S-4, once
declared effective by the SEC, will enable us suésup to $200 million of our newly issued commtatls in one or more acquisition
transactions that we may make from time to timeesehtransactions may include the acquisition aftasbusinesses or securities, whether by
purchase, merger or any other form of business oaatibn.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As discussed in the “Risks Related to Our Businegsstion of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, ouadarly and annual operating
results have fluctuated in the past and may vathérfuture due to a variety of factors, many ofalihare external to our control. If the
conditions in the commercial and/or government less-related industry sectors deteriorate or ostorners cancel or postpone projects or if
we are unable to sufficiently increase our reverardarther reduce our expenses, we may experiéndke future, a significant long-term
negative impact to our financial results and cémivd from operations, thus limiting our availabiguidity and capital resources.

In connection with our acquisitions made in 2008,agreed to make additional payments to sellerSngent upon the acquired
entities’ achievement of stated performance miles$o Pursuant to the stock purchase agreemerasifoecent acquisitions, we may be
obligated to pay additional consideration to thérsgestockholders that is contingent upon the ssstul achievement of specific annual
earnings targets, as defined in those stock puechgieements, for each of the years ending 20@8l, 2005 and 2006. The contingent
consideration is calculated based on a certainipiilbf defined annual earnings targets as staitélde respective purchase agreements. As of
December 31, 2003, we recorded an accrual tot&Bn@ million for contingent consideration relatedtie achievement of the 2003 annual
earnings targets by two of the acquired entities.p&id this amount to the selling shareholderkéfitst quarter of 2004.
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Assuming the entities acquired in 2003 reach th@mim base performance targets, the aggregateefaturtingent payments related to
the measurement periods from 2003 through 2008jding the balance accrued as of December 31, 2003/d approximate a cumulative
total of $11.1 million. If the acquired entitiesomed the defined annual performance targets threatimated annual growth of approximat
15%, the aggregate future contingent payments dikely range from $33.2 million to $35.3 millionélusive of the amounts accrued as of
December 31, 2003 and the amounts earned frontthev@ment of the minimum base performance targéis.contingent consideration is
calculated based on a certain multiple of definealal earnings targets as stated in the respgmiirchase agreements.

The following table summarizes management’s estrofthe potential range of future contingent cdesation by year:

(in millions)

2004 2005 2006 2007 Total

Potential range of future contingent consideration $ 9.8%10.% $ 10.8%11.%* $ 11.2811.¢ $ 1.48%1.44 $ 33.2$35.*

* Hypothetical range based on estimated annual grofvi®%.

The following table summarizes our currently exigtcontractual obligations and other commitmenBetember 31, 2003, and the
effect such obligations could have on our liquidityd cash flow in future periods (in millions):

Payments due by period

1-3 3-5

Loss thar years years More than

Total 1 year 5 years

Capital lease $ 0.7 $ 0t $0.2 $— $ —
Operating lease 19.t 4.1 6.1 5.5 3.8
$20.2 $ 4.¢€ $6.2 ) B3 $ 3.8

Except as disclosed above, we currently have nemaatash commitments other than our normal réoyitrade payables, and expense
accruals which are currently expected to be furttealigh existing working capital and future casiwi from operations. Aside from these
recurring operating expenses, future capital exjpera$ and overall expansion will depend upon mfaejors, including the timing of
payments under existing contracts and technologyirements within the wireless telecommunicatiorustry. We continue to evaluate and
use new technology including electronic equipment software in our business operations. Additimagital expenditures may be require
order to stay competitive and effectively service customers.

We are focused on preserving and improving castoandverall liquidity position by continuously mitaring expenses, integrating
effective cost savings programs and managing atowts receivable collection efforts. We believat thur cash and cash equivalent bala
and shortterm investments will be sufficient to satisfy casfjuirements for at least the next twelve montseH on the current, existing le
of operations. Although we cannot accurately apéit? the effect of inflation on our operations,deenot believe that inflation has had, or is
likely in the foreseeable future to have, a matémig@act on our net revenues or results of opemnatio

Recentlylssued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretationd6o(FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interesttifies.” FIN 46 requires an
investor with a majority of the variable intereftsimary beneficiary) in a variable interest en{MIE) to consolidate the entity and also
requires majority and significant variable interestestors to provide certain disclosures. A VIRisentity in which the voting equity
investors do not have a controlling financial ietgror the equity investment at risk is insufficiemfinance the entity’s activities without
receiving additional subordinated financial supgiain the other parties. Development-stage entilias have sufficient
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equity invested to finance the activities they @rerently engaged in and entities that are busasss defined in FIN 46, are not considered
VIEs. The provisions of FIN 46 were effective imrniedly for all arrangements entered into with neliE&/created after January 31, 2003. In
October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective datelN 46 for pre-existing VIES to no later thanbFgary 2004. In December 2003, the
FASB issued a revision to FIN 46 (FIN 46-R), whinhorporated the October 2003 deferral provisiars @arified and revised the
accounting guidance for VIEs. All VIEs, regardle$svhen created, are required to be evaluated Uriderd6-R no later than the quarter
ended March 31, 2004. Management is still evalgatie effect of full adoption of FIN 46-R, but dasst currently expect full adoption to
have a material effect on our financial conditimsults of operations or cash flows. As of Decen®ier2003, we have not identified any
VIEs that would require consolidation or any sigraht exposure to VIEs that would require disclesur

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amareht of Statement 133 on Derivative Instrumentstdedging Activities.”
SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies accounting foivdgve instruments, including certain derivatimstruments embedded in other
contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS N83. In particular, SFAS No. 149 clarifies undérat circumstances a contract within an
initial net investment meets the characteristia derivative and when a derivative contains a fiirancomponent that warrants special
reporting in the statement of cash flows. SFAS NI was generally effective for contracts entenéd or modified after June 30, 2003. We
have reviewed SFAS No. 149 and have determinegki$ dot have a material impact on our operatingitseand financial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15@c¢ounting for Certain Financial Instruments withaCacteristics of Both Liabilities al
Equity.” SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how anristagsifies and measures certain financial insemisiwith characteristics of b
liabilities and equity. It requires that an issukassify a financial instrument that is within #sope as a liability (or an asset in some
circumstances). Many of those instruments wereiposly classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 was eifvecfor financial instruments entered
into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwiges effective at the beginning of the first inteeriod beginning after June 15, 2003. We
have reviewed SFAS No. 150 and have determinegki$ dot have a material impact on our operatingitseand financial position.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1329eeMV2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensant Other Postretirement
Benefits.” SFAS No. 132 revises employers’ disctesiabout pension plans and other postretiremewfibe by requiring additional
disclosures such as descriptions of the typesasf @bsets, investment strategies, measurement plate®bligations, cash flows and
components of net periodic benefit costs recognilzethg interim periods. The statement does nohgbhdhe measurement or recognition of
the plans. Interim period disclosure is generdfigative for our second quarter of 2004. This staat is effective for financial statements
with fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008 gunarters beginning after December 15, 2003. We haviewed SFAS No. 132 and have
determined it does not have a material impact groparating results and financial position.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensussue INo. 00-21 (EITF 00-21), “Revenue Agreementis Multiple Deliverables.”
The consensus addresses how to account for arramgethat may involve the delivery or performantenaltiple products, services and/or
rights to use assets. Revenue arrangements witiipfaudeliverables are required to be divided isgéparate units of accounting if the
deliverables in the arrangement meet certain @itérrangement consideration should be allocatedray the separate units of accounting
based on their relative fair values. The conseafagssupersedes certain guidance set forth in SMB Which was amended in December
2003 by SAB 104. The final consensus is applicabkgreements entered into in quarters beginnitey afine 15, 2003. We have reviewed
EITF 00-21 and have determined it does not havatanial impact on our operating results and finalhgosition.

RelatedParty Transactions
For detailed information regarding related paraingactions, see note 14 to our consolidated finhstatements.
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ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risks due th transactions and translations between functiandlreporting currencies primarily
in our Mexican, Brazilian and European foreign sdibsies. We are exposed to the impact of foreigmency fluctuations due to the
operations of and net monetary asset and lialplisitions in our Mexico, Brazil and European foregybsidiaries. Significant monetary
assets and liabilities expected to be realizetiénfdreseeable future include trade receivabladetpayables and certain intercompany
payables that are not denominated in their loaattional currencies. As of December 31, 2003, oaxiwhn, Brazilian and European
subsidiaries were in average net liability posiidine., monetary liabilities were greater than stany assets subject to foreign currency risk)
of approximately $5.5 million $7.7 million and $12million, respectively. The potential foreign cemcy translation losses from a
hypothetical 10% adverse change in the exchange fiaim the net liability positions at December 2003 were approximately $0.5 million,
$0.8 million and $1.2 million for the Mexico, Braaind European subsidiaries, respectively.

In addition, we estimate that an immediate 10% gkan foreign exchange rates would impact repanttdncome or loss by
approximately $0.2 million for the year ended Deben31, 2003. This was estimated using a 10% de#tion factor to the average monthly
exchange rates applied to net income or loss foh eathe related subsidiaries in the respectiveode

Due to the difficulty in determining and obtainipgedictable cash flow forecasts in our foreign atiens based on the overall
challenging economic environment and associatettacrstructures, we do not currently utilize amyidative financial instruments to hedge
foreign currency risks.

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 268%@9.6 million and are primarily invested in rapmarket interest bearing
accounts. Short-term investments as of Decembe2(®I3 were $24.6 million, comprised of corporatéees@nd bonds and U.S. government
and agency debt securities. A hypothetical 10% isd@vehange in the average interest rate on our ynoaeket cash investments and short-
term investments would have had a $0.1 millionaféa net income for the year ended December 313.20e currently do not utilize any
derivative financial instruments to hedge interagt risks.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
The information required by this Item is includedHAart IV Item 15(a)(1) and (2) of this Annual Regmn Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Interim Chief Financial
Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of ourldsare controls and procedures, as such term isetkein Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendesedan this evaluation, our Chief Executive Offiaad Interim Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiuere effective as of the end of the period @by this annual report.
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PART 1lI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registran

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to the information under the cagtitclection of Directors”,
“Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Aantd “Code of Ethics” of the Registrant’s Proxyt&taent, which we will file with the
SEC within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2003.
ltem 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this item is incorpeaby reference to the information under the captiexecutive Compensation” of the
Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we will filetkvthe SEC within 120 days after the end of fi03.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information under the cagtiecurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and “SecuritiathArized for Issuance Under Equity Compensatiam#$?| of the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement, which we will file with the SEC withi2@ days after the end of fiscal 2003.
ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transaction

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to the information under the capt@ertain Relationships and
Related Transactions” of the Registrant’s Proxyesteent, which we will file with the SEC within 12fys after the end of fiscal 2003.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this item is incorpeaby reference to the information under the captieees Paid to KPMG LLP” of the

Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we will filetkvthe SEC within 120 days after the end of fi03.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reporisn Form &K
(@) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Scheths

Page

(1) Independent Auditc' Report F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0D200: F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2001, 2002 and Z F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 20@2200: F-4
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-8

(2) Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accadsl S-1

All other schedules for which provision is madeha applicable accounting regulations of the S¢éiesrand Exchange Commission are not
required under the related instructions or areptiagble and therefore have been omitted.

(3) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
2.1 Agreement of Plan of Reorganization by and amongeM&s Facilities, Inc., WFI Government Services,,|Horseshoe

Merger Sub, Inc., High Technology Solutions, Inad éhe major holders of High Technology Solutidns,, dated as of
December 22, 2003. (;

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat8)r
3.2 Bylaws in effect since November 5, 1999.
3 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and RighBeries A Preferred Stock.(
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and
4.2 Specimen Stock Certificate. (
10.1 1997 Stock Option Plan.(;
10.z Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 18@®¢k Option Plan and related terms and conditftih
10.z 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.(.
10.4 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 188@ity Incentive Plan.(1
10.t 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and relatedrajfdocuments.(1
10.€ R&D Building Lease by and between the Company amde®to Tech Associates dated as of November 195,185
amended.(1
10.¢ Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmetemyeand among the Company and certain stocki®lofethe
Company dated as of September 17, 199!
10.¢ Employment Offer Letter by and between the Compamy Scott Fox dated as of April 9, 1999,
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10.1C
10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.17

10.21

10.2Z

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3Z

10.3¢
10.3¢
10.3¢

10.3¢
10.37
10.3¢
10.3¢

Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between the Comgand certain officers and directors of the Camyp@)

Form of Warrant Agreement by and between the Compad each of Scott Anderson and Scot Jarvis deted February 28,
1997.(2)

Form of Subscription and Representation Agreemegatrial between the Company and each of Scott Andensd Scot Jarvis
dated as of February 28, 1997.

Form of Warrant Agreement by and between the Compand each of Scott Anderson and Scot Jarvis deted February 1,
1998.(1)

Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment Agreement by detween the Company and each of Massih TayebVasdod K.
Tayebi dated as of June 30, 1999

Services Agreement by and between WFI de MexiaeSR.L. de C.V. and Ericsson Telecom, S.A. de @afed as of August
4,1999.(1) +

Amended and Restated Master Services Agreememdpetween the Company and TeleCorp Holding Comaations, Inc.,
dated as of October 12, 1999.(1

Agreement by and between the Company and Siemetisnglksellschaft, Berlin and Mu’nchen, Federal Rxéipwof Germany,
represented by the Business Unit Mobile Networkedias of March 9, 1998.(1)

Master Services Agreement by and between the Coyrguzoh Triton PCS, Operating Company, L.L.C. datedfalanuary 19,
1998, as amended.(1)

Microwave Relocation Services Agreement by and betwEntel Technologies, Inc. and Triton PCS Opsggafiompany,
L.L.C. dated as of February 11, 1998.(1

Site Development Services Agreement by and bet#eeel Technologies, Inc. and Triton PCS, Inc. datedf December 10,
1997.(1) +

Sales Agreement for Products and Services by atweeka the Company and Integrated Ventures, LLCddaseof April 19,
1999.(1) +

Settlement Agreement and Mutual General Releassmbybetween the Company and Total Outsourcingdébed as of June
30, 1999.(1

Sublease Agreement by and between the Companyran#llihR Templeton Corporate Services, Inc. datedfaspril 14, 2000.
)

2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant Noticaduseconnection with the 2000 Nonstatutory Stocki@pPlan.(2

Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated as ob@cld, 2001 among the Company, Oak Investmenh&ark, Limited
Partnership, and Oak X Affiliates Fund, Limited tarship, including Press release of Wireless Fas) Inc. dated October
11, 2001.(3

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit éxgent effective July 19, 2001.(

Employment Offer Letter by and between the Compamy Brad Weller effective August 16, 1999.

Executive Change of Control Agreement dated asa&f WL, 2001 between the Company and Brad Welle

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Cred@eftggnt and Limited Waiver dated as of Decembe2@02.(5)
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10.4C Technical Services Subcontract Agreement by anddet the Company and Bechtel Corporation dated Bslwuary 8, 2002.
(6) %
10.41 Agreement by and between the Company and Terry $iiwdll dated as of April 1, 2002. (!
10.4z Employment Offer Letter by and between the Compamy Gregory M. Jacobsen effective August 4, 200:€
10.4: Executive Employment Agreement by and between thagany and Eric DeMarco effective November 14, 20(
21.1 List of subsidiaries.’
23.1 Independent Audito’ Report on Schedule and Consel
24.1 Power of Attorney. Reference is made to the sigegtage to this Report on Form-K.
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, Masood Kayebi, Ph.D., pursuant to Section 302 of the &aeb Oxley Act of 2002.
*
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, Dan StdikeC.P.A., pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbadsy Act of 2002. *
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002 for

Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002 for Dan

(1)
()

(3)
(4)

5)
(6)
(7)
®

(b)

Stokely, CPA.*

Filed as an exhibit to the Comp¢s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (No. 33:-85515), and incorporated herein by refere:

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septed@®e2000, filed on November 14,
2000 and incorporated herein by referel

Filed as an exhibit to the Compés Report on Form-K filed on October 11, 2001 and incorporated hebgimeference

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun2@@1, filed on August 10, 2001 and
incorporated herein by referen:

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual &epn Form 10-K for the year ended December 3002€led on March 29, 2001 and
incorporated herein by referen:

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun2@02, filed on August 13, 2002 and
incorporated herein by referen:

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@me2002, filed on November 13,
2002 and incorporated herein by referel

Filed as an exhibit to the Compés report on Form-K, filed on January 16, 2004 and incorporated Imelbgireference

Filed herewith

Certain confidential matters deleted pursuar@tder Granting Application for Confidential Treatmgissued in connection with the
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (No. 33:-85515) dated November 10, 19!

Certain confidential matters deleted pursua@mner Granting Application for Confidential Treatmigursuant to rule 14b-2 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated August 1822

Certain confidential matters deleted pursuant e®©Granting Application for Confidential Treatmgnirsuant to rule 14b-2 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated NovembefQG2.

Reports on Form &K
The following report on Form 8-K was filed afterggember 26, 2003:

On October 30, 2003, we filed a report on Form &HKurnish to the SEC our press release regardimditwancial results for our fiscal

quarter ended September 26, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

Date: March 8, 200 W IRELESSF ACILITIES , | NC.

By: /sl MasoopK. T Avesl, PH.D.

Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe date indicated:

Signature Title Date

Is/ MasoobpK. T Avesil, PH.D. Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 8, 2004
(Principal Executive Officer)

Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.

/sl ERIC D EMARCO President, Chief Operating Officer March 8, 2004

Eric Demarco

/s/ DAN STOKELY , CPA Interim Chief Financial Officer, March 8, 2004
Vice President and Corporate Controller (Chief
Dan Stokely, CPA Accounting Officer)
/s/ ScoTT A NDERSON Director March 8, 2004

Scott Anderson

/s/ BANDEL C ARANO Director March 8, 2004

Bandel Carano

/s ScoTJARvVIS Director March 8, 2004
Scot Jarvis
/s/  WiLLIAM H OGLUND Director March 8, 2004

William Hoglund

/sl WiLLiIAM O WENS Director March 8, 2004

William Owens
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
Wireless Facilities, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subs&igthe Company) as of
December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the related statermofoperations, stockholders’ equity, and c&shd for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2003. These coasatdidinancial statements are the responsibilitthefCompan's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesgsotidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with audiiagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAmerica. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries as ofémber 31, 2002 and 2003, and the results of tpeirations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the thregear period ended December 31, 2003 in conformitly accounting principles generally accepted inlinéted States ¢
America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company adopted the provisio®$-éfS No. 142Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assetsand, accordingly, changed its method of accogrftin goodwill in 2002.

KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
February 13, 2004, except as to the third paragoplote 5, the fifth paragraph of Note 10 (a), #melthird and fourth paragraphs of Note
17, which are as of March 5, 2004.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2002 and 2003
(in millions, except par value and number of sharés

Assets

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable, ni

Accounts receivable—related party

Contract management receivables, net

Income taxes receivable

Prepaid expense

Employee loans and advances

Other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Other intangibles, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Employee loans and advances, net of current pa
Other assets

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expense

Accounts payable—related party

Contract management payables

Billings in excess of costs on completed contracts

Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat

Accrual for unused office space

Income taxes payable

Capital lease obligatior

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current port
Accrual for unused office space, net of currentipar
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Minority interest in subsidiar
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized:
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $.001 panea3,637 and 0 shares issued and outstandingcaniber 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively
(liquidation preference $35.0)
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $.001 parese®0,000 shares outstanding at December 31, 28092003 (liquidation preference $45.0)
Common stock, $.001 par value, 195,000,000 shatt®azed; 48,842,220 and 62,550,245 shares isasnéautstanding at December 31, 2002 and
2003, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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2002

$ 99.1

266.¢

(81.0
3.0

182.¢

$234.2

2003

$ 89.€

95.¢

$300.¢

$ 12.€
27.¢

55.1

0.1

303.c

(57.5)
(4.0)

242.(

$300.¢
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Revenue!
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Provision (credit) for doubtful accour
Depreciation and amortizatic
Asset impairment and other charges,

Operating income (los!
Other income (expense
Interest income (expense), |
Foreign currency gai
Other, ne

Total other income (expens

WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Income (loss) before minority interest in incomesabsidiary and income tax

Minority interest in income of subsidia
Provision (benefit) for income tax

Net income (loss

Net income (loss) per common she
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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2001 2002 2003
$207.2  $187.  $262.:
141 1387  190.¢
66.2 48.: 712
80.: 52.: 45.€
21.2 7.9 (3.9
21.€ 7.8 6.7
14.F 35.C 0.1
(715  (54.9) 222
(3.1) (0.8) 0.9
0.2 2. 0.2
(0.6) (0.2) 0.2
(3.5) 1.0 1.3
(75.0  (53.9) 23.F
0.1 0.1 —
(15.0) 10.1 —
$(60.) $(63.5 $ 23
$(1.3) $(1.39 $ 0.44
$(1.3) $(1.39 $0.32
45.¢ 48.1 53.4
45.¢ 48.1 73.2
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

(in millions)
Series A Series B
convertible convertible
Preferred stock Preferred stock Common stock

Shares Amount Shares Amount Share: Amount
Balance, December 31, 20 -  $ — -  $ — 43.: $ —
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred si 0.1 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog — — — — 0.7 —
Issuance of common stock under employee stock peecplar — — — — 0.2 —
Issuance of common stock in connection with actjaiss — — — — 2.C —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of warr — — — — 0.6 —
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation ge — — — — — —
Net realized investment lo — — — — — —
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — —
Balance, December 31, 20 0.1 — — — 47.2 —
Issuance of Series B convertible preferred s — — 0.1 — — —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog — — — — 1.1 —
Issuance of common stock under employee stock peecplar — — — — 0.t —
Net loss — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation ge — — — — — —
Net realized investment lo — — — — — —
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — —
Balance, December 31, 20 0.1 — 0.1 — 48.¢ —
Conversion of Series A convertible preferred st (0.7 — — — 7.C —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog — — — — 6.4 0.1

Issuance of common stock under employee stock paechlar — — — — 0.4
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — — — — —
Net income — — — — — —
Unrealized gain(loss) on investme — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation ge — — — — — —
Total comprehensive ot — — — — — —
Balance, December 31, 20 -  $ — 0.1 $ — 62.€ $ 0.1
(Continued

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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(in millions)
Retained Treasury stock Compre-
Additional Earnings Accumulated
(Accumulated Other hensive
Paid-in Comprehensive Income
Capital Deficit) Amount Loss (Loss) Total
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 156.¢ $ 43.C — $ 1.3 $198.¢
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred
stock 34.¢ — — — — 34.¢
Issuance of common stock for exercise c
stock option: 2.7 — — — — 2.7
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 1.7 — — — — 1.7
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions 16.C — — — — 16.C
Issuance of common stock for exercise of
warrants 14 — — — — 14
Tax benefit from exercise of stock option i1E — — — — i3
Net loss — 60.1) — — $ (60.]) (60.1)
Foreign currency translation ge — — — 0.1 0.1 0.1
Net realized investment loss — — 1.C 1.C 1.C
Total comprehensive loss — — — — $  (59.0 —
Balance, December 31, 2001 215.] (17.3) — (0.2) 197.¢
Issuance of Series B convertible preferred
stock 44.¢ — — — — 44.¢
Issuance of common stock for exercise ¢
stock option: 4.1 — — — — 4.1
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan 2.6 — — — — 2.8
Net loss — (63.9) — — $ (63.9 (63.9)
Foreign currency translation gain — — — 2.9 (2.9) (2.9)
Net realized investment loss — — — — — —
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — $ (66.7) —
I —
Balance, December 31, 20 266.¢ (81.0) — 3.0 182.¢
Conversion of Series A convertible
preferred stock — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock for exercise c
stock options 27.1 — — — — 27.¢
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase ple 1kt — — — — 1.5
Tax benefit from exercise of stock option 7.3 — — — 7.3
Net income — 23.t — — $ 23t 23.t
Unrealized gain (loss) on investme — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation gain — — — .0 (1.0) (1.0)
Total comprehensive income — — — — $ 22t —
—— —— I —
Balance, December 31, 2003 $  303. $ (57.5) $ — $ 4.0 $242.(
I I I I I
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(in millions)

Operating activities
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to r@esthcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic
Provision (credit) for doubtful accour
Asset impairment chargs
Provision for (benefit from) deferred income ta
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options, nealtdwance
Realized loss on investme
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaissti
Accounts receivabl
Accounts receivabl- related party
Contract management receivak
Income taxes receivah
Prepaid expenst
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat
Accounts payabl- related part)
Contract management payab
Billings in excess of costs on completed contr
Accrual for unused office spa
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities
Purchase of shc-term investment
Sale/maturity of sho-term investment
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Capital expenditure

Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, netsofaince cos
Proceeds from issuance of common sl
Net borrowings (repayment) under line of cre
Repayment of capital lease obligatic
Repayment of notes payal
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate on ce

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#sients

2001 2002 2003
$(60.1) $(63.9 $23¢
22.F 94 8.8
21.F 9.€ 3.3
12.¢ 21.1 2.2
(18.¢) 10.C —
1t — —
1.C — —
0.2 0.7 0.1
7.8 18.5 (23.0
0.9 0.3 0.3
14.¢ 3.3 14
15 0.1 1.8
(0.6) 2.8 (0.2)
(7.5) 9.1 0.3
13.2 (2.9 2.8
3.7 1.7 5.7
— — 3.8
(7.0 (1.5 (0.5
(5.0 14 (4.6)
0.7 4.8 (1.6
— 8.1 (5.9
3.C 0.7 (3.0
5.2 33.C 8.2
— — (34.9)
— — 9.7
— — (10.9)
(5.0 3.7 (7.4
(5.0 3.7 (42.9
34.¢ 44.¢ —
5.8 4.9 29.t
8.1 (33.0 —
4.8 (5.6 (2.5
1.7 (0.6) 0.7
42.: 10.€ 26.2
0.1 1.9 1.3
42.€ 38.C (9.5
18.t 61.1 99.1
$61.1 $99.1 $89.¢
(Continued
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(in millions)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati

Cash paid during the year for inter
Net cash (paid) refunded during the year for incéaxes

Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing and financing transactic

Fair value of assets acquired in acquisiti
Cash paid for acquisitior

Liabilities assumed in acquisitiol

Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic

Common stock issued pursuant to Employee Stocko®tian
Common stock issued for e-out provision in acquisitio
Property and equipment acquired under capital &

Reduction of accounts receivable in exchange feeeceivabls
Note receivable issued for sale of equiprm

Reduction of note receivable in exchange for egeipmeturnec
Decrease in fair value of investment securitieslabke for sale

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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2001 2002 2003
$ 3¢ $14 $ 04
$(10.5 $0.8 $ OF
$ — $— $201

— — (119
$ — $— $ 84
$ 15— §$ 72
$ 21 $28 $ 1E
$16C  — —
$ 2.8 — —
$ 14 — —
$ 1.C — —

—  $0.€ —
$ (01 — —
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Note 1.

WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

Organization and Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies
(a) Description of Business

Wireless Facilities, Inc. (“WFI”) was initially irarporated in the state of New York on Decemberl®94, commenced
operations in March 1995 and was reincorporatddlaware in 1998. WFI is an independent, globaljoler of outsourced
communications and security systems engineeringraadration services for the wireless communicaimdustry, the U.S.
government, and enterprise customers. Such seivickesgle, but are not limited to, the design, dgpient, integration, and the
overall management of communications, informateehhology, and security networks. WFI's work foe thireless
communications industry primarily involves radieduency engineering, site development, project gemant and the
installation of radio equipment networks. WFI afsovides network management services, which invdbaeto-day
optimization and maintenance of wireless netwovEl’'s work for the federal government primarily olves systems
engineering, systems integration, and the outsograf technical services such as operational teexaluation and program
management. WFI also provides services in the areadssion assurance, product and process valiuatid verification, and
software and applications development. WFI's wankenterprise customers primarily involves the giesdeployment, and
integration of security and other in-building syateincluding access control and intrusion deteciod is focused on
opportunities to integrate wireless technology iemberprise networks, especially physical and sdeat security systems, and
voice and data networks. WFI's customers are pilynarature providers of wireless telecommunicatsamvices, wireless
equipment vendors and a large range of customems ¥aried commercial and industry sectors thatirecgecurity integration
services. WFI's engagements range from small and #hduration, to large multi-year contracts penied on a domestic and
international level. WFI's services are performéter on a time and materials basis, on a fixedepriime certain basis or on a
contract management reimbursable basis.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of WFI and its wholly-owned and majoritysed subsidiaries. WFI
and its subsidiaries are collectively referredeoein as the “Company.” Prior to January 2003,Gbepany accounted for its
investment in Diverse Networks, Inc. under the gauiethod of accounting. However, the Company sginsetly changed to tt
cost method of accounting commencing January 2@@ause significant influence was deemed to no loexgjst, as further
described in note 4.

In 2003, the Company acquired three privately-leelshpanies as part of our Enterprise Solutions sagthat provides system
design, deployment, integration and monitoring suppervices for enterprise networks. See note additional details
regarding these acquisitions.

All intercompany transactions have been eliminatecbnsolidation. Investments in unconsolidatediafés are accounted for
using the cost method and represent companiesithwiine Company owns less than 20% and for whielGbmpany has no
significant influence. Accounts denominated in ndi$. currencies have been re-measured using thedll&r as the functional
currency.

(c) Fiscal Calendar

We operate and report using a 52-53 week fiscal geding the last Friday in December. As a resufifty-third week is added
every five or six years. Our 52 week fiscal yeamssist of four equal
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

quarters of 13 weeks each, and our 53 week figaisyconsist of three 13 week quarters and oneckdk quarter. The financial
results for our 53 week fiscal years and our 14kafeseal quarters will not be exactly comparableto 52 week fiscal years and
our 13 week fiscal quarters. The fiscal periodsented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are camaiple. For presentation
purposes, all fiscal periods presented or discussdds report have been presented as endingelasi day of the nearest
calendar month. For example, our 2003 fiscal yeded on December 26, 2003, but we present our B8€4d year as ending on
December 31, 2003.

(d) Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmensith an original maturity of three months or legsen purchased as cash
equivalents.

The Company has evaluated its investments in aaocedwith the provisions of Statement of Finan&izdounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investmeim®ebt and Equity Securities.” Based on suchwatbn, the Company’s
management has determined that all of its investiseturities are properly classified as availables@le. Based on the
Company’s intent and board-approved investmentpalnd its ability to liquidate debt securities oratg after one year, the
Company classifies such short-term investment gésiwithin current assets. Available-for-salelgées are carried at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses reportedseparate component of Stockholders’ Equity withe caption
“Accumulated Other Comprehensive LosElie amortized cost basis of debt securities isogarally adjusted for amortization
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturit)chSamortization is included as a component of @geincome (expense). The
amortized cost basis of securities sold is basetthi@specific identification method and all sucalimed gains and losses are
recorded as a component within other income (ex@enet. Interest and dividends on securities ifladsas available-for-sale
are included in interest income. The amortized aaostfair value basis of short-term investmenBetember 31, 2003 was as
follows (in millions):

December 31, 2003

Amortized Cost Fair Value
Basis Basis
Cash and cash equivalen
Cash $ 75.1 $ 75.1
U.S. government and agency securi 14.F 14.5
Cash and cash equivalel 89.¢ 89.¢€
Shor-term investments
Corporate notes and bon 10.7 10.7
U.S. government and agency securi 13.¢ 13.¢
Shor-term investment 24.¢ 24.¢
Cash and cash equivalents and «term investment $ 1142 $ 1142
Debt securities recorded at fair value, matur
Within one yea $ 17.C
After one year through five yea 21.2
Debt securities recorded at fair va $ 39.1
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

The Company had no short-term investments durifi@ 20 at December 31, 2002. Net unrealized galoss on short-term
investments which is included as a component afksétolders’ equity, was immaterial at December IMR Realized gains or
losses recorded during the year ended Decemb@0838, were not material. Debt securities includgooate and government
notes and bonds.

(e) Investment Securities

Investment securities consisted of an investmeatpablic company during fiscal 2000, which wassified as available for se
and carried at fair value with unrealized gaintosses reported in a separate component of acctedwéher comprehensive
income. The investment was liquidated in fiscal2@8 the investee company declared bankruptcy.réowgly, the unrealized
loss of $1.0 million recorded at December 31, 268@8 realized and reclassified to earnings in 200&re were no investment
securities outstanding as of December 31, 2002fAecember 31, 2003, the Company had $24.6 mitioshort-term
investments as fully described above in “Cash Eajaivts”.

(f) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists primarily of coraputeld testing and office-related equipment &kcorded at cost.
Equipment acquired under capital leases is recaatiéite present value of the future minimum leasgn®ents. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method overedsiimated useful life of each asset, which is ontrtee years for computer
equipment and five years for furniture and offiqei@ment. Equipment acquired under capital lessasnortized over the shor
of the lease term or the estimated useful lifehefasset. Improvements, which significantly imprawe extend the useful life of
an asset, are capitalized. Expenditures for maamtes and repairs are charged to operations agéacur

(9) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of net assets purchased &copired companies. Prior to
the adoption of Statement of Financial Accountitgn8ard (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other IntdtgiAssets,” goodwill
was amortized on a straight-line basis over itsreged period of benefit from five to twenty yedrsdetermining the useful life
of goodwill the Company considered several facteckiding industry technology, competition, demamdl other economic
factors. Additionally, prior to the adoption of SEANo0. 142, the Company assessed the recoveralfiliiggodwill by determining
whether the amortization of the goodwill balancerats remaining life could be recovered througturfe operating cash flows
the acquired operation.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, other infalggassets consisted primarily of acquired custarlationships and
contracts, assembled workforce, purchased techyolcgle names, non-compete covenant agreemenisadents. Other
intangibles were recorded at cost and were amdrtising the straight-line method over their expéctseful lives ranging from
two to five years. The Company reviewed the cagyialue and remaining useful life of intangibleetssor impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicated thatdhging amount may not be recoverable. The amobimpairment, if any,
was measured based on the projected discounte@ foperating cash flows using a discount rate cgéflg the Company’s
average cost of funds. The assessment of the netility of intangible assets would have been intpddf estimated future
operating cash flows were not achieved.
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The Company adopted SFAS No. 142, on January 2.ZJAS No. 142 superceded Accounting Principlear8@®pinion No.
17, “Intangible Assets”, and discontinued the amation of goodwill and intangible assets with ifidite useful lives associated
with purchase business combinations. In additiBiASNo. 142 includes provisions regarding the i&gifacation between
goodwill and identifiable intangible assets in acamce with the new definition of intangible assssforth in SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations”, the reassessment of teRiLikves of existing finite-life intangible assetand the annual testing for
impairment of existing goodwill and other intanglzassets with indefinite lives. In accordance whthadoption of SFAS No.
142 on January 1, 2002, the Company ceased theiaation of goodwill and intangible assets with éfidite lives, and
completed the required transitional impairment, testich resulted in no indication of impairment.eT@ompany also re-
evaluated the classifications of its existing igfilale assets and goodwill in accordance with SFASIM1. As a result, the
Company reclassified $2.1 million of indefinitediintangible assets (i.e., assembled workforcephainortization, from
intangible assets to goodwill, because such assdtinger met the definition of an identifiabledngible asset under the
provisions of SFAS No. 141. In accordance with SF¥S 142, the Company will conduct, at a minimum aanual impairment
test of goodwill in the fourth quarter of each &bgear, or earlier if triggering events or circuarses warrant an accelerated
review for potential impairment.

During 2003, the Company acquired three privatailtompanies. The acquisitions were accountedrfder the purchase
method of accounting in accordance with SFAS Nd. The excess purchase price paid over the fairevad tangible and
identifiable intangible net assets acquired waenaded as goodwill and other identifiable finiteelintangible assets. Negative
goodwill for one acquisition resulted because tha sf the fair values of the assets acquired labdities assumed exceeded
initial acquisition cost. Due to the existence eftain performance-based contingent considerationigions in the purchase
agreement, and pursuant to the provisions of SFASIN1, the Company recognized, as if it werelalltg, an amount equal to
the lesser of (a) the maximum amount of contingensideration issuable, or (b) the total amoumtezfative goodwill. See note
2 summarizing the amounts recorded to goodwillidedtifiable finite-life intangible assets and néteegarding further details
of each acquisition.

(h) Revenue Recognition

The Company provides services for three primargsyqf contracts: (1) fixed-price long-term turnkntracts; (2) time and
materials contracts; and (3) contract managemeahbahof pocket reimbursables.

Fixed-price long-term turnkey contract§he Company realizes a significant portion ofégenue from long-term contracts and
accounts for these contracts under the provisibStadement of Position (SOP) 81-1, “Accounting Rarformance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Caetf.” Revenue on fixed-price contracts is recogphizsing the percentage-
of-completion method of accounting based on the wdtiotal costs incurred to date compared to es@ohédtal costs to comple
the contract. Estimates of costs to complete ireinaterials, direct labor, overhead, and allowgbleeral and administrative
expenses. While the Company generally does not meouoaterial amount of set-up fees for its projestsh costs, if any, are
excluded from the estimated total costs to completecontract. Cost estimates are reviewed moiothlgn individual contract
basis, and are revised periodically throughoulifbeof the contract such that adjustments to prasulting from revisions are
made cumulative to the date of the revision. Thieaimount of an
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estimated loss associated with a contract is adand charged to operations in the period it ismeined that it is probable a
loss will be realized from the performance of thatcact. Significant management judgments and estisy including the
estimated costs to complete projects, which detertiie project’'s percent complete, must be madeised in connection with
the revenue recognized in any accounting periodeNt differences may result in the amount andrtgrof the Company’s
revenue for any period if management made diffgreigments or utilized different estimates. In &iddi, many of the
Company’s contracts include milestone billings.

Accordingly, the revenue the Company recognizesgiven financial reporting period depends on [i&)dosts the Company has
incurred for individual projects, (2) the Companthien current estimate of the total remaining ctistsiomplete the individual
projects and (3) the Company'’s then current esérofthe contract value associated with the prejdttin any period, the
Company significantly increases its estimate ofttiial costs to complete a project, and/or redtivesssociated contract value,
the Company may realize an adverse impact onveneees and associated gross margin.

The Company’s long-term fixed-price contracts thete cancellation, modification or milestone biliclauses are accounted for
under the percentage-of-completion method of adboegiin accordance with SOP 81-1. The majorityhef Companys contract:
are master service agreements under which the Gonipaontracted to provide services to deployeagetermined and specific
number of sites in specific geographic markets séhentractual arrangements with the Company’omests typically include
milestone billings. The milestone billing clausetate specifically to the timing of customer bigg;and payment schedules, and
are independent of the Company'’s right to paymedtthe timing of when revenue is recognized. lbatract is terminated
without proper cause by the customer, if the custotneates unplanned / unreasonable time delayfsther customer modifies
the contract tasks / scope, the Company has camaifaigghts to reimbursement in accordance withtémms and conditions
regarding payment for work performed, but not yiled (i.e., unbilled trade accounts receivabled afross profit margin that is
consistent with the overall project margin. Furthere, certain additional provisions indemnify then@pany for additional or
excess costs incurred, whereby any scope redudiiensreduction in original number of sites) dner modifications are subject
to reimbursement of costs incurred to date witeasonable profit margin based on the contract veahgecompleted work at that
time. The inherent aforementioned risks associaitiithe presence of potential “partial milestornlérgs” or “reductions in
scope” are reflected in the Company’s ongoing mitiassessment of the “total contract value” amrdabsociated revenue
recognized and, hence, any allowance for unbilledet accounts receivable. Total net unbilled actsoreteivable at December
31, 2002 and 2003 were $27.0 million and $46.0iomlrespectively.

During the reporting periods contained herein,Gloepany experienced revenue and margin adjustrfientsswings) of certain
projects based on the aforementioned factors Heueffect of such adjustments, both positive arghtiee, when evaluated in
total were not significant to the consolidated fio@l statements.

Time and materials contract®Revenue from time and materials contracts isgeized when it is realized or realizable and
earned, in accordance with Staff Accounting Bullé8AB) 101, as revised by SAB 104 (recognized wéamices are rendered
at contracted labor rates, when materials are el@d/and when other direct costs are incurred)itidaally, based on
management’s periodic assessment of the collattibil its accounts receivable, credit worthinesd &inancial condition of
customers, the Company determines if collectiaeasonably assured prior to the recognition of maee
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Contract management reimbursableSross revenue is recognized according to theigioms of Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Pralorprsus Net as an Agent.” Effective October J2@he Company reports
revenues gross instead of net as reported in preyiears because the Company is providing additiomaeased level of
services under certain contracts. As a result ahgbs in the industry, including downsizing by wieeless carriers and
equipment providers, there is an increasing trgnthe Company’s customers to consolidate and outedunctions such as
supplier procurement and material purchases. Funitre, the wireless carriers and equipment vena@ sncreasingly requiring
a consolidated “turnkey solution” to their proj@&teds which include vendor selection and matepiaisurement. In response to
these changing customer requirements, the Comgampviding additional and enhanced level of s&wim its customers.

Based on these industry trends, the Company’s &qmar with its customers, and in accordance wighpttovisions of EITF 99-
19 which addresses the applicability and relevastsregarding the disclosure of related operatrgnue on a gross basis
(assumes that the Company is acting as the prij@pan a net basis (which assumes that the Cognjsascting as an agent),
Company’s management used the following criteridar¢h in EITF 99-19 and analysis to reach itsaosion:

. The Company takes title to the produ
. The Company has risks and rewards of ownershifh as¢he risk of loss for collection, delivery eturns.

. The Company is rewarded/earns a reasonable footite aforementioned services and related assomef overall
transaction/business ris

. The Company serves as a primary obligor in thengement

. The Company assumes unmitigated inventory

. The Company has a reasonable degree of contr@lgatiating the price structure with the venc
. The Company has discretion in supplier selec

. The Company determines the nature, type, charstite or specifications of the product(s) or see(s) ordered by the
customer

. The Company assumes credit risk for the amoulethio the customer subsequent to the delivethefproduct(s) or
service(s)

Out of pocket and reimbursable feeééhe Company accounts for certain out of pockdtr@mbursable fees according to the
provisions of EITF 01-14, “Income Statement Chagdzation of Reimbursements Received for “Out-otiat” Expenses
Incurred,” and EITF 99-19. The Company incurs ieaithl “out of pocket” expenses including airfaréleage, hotel
accommodations, out-of-town meals and telecommtipitsicharges while providing services in its omgodperations. Certain
provisions in the Company’s contracts stipulate sueh charges will be reimbursed by its custorfarthe actual amounts
incurred or for a single flat fee. The Company rdsahe billings for such reimbursable chargesasmues.

(i) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaots for estimated losses resulting from the iitglmf its customers to
make required payments, which results in bad degierese. Management
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periodically determines the adequacy of this alloggaby evaluating the comprehensive risk profifesliandividual customer
receivable balances including, but not limitedthe customer’s financial condition and overall emtreconomic conditions.
Additionally, on certain contracts whereby the Camp performs services for a prime/general contraetspecified percentage
of the invoiced trade accounts receivable may tamed by the customer until the project is comgadefThe Company
periodically reviews all retainages for collectityiland records allowances for doubtful accountemvieemed appropriate, based
on its assessment of the associated risks. Tdtaheges included in accounts receivable were $§i0barl million at December
31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

() Income Taxes

The Company records deferred tax assets and tiabifor the future tax consequences attributabMdifferences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective tax basesoperating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets andlitads are measured using enacted tax rates expextpply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differenaesexpected to be realized. The effect on defdae@dssets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income irptréod that includes the enactment date.

The Company maintains a valuation allowance foedetl tax assets for which it is more likely than that the Company will
not realize the benefits of these tax assets urdubx periods. The valuation allowance is basedstimates of future taxable
income by tax jurisdiction in which the Company gies, the number of years over which the defaae@dssets will be
recoverable, and scheduled reversals of deferrelibtzlities.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssspanagement considers, on a periodic basis hehittis more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assdtiot be realized. Based upon a revision tophgjections for future taxable
income during the quarter ended March 31, 2002 agement increased the valuation allowance on aafdax assets, resulting
in the recognition of a provision for income taxperse totaling $10.1 million during the period. Tiherease in valuation
allowance applied to all U.S. (federal and state) foreign taxable loss carryforwards generatdisaal 2002, as well as an
additional percentage of prior year loss carryfasaand cumulative temporary differences. Durisgdl 2003, the Company
realized consecutive quarters of consolidated tadofity. This favorable trend, combined with foasted future growth in
consolidated operating profits, resulted in a 2088rease to the allowance for deferred tax as§&tk108 million resulting in a
net zero income tax provision for the year endeddneber 31, 2003. Given the Company'’s historical dative loss position,
however, and pursuant to the provisions of StatémeRinancial Accounting Standards 109 (SFAS Ni®)1“Accounting for
Income Taxes,” limited consideration is given ttufie taxable income in evaluating the recoverabditits deferred tax assets
and the corresponding valuation allowance placethese assets. Accordingly, management believesutinent valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets is sufficient@ogerly stated at December 31, 2003.

(k) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based niktdi@ccounting as prescribed by Accounting PrilesiBoard (APB)
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees”, and related interpretations including Rizial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 44,
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“Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Std€ompensation an interpretation of APB Opinion R§" to account for its
stock option plans. Under this method, compensatigense is measured on the date of grant orthgiftten current market
price of the underlying stock exceeded the exeqmige and is recorded on a straijhe basis over the applicable vesting pel
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compebnsgét, established accounting and disclosure requiremesing a fair
value-based method of accounting for stbelsed employee compensation plans. As allowed B 3¥o. 123, the Company h
elected to continue to apply the intrinsic valusdthmethod of accounting described above, anddugsted the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFASL4& “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—sion and
Disclosure”.

Under SFAS No. 123, the weighted average fair vafustock options granted during 2001, 2002 and3208s $4.59, $4.27 and
$9.95 respectively, on the date of grant. The weidjlaverage estimated fair values of shares grameer the Purchase Plan
during 2001, 2002, and 2003 was $5.91, $4.90, &r@flfrespectively. Fair value under SFAS No. 12&igrmined using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the followgi assumptions:

2001 2002 2003
Expected term
Stock options 3 year 3 year 3 year
Purchase pla 6 month: 6 month: 6 month:
Interest rate 4.55% 3.82% 2.91%
Volatility 15(% 125% 10C%

Dividends — — —

Had compensation expense been recognized for stsid compensation plans in accordance with SFAS28) the Company
would have recorded the following net income (Iaa®) net income (loss) per share amounts (in mili@xcept per share

amounts):
2001 2002 2003
Net income (loss- as reporte: $(60.7) $(63.9) $23.5
Actual stock-based compensation expense deterroimgelr the intrinsic
value-based metho — — 0.7
Total stock-based employee compensation expensenaed under fair
value based method for all awal (24.9 (33.9) (21.¢)
Pro forma net income (los $(75.0) $(97.7) $ 24
Earnings (loss) per common share
Basic- as reportel $(1.31) $(1.39) $0.44
Basic- pro forma $(1.6%) $(2.03) $ 0.04
Diluted - as reportet $(1.31) $(1.39) $0.32
Diluted - pro forma $(1.63) $(2.03) $ 0.0
Weighted average shares
Basic— as reported and pro forn 45.¢ 48.1 53.4
Diluted — as reported and pro forn 45.¢ 48.1 73.2
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(I) Net Income per Common Share

The Company calculates net income (loss) per shaecordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Shainder SFAS No.
128, basic net income (loss) per common shardgésileéed by dividing net income (loss) by the weaghaverage number of
common shares outstanding during the reportingpgeBiluted net income (loss) per common sharectdlthe effects of
potentially dilutive securities. Weighted averapares used to compute basic and diluted net in¢twsg) per share are
presented below (in millions):

2001 2002 2003
Weighted average shares, be 45.¢ 48.1 53.4
Dilutive effect of stock option — — 4.9
Dilutive effect of Series A Convertible Preferretib&k — — 6.C
Dilutive effect of Series B Convertible Preferre&k — — 9.C
Weighted average shares, dilu 45.¢ 48.1 73.2

The following instruments were not included in tradculation of diluted net income (loss) per sHageause the effect of these
instruments was anti-dilutive (in millions):

2001 2002 2003

Stock options 4.9 4.¢ 1.5
Series A Convertible Preferred Stc 1.€ 6.7 —
Series B Convertible Preferred Stc — 5.3 —
Warrants 0.2 — —
Contingently issuable shar 0.2 0.1 —
Total ant-dilutive instrument: 6. 17.C 1.t
Average per share market value of common s $10.61 $5.0¢ $10.57
Average outstanding stock option price per sl $10.2¢ $8.11 $ 9.27

(m) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-LivedAssets to Be Disposed Of

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS Nb.“Acounting for the Impairment or Disposal ofrigsLived Assets”,
which addresses financial accounting and repoftinghe impairment or disposal of long-lived ass@thile SFAS No. 144
supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Immairt of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assetbe Disposed Of”,
it retains many of the fundamental provisions oASHNo. 121, including the recognition and measurgnoéthe impairment of
long-lived assets to be held and used, and theurerasnt of long-lived assets to be disposed ofdby. $ ong-lived assets and
certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed fopairment whenever events or changes in circumssainclicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover®geoverability of assets to be held and used ssored by a comparison of
the carrying amount of the assets to future nét dlas/s (undiscounted and without interest) expeéttebe generated by the
asset. If such assets are considered to be imp#iednpairment to be recognized is measured &gathount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the faiewvaflthe assets. Assets to be disposed of areteepatrthe lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.
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During fiscal year 2002, the Company analyzed #seilts of operations and projected future cashdlassociated with certain
office equipment, and determined that impairmengter. Accordingly, the Company recorded impairnaharges of $1.2
million and related penalties on leased equipmé&®0® million during the first quarter of 2002. 8¢e amounts were a
component of asset impairment and other chargggi@ompany’s consolidated results of operationsirig the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2003, the Company assessed the utilimadfdts project equipment and determined thataderquipment was idle and
technologically impaired. These were primarily aldssets which could no longer effectively noreintly be utilized on
existing or upcoming domestic and internationata@uner contracts. Due to the nature of this equigraed its dependence on
current technology, the salvage value associatédsuich equipment was deemed to be nominal. Basé¢liese combined facts
and circumstances, the Company concluded that rmpat existed and, therefore, recorded an impaitmiggrge totaling $2.2
million in the fourth quarter of 2003.

(n) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Ritial Instruments,” requires that fair values becttised for the Company’s
financial instruments. The carrying amounts of caisti cash equivalents, short-term investments uatsgeceivable, accounts
receivable-related party, contract managementvabégs, income taxes receivable, accounts payabdeunts payable-related
party, accrued expenses, contract management payatd income taxes payable approximate fair \deeto the short-term
nature of these instruments.

(o) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income algithes rules for the reporting of comprehengie®ine (loss) and its
components. Comprehensive income (loss) for thesyeaded December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 inchuetéacome (loss),
realized investment loss on available-for-sale stées and foreign currency translation adjustments

(p) Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS No. 52 “Foreign CurrencgnBiation,” the financial statements of the Compaforeign subsidiaries
where the functional currency has been determiodudtthe local currency are translated into Un&&ates dollars using current
rates of exchange for assets and liabilities atesraf exchange that approximate the rates in tedteihe transaction date for
revenues, expenses, gains and losses.

(q) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjea ompany to concentrations of credit risk, cormistcipally of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments, trade accaegtsvable and contract management receivabletimas, cash and short-
term investment balances held in financial ingtitug are in excess of federally insured limits. TGmwmpany performs periodic
evaluations of the relative credit standing of fio@l institutions and limits the amount of risk &giecting financial institutions
with a strong relative credit standing.
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(r) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company periodically evaluates all pendinchoedtened contingencies and any commitments, ifthay are reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on itsrapens or financial position. The Company assetsegrobability of an adverse
outcome and determines if it is remote, reasonpb$gible or probable as defined in accordance thétprovisions of SFAS No.
5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” If informatiovailable prior to the issuance of the Company’afficial statements indicates
that it is probable that an asset had been impairediability had been incurred at the date ef @ompany’s financial
statements, and the amount of the loss, or theerahgrobable loss can be reasonably estimated steh loss is accrued and
charged to operations. If no accrual is made flosa contingency because one or both of the camdifpursuant to SFAS No. 5
are not met, but the probability of an adverse auie is at least reasonably possible, the Compalhgiatlose the nature of the
contingency and provide an estimate of the pos$ilsie or range of loss, or state that such an esigannot be made.

(s) Contingent Acquisition Consideration

From time to time, in connection with certain besis acquisitions, the Company may agree to makiéaud future payments
to sellers that are contingent upon the acquir¢itiesi achievement of specific performance-basédstones. Pursuant to the
provisions of SFAS No. 141, such contingent lidigi§i are accrued, and therefore, recorded by tmep@oy when the
contingency is determinable beyond a reasonablbtdmd, hence, the additional consideration becqragable. As of
December 31, 2003, a contingent consideration atcelated to these arrangements totaling $3.8amillvas recorded on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets and was@#ié selling shareholders during the first quastdiscal 2004.

Assuming the entities acquired in 2003 reach thémim base performance targets, the aggregatesfatuntingent payments
related to the measurement periods from 2003 thr@0@6, including the balance accrued as of Decehe2003, would
approximate a cumulative total of $11.1 millionthe acquired entities exceed the defined annu&dipeance targets through
estimated annual growth of approximately 15%, thgragate future contingent payments could likehgeafrom $33.2 million t
$35.3 million inclusive of the amounts accrued BBecember 31, 2003 and the amounts earned fromdhievement of the
minimum base performance targets. The contingamideration is calculated based on a certain neltpdefined annual
earnings targets as stated in the respective psecgreements.

The following table summarizes management’s eséroathe potential range of future contingent cdesition by year:

(in millions)
2004 2005 2006 2007 Total
Potential range of future contingent
consideration $ 9.88$10.k $ 10.8$11.%x $ 112811« $ 1.4$1.4 $ 33.2835.*
I I I I I

* Hypothetical range based on estimated annual groiis%.
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(t) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith Generally Accepted Accounting Principlesii®e United States (US
GAAP) requires management to make estimates andngs®ns that affect the reported amounts of asseddiabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the financial statements and the redaiounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. In the fytilve Company may realize actual results that diffam the current reported
estimates.

(u) Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiesbnform with the current period presentation.

(v) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation®6o(FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interesttiies.” FIN 46 requires
an investor with a majority of the variable intdsegrimary beneficiary) in a variable interestignVIE) to consolidate the
entity and also requires majority and significaatiable interest investors to provide certain disales. A VIE is an entity in
which the voting equity investors do not have atagling financial interest or the equity investmext risk is insufficient to
finance the entity’s activities without receivindditional subordinated financial support from thes parties. Development-
stage entities that have sufficient equity investefinance the activities they are currently ereghtn and entities that are
businesses, as defined in FIN 46, are not considéles.

The provisions of FIN 46 were effective immediatidy all arrangements entered into with new VIEsated after January 31,
2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effealate of FIN 46 for pre-existing VIEs to no latean February 2004. In
December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to FINF#E 46-R), which incorporated the October 200&dw=l provisions and
clarified and revised the accounting guidance ftiEsv/ All VIEs, regardless of when created, are ieglto be evaluated under
FIN 46-R no later than the quarter ended Marci2BD4. Management is still evaluating the effecamblying FIN 46-R, but
does not currently expect this standard will haveaderial effect on the Company’s financial coratitiresults of operations or
cash flows. As of December 31, 2003, the Compadyndt identify any VIEs that would require consalidn or any exposure
VIEs that would require disclosure.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amareht of Statement 133 on Derivative Instrumentstdadging
Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies aguting for derivative instruments, including centdierivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, and for hedging éietsvinder SFAS No. 133. In particular, SFAS N@® thkarifies under what
circumstances a contract within an initial net stneent meets the characteristic of a derivativeveineh a derivative contains a
financing component that warrants special reporitintpe statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 149 wawelly effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 8032 The Company has reviewed SFAS No. 149 anddiasmined it does not
have a material impact on its operating resultsfarzhcial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accanumfor Certain Financial Instruments with Charaistécs of Both
Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 establishésnslards for how an issuer classifies and measentsin financial
instruments with characteristics of both liabilitiend equity.
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It requires that an issuer classify a financiatrin®ent that is within its scope as a liability éor asset in some circumstances).
Many of those instruments were previously clasdifis equity. SFAS No. 150 was effective for finah@istruments entered in
or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise wifsative at the beginning of the first interim padibeginning after June 15,
2003. The Company reviewed SFAS No. 150 and detexinit did not have a material impact on its opegatesults and
financial position.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1329eeh2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensand Other
Postretirement Benefits.” SFAS No. 132 revises eygis’ disclosures about pension plans and oth&rgtement benefits by
requiring additional disclosures such as descgtiaf the types of plan assets, investment stegegieasurement dates, plan
obligations, cash flows and components of net péaribenefit costs recognized during interim periodse statement does not
change the measurement or recognition of the platexim period disclosure is generally effectioe the Company’s second
quarter of 2004. This statement is effective foaficial statements with fiscal years ending aftecddnber 15, 2003 and quarters
beginning after December 15, 2003. The Companydaswed SFAS No. 132 and has determined it doehanee a material
impact on its operating results and financial posit

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensussore INo. 00-21 (EITF 00-21), “Revenue Agreementss dultiple
Deliverables."The consensus addresses how to account for arr@mgethat may involve the delivery or performantealtiple
products, services and/or rights to use asseterRevarrangements with multiple deliverables agaired to be divided into
separate units of accounting if the deliverableth@arrangement meet certain criteria. Arrangeroensideration should be
allocated among the separate units of accountiegdan their relative fair values. The consensss slipersedes certain
guidance set forth in SAB 101, which was amenddddénember 2003 by SAB 104. The final consensuppiGable to
agreements entered into in quarters beginning aftee 15, 2003. The Company has reviewed EITF 0&8lhas determined it
does not have a material impact on its operatieglt® and financial position.
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Note 2. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill aifeér intangible assets for the year ended DeceB81he2003, are as follow

Design and
Business Deploymen Enterprise Network
Consulting Solutions Management Total
Goodwill, net
Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 127 $ 41¢€ $ — $ 2.1 $56.4
Impairment losse (12.5) — — (2.7 (14.¢
Foreign exchange translation
loss (0.2 — — — (0.2
Balance as of December 31, 2( — 41.€ — — 41.¢
Acquisitions — — 9.t — 9.5
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ 41¢ $ 95 $ — $51.1
Other intangibles, net
Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 4.1 $ 0.2 $ — $ 2.2 $ 6.5
Amortization expens (0.3 — — (0.5 (0.8
Impairment losse (3.9 — — (1.6) (5.3
Reclassification to property ar
equipmen: — (0.2 — — (0.2
Foreign exchange translation
loss (0.7 — — (0.7 (0.2
Balance as of December 31, 2( — — — — —
Acquisitions — — 0.t — 0.t
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ = $ 0t $ — $ 0.
Total goodwill and other
intangibles, net $ — $ 41¢€ $ 10.C $ — $51.€

(a) Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The slowdown in the economy, economic conditiorgs asible trends in the telecommunications industiggered an
impairment evaluation of our goodwill and otherimgible assets in the second quarter of fiscal 20@tcordance with SFAS
No. 121. Based on management’s analyses of thégeswperations and projected future cash flossoaiated with certain
goodwill and other intangible assets, it was deteechthat an impairment existed. Accordingly, tren@®any recorded a
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$12.9 million impairment charge in the second craof fiscal 2001. Assets determined to be impaimetlded goodwill and
customer contract and workforce intangibles appnating $8.2 million in our design and deploymergraent and $4.7 million
in our network management segment.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company’srapiens in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMIEexperienced an
accelerated decline in revenue from its businessudting (Questus) and network management (Telisti@oting) operating
segments. The initial EMEA 2002 operating plan assdithat the European markets for consulting ahdor& management
services would realize a modest level of growttecHrally, the initial 2002 operating plan assuntledt new service contracts
would be procured or extended, accounting for aifig@nt portion of the 2002 budgeted revenue amgdesponding revenue
growth in 2003. Furthermore, these contracts wetieipated to have high margins that are typicgbref-deployment business
consulting service contracts. For the network manegnt segment, the initial 2002 operating planrassithe renewal of certain
contracts in mid-year 2002 which were expectedateemominal revenue growth in 2003 and 2004.

After the finalization of the February 2002 yeasdtate actual results for both the EMEA businessuattimg (Questus) and
network management (Telia Contracting) operatirggrsnts, the respective segments posted continudididg revenues and
margins and increased selling, general and admatiigt costs, primarily as a result of ongoing untiézation of billable
employees and corporate service overhead. Throagtrukry 2002, the overall European markets contitoeealize a lack of
significant capital expansion with respect to thegantelecommunication carriers, as evidenced byldhk of certain anticipated
contracts as noted above. Revised 2002 finanaoigégtions for the EMEA business consulting and nekwmanagement
segments indicated ongoing probable losses witlinminmprovement in subsequent years. Furtherntmsed on the current
cost structure in EMEA, it appeared unlikely tHa Company would be able to significantly redudateel selling, general and
administrative costs to a level that would allow foofitability for the respective segments. Basedhese triggering events, and
after evaluating the related undiscounted cashdliowelationship to the segment’s identifiable agtets in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or pasal of Long-Lived Assets,” and SFAS No. 142, “@ail and Other
Intangible Assets,” it was determined that sucthdbmsvs on an undiscounted basis would be insugfitto cover the net book
value of the related identifiable net assets. Aesallt, the related intangible assets were deenlbdifhpaired and the Company
recognized a charge of $19.9 million representihgaodwill, indefinite life and finite life intaniple assets related to EMEA at
March 31, 2002. The charge is a component of asgetirment and other charges as recorded in thep@ows operating
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002oAippaitely $16.2 million relates to the businessstdting segment and $3.7
million to the design and deployment segment.

(b) SFAS No. 142 Transitional and Annual ImpairmentTests

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 1#2,first step of the goodwill impairment test reqd the Company to
determine and compare the fair value of its defirggubrting units to their carrying values as ofuly 1, 2002. The fair value 1
each reporting unit was determined using a dis@alioash flow valuation analysis. The carrying valokeach reporting unit
was determined by specifically identifying and a#ting the assets and liabilities of the Compangatch reporting unit based on
headcount, relative revenues or costs, or othenadstas deemed appropriate by
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management. Management believes that the assuraptiade for these analyses are reasonable andteomnsithe estimated fe
values exceeded the carrying values for each riegarhit, resulting in no indication of impairme@onsequently, the second
step of the impairment test was not required.

The Company completed its annual impairment tes¢@sired under the provisions of SFAS No.142. Bgithe fourth quarter
2002 and 2003, the Company documented and meatheredrrying value of all related goodwill, finiéad indefinite life
intangible assets and determined that there diéxist any indication of impairment as of Decemb&r2002 and 2003. If we ¢
required to record an impairment charge in therytit could have an adverse impact on our resiiltperations.

SFAS No. 142 requires disclosure of what reportetdncome or loss and related per-share amounttvihawe been in periods
prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 exclusivenfortization expense and any related tax effeelatad to goodwill and other
indefinite life intangible assets. Accordingly, tBiempany has presented below for comparability pegp “As Adjusted”
financial results for the year ended December B012The following is a reconciliation from repatt® “As Adjusted” net loss
and net loss per common share:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share amounts)

2001 Adjustments 2001
Reported As Adjusted 2002 2003
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 21.¢ $ (10 $ 11t $ 7.8 $ 6.7
Operating income (los: $ (71.5) $ 101 $ (619 $(54.7) $22.2
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ (15.0 $ 2.C $ (13.0 $10.1 —
Net income (loss $ (60.7) $ 8.1 $ (52.0 $(63.9) $23.5
Net loss per common sha
Basic $ (1.3)) $ 0.1¢ $ (119 $(1.39) $0.44
Diluted $ (1.3)) $ 0.1¢ $ (119 $(1.39) $0.32
Weighted average common shares
outstanding
Basic 45.¢ 45.¢ 48.1 53.4
Diluted 45.¢ 45.¢ 48.1 73.2

Significant Transactions
(a) Loss/Benefit on Unused Office Space

During the second quarter of 2001, the Companyrdezban accrual for $1.4 million related to anraated loss on unused offi
space based on management’s assessment of thiegeristrket conditions, sublease rental rates acmverability of operating
lease expenses for the Company’s vacant properties.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company’srapieg results reflected a continued lack of imgnment in the financial
markets and economic environment of the telecomaatioins industry.
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Furthermore, it was determined that the prior gigant growth in several metropolitan markets hasuited in a surplus of
commercial lease space. This surplus of availathieecspace has hindered the Company’s abilityutnlesase its existing unused
office space. As a result, management re-asselsseddrket conditions surrounding its unused offjoace, the likelihood of
achieving certain sublease rates and the overezability of its related operating lease expsnses a result, the Company
calculated the estimated loss on unused officeesfmimcrease by approximately $10.0 million durihg quarter ended March
31, 2002. The accrual for loss on unused officess of December 31, 2002 was $9.4 million, netppfoximately $1.6
million of lease payments that were charged tcatterual for unused office space.

During 2003, the Company reevaluated its accrudbf&s on unused office space and determined thiginéficant portion of its
corporate facility was expected to be utilized cagnaing in 2004. This change in estimate was prigattributable to the
Company’s acquisition of HTS that was announceldeaember 2003 and consummated in January 2004 résuli, the
Company recorded a $3.2 million reversal of thewaldor unused office space during the fourth tgraof 2003.

(b) Shut Down of Network Operations Center (NOC)

Based on the continued negative results of operafimm the Company’s NOC subsidiary and econominditions as of March
31, 2002, management approved and committed thep&ayrto an Exit Plan for this legal subsidiary efifee March 31, 2002.
In accordance with EITF 94-3, “Liability Recognitidor Certain Employee Termination Benefits andedt@osts to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Resturing)”, the Company recorded certain chargdeted to this exit plan (all
charges were deemed incremental and not relatin tongoing operations of the facility during thexit period”). Fixed assets
with net book value of $0.8 million were disposdase of March 31, 2002. These assets includedinestactronic equipment
and leasehold improvements with no readily detealim salvage value. The total amount disposect@ded as a component
asset impairment charges for the quarter endediVaitc2002. A charge totaling $0.3 million, relatedeverance and contract
termination costs that were deemed incrementat @sstociated with the shut down of the NOC, wasgm®ized as a component
of selling, general and administrative expenses;duhe quarter ended March 31, 2002. The Compangisagement executed
the final steps relating to its exit plan wherebffective November 1, 2002, all remaining custonwrtracts and employees wi
terminated and the business ceased operation<Cdmmg@any concluded that the NOC did not have mateperating results
which would require discontinued operations to dq@orted separately. During the year ended 2002\@€ had the following
operating results (in millions):

Revenue $0.2
Cost of revenu $04
Operating los: $(2.0)
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At December 31, 2002 and 2003, the balance ofd¢heuals for legal and contract termination costzraximated $0.3 million
and $0.1 million, respectively.

(c) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

During 2001, the Company recorded significant aloees for doubtful accounts related to former custs who declared
bankruptcy due to the effects of difficult finangiand economic conditions experienced throughgigd. Specifically, the
Company recorded bad debt expense totaling $21li@miwhich included allowances for receivableedtom Metricom, Inc. ¢
$13.9 million, Advanced Radio Telecom of $3.1 moitlj and US Wireless of $1.3 million. During therthquarter ended
September 30, 2002, the Company settled its oulistgrelaim with Metricom, Inc. and subsequentlydsité entire rights to the
Metricom claim to a consortium of bankruptcy claibtekers. The Company received net proceeds of$illion resulting in a
net reduction to bad debt expense (a componemlofg general and administrative expenses). Tom@any had provided an
allowance for the entire receivable balance whefristam, Inc. filed for bankruptcy protection duritige second quarter of 20I
As a result of the settlement, the entire tradeiv@ble balance of $13.9 million was written offaagst the corresponding
allowance for doubtful accounts.

During 2002, certain of the Company’s customerdinaed to face challenging financial and operagngironments due to the
volatile capital markets and uncertain economiadtons both domestically and internationally withhe wireless
telecommunications industry. As a result, and pamsto the Companyg’periodic assessment regarding the expected tbiliég
of its trade account receivable balances (billedl @mbilled), certain additional amounts were idéedi as potentially
uncollectible during 2002. Based on this analytsis, Company increased its allowance for doubtfabaats by $9.6 million
during the year ended December 31, 2002. A sigmifiportion of these allowances related to estignfatetrade receivable
balances in Latin America due to the economic ¥diain this region and associated risk to the Qxamy. Based on successful
collections during 2003 and management’s ongoirgduation of the remaining accounts receivable lzgamutstanding, the
Company reversed $3.3 million of its specific allowee for doubtful accounts during the year endezkBéer 31, 2003. As of
December 31, 2003, there is an allowance for daubtfcounts of $2.1 million remaining specificadiitributable to certain Latin
America trade receivable balances.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates
(a) Diverse Networks, Inc (“DNI")

On May 24, 2000, the Company paid $4.0 millionéstt to acquire a 16.67% percent interest in DIgk\aate company that
provides network management and data center ssrviteough December 31, 2002, this investment wesumted for under tt
equity method of accounting due to the presenagguiificant influence that was deemed to exist dasethe significant number
of contracts that WFI had entered into with DNI dinel presence of a WFI employee on DNI's boardirgfotors. The contracts
constituted a substantial portion of the businesglacted by DNI. By the end of fiscal 2002, the oni¢y of the contracts
between the Company and DNI had been completed.fabior, combined with the removal of the Comparpresident from th
board of directors of DNI, resulted in the Compaoncluding effective January 1, 2003, that sigatficinfluence no longer
existed. Accordingly, the investment in DNI no lengnet the conditions for the use of equity metabdccounting and
accordingly, the investment has been accountedrfder the cost method
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since January 1, 2003. The equity in earnings ftiminvestment during the period this investmeaswaccounted for under the
equity method of accounting were classified witbiher income (expense) in the Company’s consolitistatements of
operations. The balance of the Company’s investimeDNI at December 31, 2003, totaled $3.1 millad has been classified
on the consolidated balance sheet under the capttfestment in unconsolidated affiliates. The Comypevaluates the
realizability of its investment in DNI according tiee provisions of APB 18. On at least a quartbdgis, the Company obtains
and reviews the financial statements and most téosgcasts of DNI. Based on that review and inigaiwith DNI's
management, the Company determines whether therledem other than a “temporary” impairment ofriteeistment. Based on
the periodic evaluations, the Company has concltiggicthe carrying value of its investment in DNkmot been impaired.

(b) CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

On July 21, 2000, the Company acquired 1,184,83teshof Class B convertible Preferred Stock of Cofarge Solutions, Inc.,

a privately-held wireless network planning and dgpient company. The investment totaled $5.0 milliooash and is
accounted for using the cost method of accountihg. balance of the Company’s investment in Comm¥&glutions, Inc. at
December 31, 2003 totaled $5.0 million and has letessified on the consolidated balance sheet uhéeraption investment in
unconsolidated affiliates. The Company evaluateg¢alizability of its investment in CommVerge Salus, Inc. according to

the provisions of APB 18. On at least a quartedgib, the Company obtains and reviews the finastié@éments and most recent
forecasts of CommVerge Solutions, Inc. Based onrthaew and inquiries with CommVerge’s managemtrd,Company
determines whether there has been other than gtiery” impairment of its investment. Based onpleeodic evaluations, the
Company has concluded that the carrying valuesdhitestment in CommVerge Solutions, Inc. has eenkiimpaired.

Acquisitions

On February 13, 2003, the Company acquired alhefoutstanding capital stock of a privately-helchpany that provides
subcontracting services primarily for general cactiors and commercial property owners for the aeait installation of
commercial electrical systems. Initial considenationsisted of a cash payment totaling $1.8 milliime acquisition was
accounted for under the provisions of purchase atk#itcounting in accordance with Statements ofrf€ilah Accounting
Standards No. 141 (SFAS No. 141) “Business Comioinsit. The initial consideration was allocated e fair value of tangible
and identifiable intangible net assets acquiree @kcess purchase price paid over the fair valdangfible and identifiable
intangible net assets acquired of $1.4 million vexorded as goodwill and other identifiable finlife-intangible assets. Included
in the stock purchase agreement is a provision @dyethe Company has agreed to pay the selling Isblalers additional
consideration that is contingent upon the acquemrgity’s successful achievement of specific anmaahings targets for each of
the years ending December 31, 2003, 2004 and 20@5Company recorded the first-year accrual foitamthl contingent
consideration totaling $3.4 million related to #ehievement of the earnings targets for the yede@®ecember 31, 2003.
Payment was made on February 13, 2004, pursudim jgayment terms in the asset purchase agreefentontingent
consideration is calculated based on a certainipiilbf defined annual earnings targets as
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stated in the purchase agreement. Future addittmmaideration, if any, will be recorded and acdras goodwill at the time that
the outcome of the contingency is issued or issuabthe outcome of the contingency is determinbbleond a reasonable dot
See note 1 for further details regarding the Comijsaaiccounting policy and estimated range of futtortingent consideration.
The results of operations of the acquired compémeshe acquisition date are included in the Campfsaconsolidated financial
statement for the year ended December 31, 2003r@na component within the enterprise solutionsaipey segment.

On April 15, 2003, the Company acquired all of tlutstanding capital stock of a privately-held compthat provides various
commercial electrical systems subcontracting sesvfor general contractors. Initial considerationsisted of a cash payment
totaling $6.2 million. The acquisition was accouhter under the provisions of the purchase mettfatoounting in accordance
with SFAS No. 141. The initial consideration wa®eted to the fair value of tangible and idenkfaintangible net assets
acquired. The excess purchase price paid oveathedlue of tangible and identifiable intangiblet mssets acquired of $4.6
million was recorded as goodwill and other ideabfe finite-life intangible assets. Included in #teck purchase agreement is a
provision whereby the Company agrees to pay tHmgedhareholders additional consideration thabistingent upon the
acquired entity’s successful achievement of speeidirnings targets for each of the twelve montiogsrended March 31, 2004,
2005 and 2006. Future additional consideratioanif, will be recorded and accrued as goodwill attilme that the outcome of
the contingency is issued or issuable or the ouécofhthe contingency is determinable beyond a resse doubt. As of
December 31, 2003, no accrual has been recordediidingent consideration. The contingent constilaras calculated based
on a certain multiple of defined annual earninggdts as stated in the purchase agreement. Seé fatéurther details
regarding the Company’s accounting policy and esttith range of future contingent consideration. rEselts of operations of
the acquired company since the acquisition effedtiate are included in the Company'’s consolidatehtial statement for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and are a componiin ie enterprise solutions operating segment.

On August 7, 2003, the Company acquired all ofahestanding equity interests of a privately-heldibass that provides full-
service security systems and building technologigsgration. The initial consideration consistedaafash payment totaling $3.7
million. The acquisition was accounted for under piovisions of the purchase method of accountireccordance with SFAS
No. 141. The initial consideration was allocatedh® fair value of tangible and identifiable int#sig net assets acquired. The
Company recorded goodwill and other identifiabietéife intangible assets totaling $0.3 million. Indkd in the stock purcha
agreement is a provision whereby the Company heeseddo pay the selling equity holders additiormaisideration that is
contingent upon the acquired entity’s successfiea@ment of specific annual earnings targetshersix month period ended
December 31, 2003 and the years ended Decemb26@4, 2005 and 2006. The Company recorded a camtirgpnsideration
accrual totaling $0.4 million related to the acle@ment of the earnings targets for period endingebder 31, 2003. Payment v
made on February 25, 2004. The contingent congidare calculated based on a certain multipleeffrebd annual earnings
targets as stated in the purchase agreement. Faddigonal consideration, if any, will be recordmtt accrued as goodwill at 1
time that the outcome of the contingency is issureidsuable or the outcome of the contingency fsrd@nable beyond a
reasonable doubt. See note 1 for further detajardéng the Company’s accounting policy and es&éaaange of future
contingent consideration. The results of operatafrtee acquired company since the acquisition degéncluded in the
Company’s consolidated financial statement forytbar ended December 31, 2003 are a component \iithianterprise
solutions operating segment.
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Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 141, the thoegiigitions during 2003 met certain quantitativ&ten an aggregate basis,
thus requiring pro forma presentation. The follogvBummary presents pro forma consolidated restiliperations for the year
ended December 31, 2003 as if the acquisitionsritbestabove had occurred at the beginning of tlae gaded December 31,
2003, and includes adjustments that were direttitipatable to the transaction or were expecteldatee a continuing impact on
the Company.

The pro forma results are unaudited and for ilatste purposes only for the applicable periods, dmdot purport to be
indicative of the actual results which would haeewred had the transactions been completed &= dfeginning of the periods,
nor are they indicative of results of operationsalthmay occur in the future. The following is aloeconciliation of GAAP (as
reported) to pro forma financial results for theggeended December 31, 2002 and 2003 (all unauaitedints except per share
amounts are in millions):

2002 2003
As
As Pro forma Pro Reported Pro forma Pro
Reported Adjustments forma Adjustments forma
Revenue $187.C $ 49.4 $236.¢ $262.C $ 14.€ $276.¢
Operating incom: $ (53 $ 1.8 $(52.0 $ 222 $ 0.1 $ 22.:
Net income (loss $ (639 $ 1.1 $(62.8) $ 23t $ — $ 23t
Net income per commc
share:
Basic $ (1.39) $(1.3) $ 0.44 $ 0.44
Diluted $ (1.39 $(1.31) $ 0.32 $ 0.32
Weighted average commor
shares outstandin
Basic 48.1 48.1 53.4 534
Diluted 48.1 48.1 73.Z 73.2

Pro forma net income for fiscal 2003 includes agjpnately $0.2 million net loss from discontinuedeogtions related to a
division of one of the acquired entities. Activitifom this discontinued operation are not sigaificto the Company’s
consolidated revenues or operating results ane tlvere no significant liabilities assumed and idelti in the cost of the
acquisition.
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Balance Sheet Detail:

The consolidated balance sheets consist of thewfol at December 31, 2002 and 2003 (in millions):

Accounts receivable, ne
Billed
Unbilled
Allowance for doubtful accoun

Total accounts receivable, r

Contract management receivables,
Billed
Unbilled

Allowance for doubtful accoun

Total contract management receivables,

Property and equipment, ni
Computer equipmet
Furniture and office equipme

Accumulated depreciation and amortizat

Total property and equipment, r

Goodwill, net:
Goodwill
Accumulated amortizatio

Total goodwill, ner

Other intangibles, ne
Non compete covenar
Accumulated amortizatio

Total other intangibles, ni
Investments in unconsolidated affiliats

CommVerge, Inc
Diverse Networks, Inc

Total investments in unconsolidated affilia

2002 2003
$39.2  $54.1
32.C 482
712 102.:
(10.7) (6.5)
$605  $ 95.€
$ 23 $ 21
1.6 0.4
3.9 2.5
(1.5) (1.5)
$ 24 $ 10
$30.7  $ 352
5.1 4.6
35.¢ 39.€
(22.6) (28.E
$13.C  $ 112
$63.C  $ 72E
(21.4) (21.4)
$41€  $ 511
$ — $ 0.t
$ — $ 0t
$ 50 $ 50
3.2 3.1
$82 $ 81
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Note 7. Notes Payable and Other Financing Arrangement
(a) Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2001, $33.0 million was outstagdinder the Company’s line of credit with a weaghaverage interest rate
of 6.40%. The line of credit was scheduled to expirFebruary 2004 but was repaid and terminatelayn 31, 2002. Prior to
the termination of the line of credit agreemendne under this line of credit bore interest, at@epany’s discretion, at either
(i) the greater of the bank prime rate and the F#dainds Rate plus 0.5%, plus a margin ranging f@o75% to 2.50%, the
(“base rate margin”), or (ii) at the London IntenkaDffering Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin rangingfn 1.75% to 3.50%, the
(“LIBOR rate margin”). The line of credit was seedrby substantially all of the Company’s assete [irte of credit agreement
contained restrictive covenants, which, among atiiegs, required maintenance of certain finanatbs.

(b) Note Payable to Financial Institutions

In December 1999, the financial institutions whaevparties to the line of credit agreement entarxlan intercreditor
agreement with the Company, which provided forisiseance of notes payable not to exceed $1.0 miliecured by
substantially all of the Company’s assets. On Falyr@4, 2000, the Company executed a $1.0 millate payable under this
agreement, payable ratably through February 20838t interest rate. At December 31, 2001, the Gamypad outstanding
borrowings of $0.6 million under this note payaflhis note was repaid in full during 2002.

Note 8. Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain equipment under cépéses with a weighted average interest rate abappately 8.47% that
expire at various dates through 2005. The Comptawyleases certain facilities and equipment ungerating leases having
terms expiring at various dates through 2010. Futinimum lease payments under capital and opgrtases as of December
31, 2003 are as follows (in millions):

Net

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Year ending December 3
2004 $ 0E $ 4.1
2005 0.2 3.€
2006 — 25
2007 — 2.7
2008 — 2.8
Thereafte — 3.8
Total future minimum lease paymel 0.7 $ 19.t
Less amount representing inter —
Present value of capital lease obligati 0.7
Less current portio (0.5
Long-term capital lease obligatiol $ 0.2
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Equipment recorded under capital leases approxah#8et million and $8.7 million, with accumulateshartization of $6.9
million and $8.2 million as of December 31, 20021 003, respectively.

There exists approximately $1.6 million of subleem®me (pursuant to terms of sublease agreemiwatispffsets future
minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2003&s38amt expenditures under operating leases forehres ended December
31, 2002 and 2003 were $5.5 million and $5.6 mllieespectively. Total sublease income for the yeaded December 31, 2(
and 2003 totaling $0.4 million and $0.6 millionspectively, has been netted against rent experddhtidnally, included in net
rent expense during the year ended December 338,286 $1.5 million related to the recurring acametf previously accrued
loss on unused office space based on remaining tea®. Based on management’s assessment of gxassumptions as
described in note 3, a reversal totaling $3.2 millielated to a portion of the accrual for unusiidespace was recorded during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. Such amounh&@uded in asset impairment and other chargese@tmpany’s statement of
operations. The lease on certain office facilittedudes scheduled base rent increases over timeotethe lease. The total amol
of the base rent payments is being charged to egpem the straighine method over the term of the lease. In additthe bas
rent payment, the Company pays a monthly allocaifadhe building’s operating expenses. The Comgaas/recorded deferred
rent, included in accrued expenses, of $1.2 millind $1.3 million at December 31, 2002 and 20CGheetively, to reflect the
excess of rent expense over cash payments singgtioc of the respective lease.

Note 9. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002003 is comprised of
the following (in millions):

2001 2002 2003
Domestic $(57.9) $ (6.5 $26.7
Foreign (17.¢) (47.9) (3.2

$(75.0)  $(53.6  $23.F

The provision (benefit) for income taxes from cantng operations for the years ended December@®11,2002 and 2003 is
comprised of the following (in millions):

2001 2002 2003
Current:
Federal $ 0.€ $ $ —
State 0.3 .3 0.8
Foreign 0.4 (0.2 —
1.3 0.1 0.8
Deferred:
Federal (14.9 8.E 0.8
State (1.8 2.C 2.7
Foreign 0.4 (0.8 0.1
(16.9) 10.C (0.8)

$(15.0  $10.1 $ —
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Additionally, the Company recognized net tax besdfiom exercise of stock options of $1.5 milli&®, and $7.3 million for the
years ended December 31 2001, 2002 and 2003, tesgheovhich were recorded in stockholder’s equity

A reconciliation of total income tax provision (kefit) to the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate
of 35% and a blended state tax rate of 3.5% tonmec@loss) before income tax provision (benefit)tfor years ended December
31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 is as follows (in millions)

2001 2002 2003

Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutaty $(26.2) $(18.€) $ 8.2
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit and vadnatilowance (2.0 1kt (0.6)
Foreign tax expense (benefit), net of valuatioovadince 7.C 16.2 1.4
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibl 1.C — —
Increase (decrease) in federal valuation allow: 3.3 11.C (20.8)
Increase in deferred tax asset due to foreignreditcconversior — — 2.€
Other, ne 0.S 0.1 (0.8

$(15.0 $101 @ $ —

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to the deferred tax assets and deferredahttities as of December 31,
2002 and 2003 are as follows (in millions):

2002 2003

Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 21 $ 24
Sundry accrual 3.7 2.1
Vacation accrue 1.C 0.
Property and equipment, principally due to differesin depreciatio — 0.8
Goodwill and other intangibles, principally duedifferences in amortizatic 6.2 4.1
Net operating loss carryforwar 30.t 34.4
Foreign tax credit carryforwart 4.1 —
Deferred revenu — 0.
47.€ 45.€

Valuation allowanct (37.0 (25.9)
Total deferred tax assets, net of allowa 10.¢ 20.4

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment, principally due to diffexesin depreciatio (1.9 —
Unearned revent (6.3 (5.0
Foreign deferred tax liabilit (4.5) (3.9
Total deferred tax liabilitie (12.2) (8.9

Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $(16 $11k
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At December 31, 2003, the Company had federaldsx ¢arryforwards of $55.1 million (including stomtion net operating lo
carryforwards) which expire beginning in 2020 aralifdrnia tax loss carryforwards of $12.2 milliorhigh expire beginning in
2012. Federal and state tax laws impose restretonthe utilization of net operating loss anddeedit carryforwards in the
event of an “ownership change” for tax purposedaiged by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cdotle Company has
determined that any potential ownership changesu8dction 382 will not materially impact the Comya ability to utilize its
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwardsaddition, the Company has foreign tax loss carwyéwds of $17.8 million in tt
United Kingdom, $12.6 million in Mexico, $6.4 md in Sweden and $2.7 million in Brazil.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sspanagement considers whether sufficient risggtekhat would cause the
future inability to realize a portion or all of teferred tax assets. Based upon the level ofridatdaxable income, projections
for future taxable income and considering the fitomtlook periods, management believes it is mkedyl than not the Company
will not realize a portion of the deferred tax dasses of December 31, 2003. As such, the Compasiyetarded a corresponding
valuation allowance totaling $25.2 million as ofd@enber 31, 2003 to reflect the estimated amoudefdrred tax assets that n
not be realized in future reporting periods. Thaltdecrease to the valuation allowance duringyfee ended December 31, 2(
was $11.8 million, and was based upon deferred asseverability from 2003 income from continuingesations.

The following table summarizes the components dfation allowance and its allocation among contigubperations and
stockholder’s equity as of December 31, 2003:

Continuing
Operations Stockholder’s
Equity Total
Domestic $ 8.1 $ 7.8 $16.C
Foreign 9.2 — 9.2
Total $ 17.: $ 7.8 $25.2

The classification of the valuation allowance betweontinuing operations and additional paid intedpepicts the manner
whereby any reversal would be reflected in the Camyfs effective tax rate. Specifically, any revéidavaluation allowance in
stockholder’s equity would not be reflected in @@mpany’s effective tax rate.

It is the Company’s intention to reinvest undiaiitdd earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and theradefinitely postpone their
remittance. Accordingly, no provision has been mfadéoreign withholding taxes or United Statesdme taxes which may
become payable if undistributed earnings of foreigbsidiaries were paid as dividends to the Company

Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Preferred Stock

On October 29, 2001, the Company issued an aggref 3,637 shares of Series A Convertible PrefeBteck, at an aggregate
purchase price of $35.0 million, for a common stockversion price of $5.50 per share (which waddfrenarket value of the
Common Stock at the closing) in a private placen@entities affiliated with a director of the Coamny. The holders of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock elected tovedrsuch stock into 7,000,070 shares of the Com8tonk
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of the Company in the fourth quarter of 2003, am@ aesult, no shares of Series A Convertible PedeStock remained
outstanding at December 31, 2003. The shares oh@onstock issued on conversion of the Series A Exdible Preferred
Stock are subject to a lock-up provision, whichiesgpover time, such that at the end of each offtheee-month periods that
commence on the 18-month anniversary of the clodatg, 20% of the converted or convertible sharesedeased from lock-up
and available for resale at the option of the Sefi€Convertible Preferred Stock holder(s), untd thck-up’s final expiration on
April 29, 2004. The following table presents the@atmumber of common shares released from lockumgd each fiscal quarter:

Shares Shares Released from Lock-up During the Period Endig:

Issuable

Upon

Conversion 6/30/03 9/30/03 12/31/03 3/31/04 6/30/04 TOTAL
Common shares issuabl

upon conversion of
Series A Convertible
Preferred Stoc 7,000,07( 1,400,01. 1,400,01- 1,400,01. 1,400,01. 1,400,01: 7,000,07!

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued an aggreg&i8,000 shares of Series B Convertible PreferredkSat an aggregate
purchase price of $45.0 million, in a private plaeat to entities affiliated with one of the directo@f the Company (40,000
shares), to a brother of the Chairman and Chieties Officer of the Company (10,000 shares) andrt unrelated third-party
investor (40,000 shares). The Company received®$#dllion of proceeds, net of $0.1 million of issw& costs paid by the
Company. Each share of Series B Convertible PedeBtock is initially convertible into 100 sharé<Cmmmon Stock for a
common stock conversion price of $5.00 per shatedwwas the fair market value of the Common Statcthe closing) at the
option of the holder at any time subject to certaiovisions in the Series B Preferred Stock Pureifageement. After Novemb
2004, the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock avitbmatically convert into shares of the Compa@odsnmon Stock if and
when the Company’s Common Stock trades at or aba¥eD0 per share for 30 consecutive trading daes #fat date.
Additionally, the Series B Convertible Preferred&t agreement has a lock-up provision, which espinger time, such that at
the end of each of the three-month periods thatneente on the 18-month anniversary of the closirng, #0% of the converted
or convertible shares are released from lock-upaamailable for resale at the option of the SerigddBvertible Preferred Stock
holder(s), until the lock-up’s final expiration dovember 30, 2004. The following table presentstéti@ number of common
shares issuable upon conversion, if the holdex@jcese the option to freely convert preferred ktparsuant to this provision a
the related number of common shares released fsokaup during each fiscal quarter:

Shares Shares Released from Lock-up During the Period Endiy:

Issuable

Upon

Conversion 12/31/03 3/31/04 6/30/04 9/30/04 12/31/04 TOTAL
Common shares issuabl

upon conversion of
Series B Convertible
Preferred Stoc 9,000,00! 1,800,00¢ 1,800,00¢ 1,800,001 1,800,001 1,800,001 9,000,00!
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Upon any liquidation event, as defined in the agret, each outstanding share of Series B Conveffil¢ferred Stock is entitl
to receive $500.00 per share (or a common stockersion price of $5.00 per share) as a liquidapi@ference, in preference to
any amounts paid to holders of Common Stock. Stibjerertain exceptions, the Series B Convertilbkfd?red Stock has anti-
dilution protection, whereby any future new issu@nof securities by the Company before Novembe2B03 below $5.00 per
share would trigger the anti-dilution protectiom fbe Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Ifgered, this protection would
decrease the conversion price of the Series B GtbkePreferred Stock to the lowest price per straceived by the Company
for such issuance of securities. However, the cmiee price may not be decreased to less than $edghare. As of December
31, 2003, there are no shares converted to comhares

On January 30, 2004, the Company received a nfsbogone of the holders to convert 7,742 shareSesfes B Convertible
Preferred Stock into 774,200 shares of the Compa@gmmon Stock.

On March 5, 2004, the Company received a notice frertain holders to convert 40,000 shares of S&i€onvertible Preferre
Stock into 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s Com8tonk, of which 1,600,000 shares are free frork lgz at the time of
conversion.

(b) Stock Option Plans

During the years ended 1997, 1999 and 2000, thedBufeDirectors approved the 1997 Stock Option Rtha “1997 Plan”), the
1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and #900 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan (the “20G4hP, respectively.
Stock options granted under the 1997 Plan and P#®may be incentive stock options or non-stayustwck options and are
exercisable for up to ten years following the ditgrant. The Company ceased making grants unddrsabsequently
terminated the 1997 Plan upon completion of itsahpublic offering. The 2000 Plan permits thergraf non-statutory stock
options, which are exercisable for a period follogvthe date of grant as determined by the Boamirefctors (generally ten
years). Stock option exercise prices for the 19an,PL999 Plan and 2000 Plan must be equal toeatgr than the fair market
value of the common stock on the grant date. A dative total of 7.5 million, 13.9 million, and 6r&illion shares of common
stock have been authorized for issuance underd@@ Rlan, 1999 Plan and 2000 Plan, respectivelgrdfemains 2.0 million
shares of common stock authorized for the 1997 Wizinh are no longer issuable due to the terminatifthe plan.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 12&counting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Campapplies APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees,” and related interpretations in accountordgts 1997 Plan, 1999
Plan and 2000 Plan. All options granted in 200D228nd 2003, except as noted below, were at oreafsivmarket value on the
date of grant.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Coynanorded $0.7 million of stock option expenseoaiged with certain
stock options granted during the year and certlan modifications (i.e., acceleration of vestind)igh triggered compensation
expense pursuant to the provisions and guidelih&AS No. 123.
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Stock option transactions are summarized below:

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

1997 Exercise 1999 Exercise 2000 Exercise

Plan Price Plan Price Plan Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2C 3,753,65. $ 7.64 561801 $ 524 1,703,83 $ 44.9¢

Granted — —  6,668,37: 4.6€ 2,117,35: 8.0C

Exercised (567,309 3.91 (103,33) 4.6€ (28,329 4.4C

Canceled (632,472 11.37 (5,312,86) 45.7¢  (1,985,45) 38.91

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 255386 $ 7.5t 6,870,148 $ 11.9C 1,807,39 $ 10.4¢

Granted 79,25! 427 1,692,25. 422 3,556,66' 4.2¢

Exercisec (210,66)) 2.64 (607,83() 4.0z (261,58() 4.3¢€

Cancelled (265,08 11.2¢ (1,029,370 12.9C (790,99)) 8.4¢€

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 2,157,37. $ 7.37 6,925,23' $ 10.4¢ 4,311,49. $ 6.0¢

Granted — —  4,848,08! 10.4¢ 523,01! 5.31

Exercised (1,025,86) 5.3z (3,319,28) 4.04 (2,009,24) 4.4t

Cancellec (68,277) 13.2¢ (487,47() 14.2( (314,210) 6.92

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,063,22¢ $ 781 796656 $ 10.0¢ 2,511,050 $ 6.9¢
I I I

Balance exercisable at December 31, 2003 1,063,22¢ $ 781 2,754,093 $ 10.3¢ 1,928,34' $ 7.0€
I I I

The following table summarizes information as otBber 31, 2003 concerning options outstandingeapdcisable:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Weighted
average Weighted Weighted
remaining average Weighted average
Range of Number exercise number exercise

exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable price

$ 1.33 3.6¢ 746,82 6.3C $ 3.2 496,84 $ 2.9¢
3.72- 4.4E 2,249,04! 8.0t 4.2z 2,000,60: 4.2%
4.47- 5.1€ 2,179,50! 8.04 4.61 1,499,711 4.57
5.20- 6.9E 1,397,23! 8.4z 6.0z 427.95° 5.87
7.00- 9.82 1,258,541 8.0¢ 9.37 437,53 8.6¢
9.94- 12.28 1,506,22 9.37 11.5¢ 191,01 11.5¢
12.33- 22.5C 1,684,90! 9.34 13.2¢ 242,67 15.7:
31.94- 45.3€ 314,26: 6.51 38.51 270,46¢ 39.0z
46.00- 67.63 163,78 6.4¢ 51.91 144,90! 51.9%
74.56- 132.0€ 40,53( 6.5t 90.1% 34,79¢ 91.62
$ 1.33- $132.0€ 11,540,85 8.27 $ 9.2C 5,746,50! $ 877

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors approved889 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchiasé)PA total of 1.9
million shares of Common Stock have been authorfiaetssuance under the Purchase Plan. The Puréiasejualifies as an
employee stock purchase plan within the meanirfgeation 423 of the Internal Revenue Service Cotle.Hurchase Plan
commenced in November 1999 upon completion of thim@any’s initial public offering.
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Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Dines;tall employees are eligible to participate ia Burchase Plan so long as
they are employed by the Company (or a subsidiaesjgthated by the board) for at least 20 hours ekvand are customarily
employed by the Company (or a subsidiary designiaydtie board) for at least 5 months per calendar.y

Employees who actively participate in the Purctlse may have up to 15% of their earnings for ool withheld pursuant to
the Purchase Plan. The amount withheld is usedraius purchase dates within the offering periodurchase shares of
Common Stock. The price paid for Common Stock aheaach purchase date will equal the lower of 8%%h® fair market valu
of the Common Stock at the commencement date obffexing period or 85% of the fair market valuettoee Common Stock on
the relevant purchase date. Employees may endgéasicipation in the offering at any time duridgetoffering period, and
participation ends automatically upon terminatiéemployment. From the Purchase Plan’s inceptioouth December 31,
2003, the cumulative number of shares of CommonlSteat have been issued under the Purchase PlaB2ig,189. As of
December 31, 2003, employee contributions for tinelffase Plan totaling $0.9 million were accrued suttkequently used to
purchase shares of Common Stock in the January 280dd. Such amount is included in accrued expeimsthe Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Employee Benefit Plan

In 1996, the Company implemented a 401(k) savihgs pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal RexeCode (the “Code”),
covering substantially all employees. Participanthe plan may contribute a percentage of compamsaut not in excess of
the maximum allowed under the Code ($12,000 ofldégcompensation for 2003). The Company may makeributions at the
discretion of its Board of Directors. The Compangda no contributions in 2001, 2002 or 2003.

Significant Customers

The Company had sales to three separate custorhais @omprised $23.4 million (11%), $21.7 milliohl®) and $20.1 million
(10%) of the Company'total revenues for the year ended December R1l,. ZThe revenues generated by each of these cus
were from both our design and deployment and nétw@nagement operating segments.

The Company had sales to one customer totalind$6illion, which comprised 36% of the Company’slatvenues for the
year ended December 31, 2002. The revenues gethénathis customer were from both our design arplayenent and network
management operating segments.

The Company had sales to one customer totalind3$68lion, which comprised 24% of the Company’saiaevenues for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The revenues gethénathis customer were from both our design arplayenent and network
management operating segments.

Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of aerarise and Related Information,” establishes ahaw@ interim reporting
standards for an enterprise’s operating segmeuitsedated disclosures about its products, servigesgraphic areas and major
customers. An operating segment is defined as g@opeant of an enterprise that engages in busindgisgtias from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses, and about wépetnage financial information is regularly evalabby the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resasirce
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The Company’s operations are organized along sefiries including four reportable segments: Desigd Deployment,
Network Management, Enterprise Solutions and Bgsil@@onsulting. Prior to the consummation of theuesitions described in
note 5, the Company had no material level of oparatin the enterprise solutions reporting segnmieme. Company’s current
activities in the business consulting reportingnsegt are not material to the Company'’s resultspefrations; however,
information regarding the historical results ofttkagment is presented for comparative purposeg.riRe and operating income
(loss) provided by the Company’s segments for #ary ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 &okoags (in millions):

2001 2002 2003
Revenues

Design and deployme| $159.5 $143.5 $172.5
Network managemel 40.4 38.: 43.t
Enterprise solution — — 43.2
Business consultin 7.3 5.2 3.C
Total revenue $207.2 $187.( $262.2

Operating income (loss
Design and deployme| $(59.) $(28.9) $ 10.t
Network managemel (11.2) (8.5 6.7
Enterprise solution — — 4.4
Business consultin 1.2 (7.9 0.€
Total operating income (los $(71.5) $(54.7) $ 222

Revenues generated by geographic segment for gre gaded December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 aci@sd (in millions):

2001 2002 2003

United State: $141.¢ $155.¢ $209.2
EMEA 22.F 13.7 19.C
Latin America 43.1 18.C 34.C
Total revenue $207.2 $187.( $262.2

Long-lived assets by geographic region for the yeamded December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, whitidi@agroperty and
equipment, goodwill, other intangibles and investtadrom unconsolidated affiliates, are as follqimsmillions):

2001 2002 2003

United State: $50.5 $44.5 $53.2
EMEA 21.¢ 0.8 0.5
Latin America 18.C 17.F 17.2
Total lon¢-lived asset: $90.£ $62.¢ $71.C

See Note 6 for detail of long-lived assets.
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Related Party Transactions

During 2001 and 2002, the Company’s Latin Amerisahsidiaries, WFI de Mexico and Wireless Facilitiasin America Ltda.,
entered into certain transactions with JFR Busi@@poration International S. de R.L. de C.V. (“JF&nd its related affiliates
(collectively, “JFR and affiliates”). Jalil Tayela,brother of Masood K. Tayebi, the Chairman amdQhief Executive Officer of
the Company, holds a majority ownership interesanh of these entities. The primary business gerfar transacting business
with JFR and affiliates related to obtaining impedwservice and response compared to independdnebsas providing such
services, at market or less than market rates. M#Mlexico contracted with JFR and affiliates duriihg 2001 and 2002 periods
for various services including automobile leasitgnputer leasing, corporate and project relatedgoerel services and
construction services. Additionally, during 200 RJEontracted with Wireless Facilities Latin Amerldala. for subcontractor
engineering services for certain of its customentiaxts. The total net amount owed to JFR as oeBéer 31, 2002 was $0.5
million for services under these related party caets. There were no material transactions duheg/ear ended December 31,
2003, and all payable and receivable balancesJkiEhwere fully settled resulting in a zero balaacBecember 31, 2003.
Finally, there are no current guarantees or otbemagitments between JFR and affiliates and the Compa

In August 2001, WFI and GlobTel Holdings, Ltd. (t4BITel”) executed a Master Service Agreement (MSAgreby WFI or its
designated affiliates would perform telecommunmadi outsourcing services. GlobTel is significamiyned by Massih Tayebi,
brother of Masood K. Tayebi, and former Chairmathef Company. During 2003, the Company has recoagpedoximately $0.
million in total net revenues and received appratity $0.7 million from GlobTel for services proeitl under the MSA. Such
revenues are a component of total revenues in ¢inep@ny’s consolidated statements of operationsaf Aecember 31, 2003,
the Company had an outstanding accounts receitaidece of approximately $0.2 million with GlobT8Lich accounts
receivables are reflected as accounts receivaidated party in the Company’s consolidated balahe=t. At December 31,
2003, no future commitments or guarantees existdrt GlobTel and the Company.

In June 2001, WFI received a payment of $0.5 nmlfimm BridgeWest LLC, a privately-held investmgnbup, representing a
prepayment for future engineering services to loeided by WFI to BridgeWest LLC. BridgeWest LLCsgnificantly owned
by Masood K. Tayebi, the Chairman and Chief Exeeu®fficer of the Company, Massih Tayebi, a brothfeMasood K. Tayek
and former Chairman of the Company, and Sean Tagkdw a brother of Masood K. Tayehbi. The Compaany fecorded
approximately $0.2 million total revenues for seed provided under this agreement during the yedeeDecember 31, 2003.
Such revenues are a component of total revenubg iBompany’s consolidated statements of operatiodghe design and
deployment operating segment. During the secondeuaf 2003, approximately $0.2 million of the pagnt received from
BridgeWest LLC was applied towards billings for auative engineering services provided by WFI arerisidual balance of
$0.3 million was refunded to BridgeWest LLC. At Reaber 31, 2003, no commitments or guarantees leadsieen BridgeWest
LLC and the Company.

On October 29, 2001, the Company issued an aggref&3,637 shares of Series A Convertible Prefe®teck, at an aggregate
purchase price of $35.0 million, for a common stockversion price of $5.50 per share (which wadadhemarket value of the
Common Stock at the closing) in a private placen@entities affiliated with a director of the Coany. The Company received
$34.9 million
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of proceeds, net of $0.1 million of issuance cpsiisl by the Company. Additionally, on May 30, 200 Company issued an
aggregate of 90,000 shares of Series B ConveRitdéerred Stock, at an aggregate purchase pri$é=60 million, in a private
placement to entities affiliated with one of theedtors of the Company (40,000 shares), to a brathine Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (10,000 shares) taman unrelated thirgarty investor (40,000 shares). The Company red
$44.9 million of proceeds, net of $0.1 million sfuance costs paid by the Company. Refer to nofer I0rther details regardir
the provisions of Series A and B Convertible PrefgiStock.

Based upon a review by disinterested members obgenent and the Company’s Board of Directors reggirthe terms of
comparable transactions available from or involuinigd parties, the Company believes that all taatisns with related parties
described above were made on terms no less faeot@bihe Company than could have been obtained tirmadfiliated third
parties.

Legal Matters

Advanced Radio Telecom Corp. (“ART"), which inigat Chapter 11 Bankruptcy proceedings in 2001, filledction with the
bankruptcy court against the Company to recovegell preference payments in the amount of $737|6209related matter AR
filed a partial objection to the Company’s proofotdim. On August 11, 2003, the Company and AREmed into a settlement
agreement whereby the suit would be dismissedéhange for a reduction of the claim amount. Duthmgfourth quarter of
fiscal 2003, the Company finalized the settlemérdl@ding the dismissal of the preference claimgveiy the Company
received in full settlement, 223,802 shares of coamistock in the newly capitalized entity. The Comypaxpects a slight gain in
future reporting periods based on the planned diipa of such shares.

In June and July 2001, the Company and certaits afiiectors and officers were named as defendafitee purported class
action complaints filed in the United States DidtCourt for the Southern District of New York oahalf of persons and entities
who acquired the Company’s common stock at variimuss on or after November 4, 1999. The respeciveplaints allege that
the registration statement and prospectus issugkdeb@ompany in connection with the public offerofgts common stock
contained untrue statements of material fact oiseimns of material fact in violation of the SedestAct of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Specifically, thelmims allege that the Company failed to disctbsg the offering’s
underwriters had (a) solicited and received addiéti@nd excessive compensation and benefits frem ¢hstomers beyond what
was listed in the registration statement and pretsiseand (b) entered into tie-in or other arrangaswith certain of their
customers which were allegedly designed to mainthgtort and/or inflate the market price of then@any’s common stock in
the aftermarket. The complaints seek unspecifiedetary damages and other relief. This case is artfmngver 300 class action
lawsuits pending in the United States District @Gdor the Southern District of New York that havene to be known as the IPO
laddering cases.

On October 9, 2002, the court signed Stipulationds@rders of Dismissal, which dismissed the Comfzangmed individual
officers and directors from the action, withoutjpdice, but the Company remained a defendant icéise. On February 19,
2003, the court issued its decision on the jointiomoto dismiss the IPO laddering cases. The datiga) allowed the plaintiffs
to pursue their claim against the Company basats@ileged issuance of a registration statemethipaospectus that failed to
disclose a fraudulent scheme by the offering’s nnwdeers and (b) dismissed, with leave
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to amend, the plaintifftlaim against the Company based on its alleged ladye and intent to defraud investors so as toflie
from an inflated price for the Company’s commorcktm the aftermarket. The plaintiffs, the Direct@ Officers’ insurance
underwriters and the Company, among other issueleéendants, have agreed in principle to a forrsetfiement that would
dismiss the Company and its individual directord afficers from the litigation without requiringahthe Company fund the
settlement. The settlement documents are presesitg drafted, and will be submitted to the coartdpproval once they have
been finalized. The Company believes this litigati®without merit and intends to vigorously defétself against it, should the
lawsuit be re-filed. It is impossible at this tineeassess whether or not the outcome of these gatowgs will or will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company. We haveeworded any accrual for a contingent liabilitg@sated with this legal
proceeding based on our belief that a liabilityjlevpossible, is not probable and any range oft@kfuture charge cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Darwin Networks, Inc. (“Darwin”) initiated Chaptéd bankruptcy proceedings in 2001. As part of thmeeeedings, Darwin
filed an action against a wholly-owned subsidiaryhe Company (acquired by the Company througloekspurchase agreement
on February 13, 2003), to recover an alleged peefsr payment in the amount of $850,000. Duringsdwnd quarter of 2003,
the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company reachddl settlement with the bankruptcy trustee whgrthe Company agreed
to and subsequently paid $200,000 to the trustiee fihal settlement reduced the fair market valueed assets acquired and as
such, is reflected in the goodwill balance recordeslilting from the acquisition.

On July 9, 2003 a complaint was filed against tbenfany in the Superior Court of San Diego Counslif@rnia by two
individuals purportedly representing a class ofilgirty situated individuals. The Company succedgfidmoved the case to the
U.S. District Court, Southern District of CalifoeniThe complaint alleges that the Company faileprtperly pay the defendants
overtime wages, unpaid wages at termination, lajenent penalties, and seeks further remedies lfegead violations of the
California Business & Professions Code. The corahtpd the Company’s Motion to Compel Arbitratiodalismissed the
action with prejudice on October 16, 2003, holdimgt the plaintiffs had signed enforceable agredsienarbitrate, rather than
litigate, all disputes arising out of their emplogmt with the Company, and that arbitration, rathan a class action maintained
in a court of law, was the proper forum for resotytheir dispute. The Company believes that thm{ifis’ claims are without
merit and intends to vigorously defend itself agathem, should an arbitration proceeding be itgitlalt is impossible at this
time to assess whether or not the outcome of thiesreedings will or will not have a material adweeffect on the Company. \
have not recorded any accrual for a contingentlifplassociated with this legal proceeding baseaaor belief that a liability,
while possible, is not probable and any range témital future charge cannot be reasonably estinat¢his time.

In addition to the foregoing matters, from timeitoe, the Company may become involved in varioussldts and legal
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course efrtass. However, litigation is subject to inheremtertainties, and an adverse
result in these or other matters may arise frone timtime that may harm the Company’s business.Cdmapany is currently not
aware of any such legal proceedings or claimswieabelieve will have, individually or in the aggetg, a material adverse affect
on our business, financial condition or operatieguits.
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Note 16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all maal and recurring adjustments that are, in thaiopiof management,
necessary for a fair statement of the resultsefriterim periods. Summarized quarterly data ferytears ended December 31,
2002 and 2003, is as follows (in millions, except phare data):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal year 2002
Revenue: $ 40.1 $ 46.¢ $ 49.1 $51.C
Gross profi $ 10.¢ $11.€ $11.¢ $ 13.7
Operating income (los: $ (60.0) $ 1.2 $ 1€ $ 2E
Provision for income taxe $ 10.1 $ — $ — $ —
Net income (loss $ (71.9) $ 2.2 $ 2E $ 31
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ (1.52) $ 0.0t $ 0.0 $ 0.0¢
Diluted $ (1.52) $ 0.04 $ 0.04 $ 0.0t
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal year 2003
Revenue: $ 53.¢ $ 56.€ $ 68.€ $ 82.¢
Gross profit $14.¢€ $17.C $ 18.7 $ 20.7
Operating incom: $ 3.2 $ 5.C $ 6.1 $ 7.9
Provision for income taxe $ — $ — $ — $ —
Net income $ 4.C $ 4.8 $ 6.€ $ 8.1
Net income per common sha
Basic $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1z $ 0.14
Diluted $ 0.0¢ $ 0.07 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.11

Note 17. Subsequent Event:

On January 5, 2004, the Company completed its aitipum of all of the outstanding securities of Higachnology Solutions, In
(HTS), for $48,750,000 in cash. Such initial coesation was adjusted downward by approximately ¥XB2for certain post-
closing purchase price adjustments pursuant t&gneement and Plan of Reorganization (“Agreemeloy’and among the WFI,
WFI Government Services, Inc. (GSI), a Delawargomation and whollyswned subsidiary of WFI, Horseshoe Merger Sub,
a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsjdidiWFI, HTS and certain stockholders. As a resfithe acquisition, HTS
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSI and theegfwill be included in the consolidated finanagigbults of the Company
effective for periods subsequent to January 5, 208é Company concluded that this transaction met
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the conditions of a significant subsidiary andyéiere, filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (Itemwibh the SEC. The Company
intends to file the related 8-K/A within 60 dayseafthe date that the initial report on Form 8-Ki ha be filed.

On January 30, 2004 the Company received notiege twe of the holders requesting conversion of 7shies of the
Company’s Series B Convertible Preferred Stock 1,200 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

On March 5, 2004, the Company received a notiom ftertain holders to convert 40,000 shares of S&i€onvertible Preferre
Stock into 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s Com8tonk, of which 1,600,000 shares are free frork lgz at the time of
conversion.

On February 19, 2004 the Company filed a univeshalf Registration statement on Form S-3 and auaisitign shelf
Registration on Form S-4 with the Securities andiaxge Commission (SEC). The Company has no imiteeglians to raise
capital under the shelf Form S-3 or to utilize shelf Form S-4 for an acquisition transaction. Oteelared effective by the
SEC, the universal shelf registration statemerffam S-3 will permit the Company to sell, in onenwore public offerings,
shares of newly issued common stock, shares ofynisalied preferred stock, warrants or debt seesritir any combination of
such securities, for proceeds in an aggregate anodwp to $200 million. In addition, the universdlelf, once declared effective
by the SEC, will permit certain stockholders whaghased the Company’s Series A and Series B CdbleRreferred Stock, to
sell up to 5.4 million shares of common stockgfilvhich are currently included in the Company’scBeaber 31, 2003 weighted
average diluted common shares outstanding. Thasatign shelf registration statement on Form S+#edeclared effective by
the SEC, will enable the Company to issue up td3$a0dlion of its common stock in one or more acdios transactions that the
Company may make from time to time. These transastimay include the acquisition of assets, bus@sesssecurities, whether
by purchase, merger or any other form of businesshination.
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Balance at " Balance at
Beginning of Yeai Provisions Write- End of Year

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (Credits) offs
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 0.¢ $ 21: $39 $ 18:
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 18.2 $ 9.¢€ $(15.7 $ 122
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 12.2 $ (3.9 $09 $ 8.C

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report.
S-1

EXHIBIT 10.43

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Executive Employment Agreement (“Agreemens”jriade effective November 14, 2003 (“Effective Datey and between
Wireless Facilities, Inc. (“Company”) and Eric Deida (“Executive”).

The parties agree as follows:

1. Employment Company hereby employs Executive, and Executdrelly accepts such employment, upon the termsanditions
set forth herein.

2. Duties

2.1 _Position Executive shall initially be employed as a nofiesfr regular, full-time employee but will become@pany’s
President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO") withivo (2) weeks of the Effective Date. Immediatghon the announcement of
Executive’s assumption of the President and COEsrdCompany shall announce a 3 to 6 month sucecegkio for Executive to
transfer into Company’s Chief Executive Officer EO”) role. Executive shall have the duties and oespbilities assigned by
Company’s Board of Directors (“Board of Director&iyth upon initial hire and as may be reasonaldigasd from time to time.
Executive will also be offered a seat on Compaigard of Directors.

2.2 _Best Efforts/Fultime . Executive will expend his best efforts on belwdlCompany, and will abide by all policies and
decisions made by Company, as well as all appkctdgeral, state and local laws, regulations oinarttes. Executive will act in the
best interest of Company at all times. Executivalstevote his full business time and efforts te grerformance of his assigned duties
for Company, unless Executive notifies the Boar®wéctors in advance of his intent to engage ireopaid work and receives the
Board of Directors’ express written consenttodo s

3. Atwill Employment Relationship Executive’s employment with Company is at-wildamot for any specified period and may be
terminated by either Executive or Company at ametiwith or without cause. In addition, Companyeress the right to modify Executive’s
position or duties to meet business needs andetdligsretion in deciding on appropriate discipliNe.representative of Company, other than
the Board of Directors, has the authority to atter at-will employment relationship between Exeaiaind Company. Any change to the at-
will employment relationship must be by specifigjtien agreement signed by Executive and the Bo&Rirectors. Nothing in this
Agreement is intended to or should be construembtdradict, modify or alter this at-will relatioriph

4. Compensation

4.1 Base SalaryAs compensation for Executive’s performance efchities hereunder, Company shall pay to Execative
initial Base Salary of $275,000 per year, payabladcordance with the normal payroll practices ofm@any, less required deductions
for state and federal withholding tax, social ségwand all other employment taxes and payroll dgidas. In the event Executive’s
employment under this Agreement is terminated thyeeiparty, for any reason, Executive will earn Base Salary prorated to the date
of termination.



4.2 _Incentive CompensatiofExecutive will be eligible to earn an annual perfance bonus, up to a maximum amount of 100%
of his Base Salary, based upon the achievemergrtdin goals and objectives to be mutually deteeahiny Executive and Company.

4.3 _Stock OptionsSubject to the Board of Directors’ approval, Bxtae will be granted a nonqualified stock option t
purchase 1,250,000 shares of Company’s Common Stobir Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (thiafiP) at an exercise price
equal to $12.80 (the “Option”). The Option will ¥és accordance with the following schedule: 20%haf Option will vest on the first
anniversary of the Effective Date and the remait@@o will vest in equal monthly increments over thikowing 48 months. The
Option will be subject to the terms and conditiofithe Plan and the standard stock option agreepremided pursuant to the Plan,
which Executive will be required to sign as a ctindi of receiving the Option. Executive will alse bligible to receive additional stock
options based upon his performance as determin&bhypany in its sole and absolute discretion.

4.4 Performance and Salary RevieWihe Board of Directors will periodically reviewk&cutive's performance on no less thar
annual basis. Adjustments to salary or other corsg@n, if any, will be made by the Board of Dikstin its sole and absolute
discretion.

5. _Customary Fringe BenefitExecutive will be eligible for all customary andual fringe benefits generally available to exivest

of Company subject to the terms and conditionsah@any’s benefit plan documents. Company resehesght to change or eliminate the
fringe benefits on a prospective, company-widedyagiany time, effective upon notice to Executive.

6. _Business ExpenseExecutive will be reimbursed for all reasonalblgt-of{pocket business expenses incurred in the perforenai

his duties on behalf of Company. To obtain reimborsnt, expenses must be submitted promptly withogpiate supporting documentation
in accordance with Company’s policies.

7. Termination of Executive Employment

7.1 _Termination for Cause by Comparithough Company anticipates a mutually rewardingployment relationship with
Executive, Company may terminate Executive’s emmpleyt imnmediately at any time for Cause. For purpagehis Agreement,
“Cause” is defined as: (a) acts or omissions ctuisig gross negligence, recklessness or willfidaonduct on the part of Executive
with respect to Executive’s obligations or othemewislating to the business of Company; (b) Exeelgimaterial breach of this
Agreement or Company’s standard form of confidditfiagreement; (c) Executive’conviction or entry of a plea of nolo contendere
fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or angrfglor crime of moral turpitude; or (d) Executivevdiful neglect of duties or poor
performance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a teation under subsection 7.1(d) above shall nottiares a termination for “Cause”
unless Company has first given Executive writteticeoof the offending conduct (such notice shatlude a description of remedial
actions that the Company reasonably deems apptepoi@ure such offending conduct) and a thirty) @@portunity to cure such
offending conduct. In the event Company termin&escutive’s employment under subsection 7.1(d) ab@ompany agrees to
participate in binding arbitration, if requestedExecutive, to determine whether the cause foriteation was willful neglect of duties
or poor performance as opposed to some other rehabdoes not constitute Cause under this Agreerirethe
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event Executive’s employment is terminated in adance with this subsection 7.1, Executive shakiuéled to receive only the Base
Salary then in effect, prorated to the date of teation and any accrued but unpaid vacation (thari@ard Entitlements”). All other
Company obligations to Executive pursuant to thige®ment will become automatically terminated amhgletely extinguished. In
addition, Executive will not be entitled to recethe Severance Packages described in subsectibos 7.3 below.

7.2 Termination Without Cause by Company/SaevegaCompany may terminate Executive’s employment utfue
Agreement without Cause at any time on thirty @&ys’ advance written notice to Executive. In therg of such termination,
Executive will receive the Standard Entitlementd dre “Severance Package” described in subsect{a)mbelow, provided that
Executive agrees to comply with all of the condiiset forth in subsection 7.2(b) below. All ot@&mpany obligations to Executive
pursuant to this Agreement will be automaticallyrmated and completely extinguished.

(&) _Severance Packagehe Severance Package will consist of the folhawi

(i) a“Severance Payment” equivalent to the sfitiiree (3) years of Executive’s Base Salary thezffect on the
date of termination plus three (3) times Execusvginus potential for the year in which Executivaswerminated, less any
bonus amounts already received and applicable &nsvithholdings, payable immediately in a lummsu

(i) accelerated vesting of any and all of Exa@is stock options that remain unvested as oftte of termination;
and

(iii) continuation of Executive’s group healtisurance benefits on the same terms as duringripogment until
the sooner of one (1) year following the Separaate or Executives procurement of health care coverage through er
employer (the “Benefits Continuation Period”), pisied Company’s insurance carrier allows for suaheffies continuation.
In the event Company’s insurance carrier does lfmi/dor such coverage continuation, Company agtegmy the
premiums required to continue Executive’s groupthezare coverage during the Benefits Continualeniod, under the
applicable provisions of the Consolidated Omnibusld@et Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA"provided that Executi\
elects to continue and remains eligible for theseefits under COBRA

(b) _Conditions to Receive Severance Packagecutive will receive the Severance Packageritestabove only if he
meets all of the following conditions:

(i) complies with all surviving provisions ofithAgreement as specified in subsection 13.8 beto;

(il executes a full general release, in a facoeptable to Company, releasing all claims, knomumnknown, that
Executive may have against Company, and any paebsijdiary or related entity, their officers, di@'s, employees and
agents, arising out of or any way related to Empédy employment or termination of employment wittmgpany.

7.3 _Resignation by Executive for Good Reasorg&mce In the event Company fails to promote Executoréhe position of
Chief Executive Officer within six (6)




months of the Effective Date of this Agreement, &xave may resign for “Good Reason” upon givingtth{30) days’ advance written
notice to Company. In the event of Executive’sgnation for Good Reason, Executive will be entitiedeceive the Standard
Entitlements and the Severance Package descritsedbgection 7.2(a) above, provided that Executbrepties with all of the conditior
set forth in subsection 7.2(b) above. All other @amy obligations to Executive pursuant to this A&gnent will become automatically
terminated and completely extinguished.

7.4 _Resignation by Executive Without Good Readéxecutive may resign Executive’s position withngany without Good
Reason, at any time on thirty (30) days’ advandéewr notice. In the event of Executive’s resigoatithout Good Reason, Executive
will be entitled to receive only the Standard Hetitents and no other amount. All other Companygaiilons to Executive pursuant to
this Agreement will become automatically terminaé®d completely extinguished. In addition, Execaitivill not be entitled to receive
the Severance Packages described in subsections 7.2 above.

7.5 _Termination Upon A Change Of Control

(&) _Accelerated Vesting Upon A Change Of Cdntkdpon the close of a transaction that constitat€hange of Control
(as that term is defined below), Company shall imdiaiely accelerate vesting of 50% of any portiothaf Option that remains
unvested. On the one (1)-year anniversary of sui@n@e of Control or upon a “Triggering Event” (a&fided below), whichever
occurs sooner, the remaining unvested portion@fption shall immediately vest. For purposes i $hibsection 7.5(a), a
“Triggering Event” shall mean: (i) Executive’s temation from employment; (ii) a material changehe nature of Executive’'s
role or job responsibilities so that Executive’b fiuties and responsibilities after the Changeaft®l, when considered in their
totality as a whole, are substantially differenhature from the job duties Executive performed gdrately prior to the Change of
Control; or (iii) the relocation of Executive’ sipcipal place of work to a location more than #i{80) miles from the location
Executive was assigned to immediately prior toGhange of Control.

(b) _Continued Validity of Severance PackageeAR Change Of Contralln the event of a Change of Control, the
termination provisions described in section 7 abshval remain in full force and effect and Execatshall continue to be entitled
to receive the Severance Package described inctidrs@.2(a) above, provided Executive compliedwail of the conditions
described in subsection 7.2(b) above.

(c) _Change of ControlA “Change of Control” is defined as any one & fbllowing occurrences: (i) the acquisition by an
individual person or entity or a group of individsiar entities acting in concert, directly or irefitly, through one transaction or a
series of related transaction, of more than 50%h®butstanding voting securities of Company;gijherger or consolidation of
Company with or into another entity after which #teckholders of Company immediately prior to strelnsaction hold less than
50% of the voting securities of the surviving gntiiii) a sale of all or substantially all of tlssets of Company; or (iv) the chai
in the majority of the Board of Directors pursutma successful hostile proxy contest.

7.6 _Termination Due to Death or Disabilitfhis Agreement will immediately terminate uporeEutive’s death or Disability (¢
defined below). In the event of Executive’s deatibsability, Executive, or Executive’s heirs, penal representatives or estate, as the
case may be, will be entitled to receive only tken8ard Entitlements and those benefits availahteuany applicable Company plar
insurance policy, subject to such plan or policy




requirements. All other Company obligations to Bxa® pursuant to this Agreement will become autiiradly terminated and
completely extinguished. In addition, neither Exe@inor Executives heirs, personal representatives or estate witnided to receiv
the Severance Packages described in subsections 7.2 above. For purposes of this Agreement, &Bilgy” shall be defined as
Executives inability to perform the essential functions & job, with or without reasonable accommodatiare tb a mental or physic
impairment.

8. _No Conflict of InterestDuring Executive’s employment with Company andiniy any period Executive is receiving payments
from Company pursuant to this Agreement, Executivst not engage in any work, paid or unpaid, thedtes an actual conflict of interest
with Company. Such work shall include, but is nwtited to, directly or indirectly competing with @gpany in any way, or acting as an
officer, director, employee, consultant, stockholdelunteer, lender, or agent of any businessrprige of the same nature as, or which is in
direct competition with, the business in which Camypis now engaged or in which Company becomesgaulyduring Executive’s
employment with Company, as may be determined byBitard of Directors in its sole discretion. If tBeard of Directors believes such a
conflict exists during Executive’s employment, Be@ard of Directors may ask Executive to chooseidoahtinue the other work or resign
employment with Company. If the Board of Directbedieves such a conflict exists during any perio@hich Executive is receiving
payments pursuant to this Agreement, the Boardircibrs may ask Executive to choose to disconttheeother work or forfeit the
remaining severance payments. In addition, Exeewtgrees not to refer any client or potential ¢lefrCompany to competitors of Company,
without obtaining Company'’s prior written consehiying Executive’s employment and during any pefiodrhich Executive is receiving
payments from Company pursuant to this Agreement.

9. _Confidentiality and Proprietary RightExecutive agrees to read, sign and abide by Coypatandard form of confidentiality
agreement, which is provided with this Agreememt excorporated herein by reference.

10. _Nonsolicitation Executive understands and agrees that Compamyptogees and customers and any information regardin
Company employees and/or customers is confidesmidlconstitutes trade secrets. Accordingly, Exeelwdgrees that during his employment
and for a period of one (1) year after the ternmamabf his employment, Executive will not, eitharegtly or indirectly, separately or in
association with others: (a) interfere with, impdisrupt or damage Company’s relationship with ahigs customers or customer prospects
by soliciting or encouraging others to solicit afythem for the purpose of diverting or taking avimgsiness from Company; or (b) directly or
indirectly, separately or in association with othenterfere with, impair, disrupt or damage Compsaibusiness by soliciting, encouraging or
attempting to hire any of Company’s employees ostay others to solicit or encourage any of Comjsmemployees to discontinue their
employment with Company.

11. _Injunctive Relief Executive acknowledges that his breach of thegarits contained in sections 8-10 would causearadge
injury to Company and agrees that in the evenngfsaich breach, Company shall be entitled to selporary, preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief, to the extent allowed under talifornia Arbitration Act, without the necessit{groving actual damages or posting any
bond or other security.

12. Agreement to Arbitrate




12.1 ScopeTo the fullest extent permitted by law, Executired Company agree to arbitrate any controveraymobr dispute
between them arising out of or in any way relatethts Agreement, the employment relationship betw€ompany and Executive and
any disputes upon termination of employment, inicigdut not limited to breach of contract, tortsatimination, harassment, wrongful
termination, demotion, discipline, failure to acanodate, family and medical leave, compensatioreoebts claims, constitutional
claims; and any claims for violation of any locsthte or federal law, statute, regulation or omagaor common law. For the purpose of
this agreement to arbitrate, references to “Companryude all parent, subsidiary or related ensiténd their employees, supervisors,
officers, directors, agents, pension or benefihplgpension or benefit plan sponsors, fiduciaadsyinistrators, affiliates and all
successors and assigns of any of them, and theegnt to arbitrate shall apply to them to therexxecutive’s claims arise out of or
relate to their actions on behalf of Company.

12.2 _Arbitration ProcedureEither party may exercise the right to arbitiayeproviding the other party with written notice of
any and all claims forming the basis of such rigtgufficient detail to inform the other party diet substance of such claims. In no e
shall the request for arbitration be made afterddte when institution of legal or equitable pratiegs based on such claims would be
barred by the applicable statute of limitationse Hbitration will be conducted in San Diego, Gatifia by a single neutral arbitrator ¢
in accordance with the then current rules for netsmh of employment disputes of the American Aiddion Association (“AAA”). The
parties are entitled to representation by an attpor other representative of their choosing. Tihérator shall have the power to enter
any award that could be entered by a judge ofrthkedourt of the State of California, and only Bugower, and shall follow the law. The
parties agree to abide by and perform any awarderex by the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall isgweaward in writing and therein
state the essential findings and conclusions orhwtiie award is based. Judgment on the award magtbesd in any court having
jurisdiction thereof. Company shall bear the co$tthe arbitration filing and hearing fees and ¢bst of the arbitrator.

13. General Provisions

13.1 _Successors and Assigihe rights and obligations of Company under &gseement shall inure to the benefit of and shall
be binding upon the successors and assigns of Gompaecutive shall not be entitled to assign ahlgacutive’s rights or obligations
under this Agreement.

13.2 _Waiver Either party’s failure to enforce any provisiditlois Agreement shall not in any way be constraga@ waiver of
any such provision, or prevent that party theredftan enforcing each and every other provisiothig Agreement.

13.3 _AttorneysFees. Each side will bear its own attorneys’ fees iy dispute unless a statutory section at issuemnif a
authorizes the award of attorneys’ fees to theailieg party.

13.4 _Severability In the event any provision of this Agreementoigrfd to be unenforceable by an arbitrator or cofurt
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall berded modified to the extent necessary to allow emfalility of the provision as so
limited, it being intended that the parties shetlgive the benefit contemplated herein to the stllgtent permitted by law. If a deemed
modification is not satisfactory in the judgmentsoth arbitrator
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or court, the unenforceable provision shall be degdeleted, and the validity and enforceabilityhaf remaining provisions shall not be
affected thereby.

13.5 _Interpretation; Constructioifhe headings set forth in this Agreement arefmvenience only and shall not be used in
interpreting this Agreement. This Agreement hastwrafted by legal counsel representing CompantyEkacutive has participated in
the negotiation of its terms. Furthermore, Exe@iicknowledges that Executive has had an oppoyttmieview and revise the
Agreement and have it reviewed by legal counselesfired, and, therefore, the normal rule of caiesitvn to the effect that any
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafiently shall not be employed in the interpretatibthis Agreement.

13.6 _Governing LawThis Agreement will be governed by and constrineatcordance with the laws of the United Stateks an
the State of California. Each party consents tquhisdiction and venue of the state or federalrtin San Diego, California, if
applicable, in any action, suit, or proceedingiag®ut of or relating to this Agreement.

13.7 _Notices Any notice required or permitted by this Agreetrngmall be in writing and shall be delivered asdak with
notice deemed given as indicated: (a) by persoelalety when delivered personally; (b) by overnightrier upon written verification
of receipt; (c) by telecopy or facsimile transmissupon acknowledgment of receipt of electroniograission; or (d) by certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested, upoifieation of receipt. Notice shall be sent to tlleleesses set forth below, or such other
address as either party may specify in writing.

13.8 _Survival Sections 8 (“No Conflict of Interest”), 9 (“Codgntiality and Proprietary Rights”), 10 (“Nonsotation”), 11
(“Injunctive Relief”), 12 (“Agreement to Arbitrat®’13 (“General Provisions”) and 14 (“Entire Agreamii’) of this Agreement shall
survive Executive’'s employment by Company.
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14. Entire AgreementThis Agreement, including the Company’s standarth of confidentiality agreement incorporated ety
reference and Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Rlahrelated option documents described in subsedt of this Agreement, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties relatitigis subject matter and supersedes all prioinaulsaneous representations, discussions,
negotiations, and agreements, whether written alr @his Agreement may be amended or modified @ritly the written consent of Executi
and the Board of Directors of Company. No oral waiamendment or modification will be effective endny circumstances whatsoever.

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HAVE READ THE FOREGRG AGREEMENT AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH AND
EVERY PROVISION CONTAINED HEREIN. WHEREFORE, THE RAIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DATES
SHOWN BELOW.

Eric DeMarco

Dated 11/14/03

Wireless Facilities, Inc.

Dated 11/14/03 By:

Masood Tayebi

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
4810 Eastgate Mall

San Diego, CA 9212

EXHIBIT 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Wireless Facilities, Inc./Entel, a Delaware corpioma
WFI de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican cogiimm
WFI do Brazil Tecnologia en Telecomunicaciones LTRMrazilian commercial limited liability company
WFI UK Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation
Wireless Facilities International Limited, a Unit&ghgdom corporation
WFI NMC LP, a Delaware limited partnership
WFI NMC Corp., a Delaware corporation
WFI Spain, S.L., a Spanish corporation
Wireless Facilities International Germany GmbH,exi@®an corporation
Wireless Facilities Telekomunikasyon Servis Limjtadrurkish limited liability company
WFI Scandinavia AB, a Swedish corporation
WEFI Asesoria En Telecommunicaciones Sociedad GiWlexican corporation
WFI Asesoria En Administracion Sociedad Civil, ax¥&n corporation
WEFI Services de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., a Mexicanpowation
WFI India Pvt. Ltd., an Indian corporation
Wireless Facilities International Hong Kong LimitedHong Kong corporation
Wireless Facilities International Singapore PTE L. BD5ingapore private company limited by shares
Posinet, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Secure Planet, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Suntech Systems, Inc., a Georgia corporation
Delmarva Systems Corporation, a Delaware corparatio
Enco Systems, Inc., a Texas corporation
Enco Systems Partnership, Ltd., a Texas limitethpaship
Horseshoe Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation
WFI Government Services, Inc., a Delaware corponati
Beijing WanFeng United Wireless Technology ConsgltCo., Ltd., dba WFI China Ltd., a Chinese wholly
foreign-owned enterprise
EXHIBIT 23.1

Independent Auditors’ Report on Schedule and Consén

The Board of Directors
Wireless Facilities, Inc.:

The audits referred to in our report dated Febrd@,2004, except as to the third paragraph of Nothe fifth paragraph of Note 10 (a), ¢



the third and fourth paragraphs of Note 17, whiehas of March 5, 2004, included the related fiie@rstatement schedule as of Decembe
2003, and for each of the years in the three-yedog ended December 31, 2003, included in the 20881al Report on Form 10-K. This
financial statement schedule is the responsihilitthe Company’s management. Our responsibilitg isxpress an opinion on this financial
statement schedule based on our audits. In ouraspisuch financial statement schedule, when censdlin relation to the basic consolida
financial statements taken as a whole, presenty,fai all material respects, the information &&th therein.

We consent to incorporation by reference in regigin statements No. 333-53014, No. 333-71618,388-74108, and No. 333-112956 on
Form S-3; No. 333-112957 on Form S-4; and No. 33858, No. 333-54818, No. 333-71702, and No. 33321 Form S-8 of Wireless
Facilities, Inc. of our report dated February 1302, except as to the third paragraph of Note Staadhird paragraph of Note 17, which are
as of February 25, 2004, with respect to the cadatEd balance sheets of Wireless Facilities, damf December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity, and cash flows for each of thargean the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003 and the financial statement sibedhich report appears in the December 31, 2868ual Report on Form 10-K of
Wireless Facilities, Inc. Our report refers to amge to the Company’s method of accounting for galbeh 2002.

San Diego, California
March 8, 2004
EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

I, Masood Tayebi, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Wireless Facilities, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presentet
this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgit’s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maddly affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registr¢ s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 8, 2004

/s/ MasoobpK. T AYEBI, PH.D.

Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

I, Dan Stokely, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Wireless Facilities, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatormny untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presente(
this report;



4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgit’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maddly affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registr¢ s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 8, 200

/s/ DAN STOKELY , CPA

Dan Stokely, CPA
Interim Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer
VP Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAS$-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Repbitvireless Facilities, Inc. (the “Company”) on Fofd-K for the year ended
December 26, 2003 (the “Report”), I, Masood K. Tay®h.D., Chief Executive Officer of the Compangrtify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9€¢G&dbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of412®d
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company

Date: March 8, 200
W IRELESSF ACILITIES , | NC..

By: /sl MasoobpK. T avesi, PH.D.

Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticatisgnowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form withindleetronic version of this written statement regdiby Section 906, has been provided to
the Company and will be retained by the Companyfarmdshed to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAS$-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Repbitvireless Facilities, Inc. (the “Company”) on Fofd-K for the year ended
December 26, 2003 (the “Report”), I, Dan StokelAC Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Compargrtify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@G&dbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of412®d
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company

Date: March 8, 200

W IRELESSF ACILITIES , | NC..

/s/ DAN STOKELY , CPA




Dan Stokely, CPA
Interim Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer
VP Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticatisgnowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form withingleetronic version of this written statement regdiby Section 906, has been provided to
the Company and will be retained by the Companyfamished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.
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